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INTRODUCTION—PART I

This is the appeal of Harry B. Wolf from the judg-
ment of the Criminal Court of Baltimore City pronounced
after a verdict of guilty by five Judges and the refusal
of a new trial by the ten Judges who composed the Su-
preme Bench of Baltimore City. The chargewasa erimi-
nal conspiracy; and Lis conviction as hereafter shown
wholly rests upon the uncorroborated testimony of a soli-

tary witness, John B. Keller, at once a bad boy, thief,

aceomplice and perjurer.

The record offers a sitnation without a precedent in
the annals of this Court to afford a comparison. The
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overwhelming disaster which has reduced the appel-
lant and his family to their immitigable woe and dishenor
can only be attributable to an errancy of judgment in the
trial Court that was directly responsive to the great mass
of hearsay, misleading and irrelevant testimony intro-
duced into the case over the objection of the appellant.

The record contains many exceptions, but not one was
necessary. Ubi jus ibi remedium. When this learned
Court shall rise from the reading of the record it is our
firm conviction and constant faith that, even if there had
not been a single pertinent assignment of error on this
record, the Court of Appeals of Maryland would send this
case back for a new trial out of the abundant reserve
power of the Court to prevent wrong and to secure jus-
tice.

Wiborg vs. United States, 163 U. S., 632, 658,
41 L. Ed. 289, 298.

Crawford vs. United States, 212 U. S, 183,
194, 53 L. Ed., 465, 470.

Clyon vs. United States, 197 U. 8., 207, 221-
222,49 L., Ed., 726, 731, 732.

Moore vs. Dempsey, U. S. S. Ct., No. 199, Oc-
tober Term, 1922, advance sheets, Febru-
ary 17th, 1923.

Fountain vs. State, 135 Md. 77, 85.

Parker vs. State, 67 Md. 329, 331, 332.

This Court has ably asserted and applied the princi-
ple and it is expressed nowhere better than in Lanasa
vs. State, 109 Md. 602, at page 621.
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- ““The appellant was accused of a crime of great
atrocity; but he was entitled to all the presumption
and to all the safegnards which the law has provided
for the protection of the personal liberty of the eiti-
zen. He was presumed to be innocent, and this pre-
sumption was an absolute protection against convie-
tion and punishment until it was overcome by proof
which placed his guilt beyond any reasonable doubt.
This presumption attended him throughout all the
proceedings against him from the beginning until his
conviction after a fair and impartial trial. He had
a right to be judged by the law of the land ; and where
it appears as it does by this record, that he has been
denied the benefit of substantial rights during the
progress of the trial, it is the duty of this Court to
reverse the judgment and award a new trial.”’

McAllister vs. State, 140 Md. 652.

DISCUSSION OF FACTS—AN OUTLINE.
PART II.

Harry B. Wolf, aged forty-two, twenty-one years a
member of the Bar, with a large practice, married, the
father of four sons, was convicted in November, 1922,
upon an indictment charging him with Walter Socolow
(a young thug convicted of murder in the first degree)
and John Keller of conspiring on August 23, 1922, to ob-
struet justice (a peculiarly revolting offense if com-
mitted by a lawyer) and was sentenced to pay a mere
fine of $100 and costs.

The State did not rely on circumstantial evidence, but
on direct evidence of a specific agreement entered into on
August 23.

Mr. Wolf was convicted upon the uncorroborated evi-
dence of Keller—an alleged co-conspirator——the only wit-
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ness who testified that an agreement was entered into by
Mr. Wolf to join a conspiracy so heinous.

The Court let in much irrelevant evidence and hearsay
evidence against Mr. Wolf relating remotely if at all to
the alleged offense, and a lot of mere narrative repeated
by police and others as to statements and acts of Keller
and police activities, all out of the presence of Mr. Wolf,
and which in the disturbed state of the times was grossly
prejudicial to Mr. Wolf. Such improperly admitted tes-
timony will be treated in detail later.

Mr. Wolf tendered any aid he could consistently give
the police, and refused to represent any one professionally
against whom the State had any proof; and he was asked
by the Baltimore Sun to aid in detecting the murderers,
gave what suggestions oceurred to him and whatever in-
formation he got that he could in any way consistently
disclose and kept silent as to matters he could not with
propriety tell—policies afterward twisted and distorted,
strange as it may seem, to his hurt.

The actual murderer of Mr. Norris was said to be Soco-
low, who hid in and about Baltimore until August 23,
at night, when hopeless after Mr. Wolf refused to rep-
resent him, he fled to Washington, and later to New
York, where he was arrested about 30 days later.

The State alleged and undertook to prove a conspiracy
arranged by word of mouth at Mr. Wolf’s home on
the night of August 23, and that must have ended at the
latest with an alleged confession by Keller when under
arrest early on the morning of August 28,1922,
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Hisrory.

William B. Norris was set upon, robbed and murdered
by a set of thugs at the corner of Madison street and Park
avenue, Baltimore, on the morning of August 18th, 1922.

The assassins escaped in an automobile. There were
several eye-witnesses to the murder. Full and more or
less accurate accounts of the assault were published in
the Baltimore papers of that day and for many days
thereafter. His companion was beaten and robbed.

Many innocent, as well as guilty, parties were subse-
quently arrested in a general round-up at various times
and places by the police on suspicion or direct proof, in-
cluding one Jenkins from Philadelphia. and several
others, released, and represented at the preliminary
stage, as were others, by Mr. Wolf or other lawyers.

Socolow was brought to Baltimore and tried before
Court and jury at Towson, convieted and sentenced to the
penitentiary for life. Hart, Smith and Carey were tried
and convicted and sentenced to life imprisonment. Heard,
Lewis and Novak were indicted as accessories, tried be-
fore the Court and convicted and sentenced by the Chief
Judge of the Supreme Bench. Hart plead guilty and was
sentenced to life imprisonment.

Allers, one of the actual murderers, was arrested, con-
fessed on Angust 22 (the date is significant), turned
State’s evidence and was given immunity as to all of sev-
eral crimes committed in Baltimore City.
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Visit To Mr. WoLr’ HomE.

On the night of Wednesday, August 23rd, after Allers
had confessed, and all guilty parties were under arrest,
except Hart and Socolow, and all implicated by Allers, and
Allers’ confession had appeared in the Baltimore after-
noon papers, the said Socolow, with Keller, who had acted
as lookout man and messenger boy for Socolow and Hart,
walked from the Home, Sweet Home Cemetery, near the
Eastern, city limits, where they had hidden, to the corner
of 22nd and Charles streets, secured a taxicab by phone
from drug store, and went out about dusk to Mr. Wolf’s
house, Park Heights and Slade avenue, with a view on
Socolow’s part of securing Mr. Wolf’s legal services.
They reached Mr. Wolf’s house, driven by one, Bossom,
chauffers, between eight and eight-thirty. o’clock, day-
light-saving time.

Thewr visit was totally unexpected by Mr. Wolf and
without previous notice bo him.

Mr. Wolf’s family had spent the day at Sandy Beach,
Bay Shore. His dinner was late, and when Socolow and
Keller arrived he and his family and guests (the party
consisting of Mr. Wolf, his mother-in-law, Mrs. Cohen,
Mrs. Wolf, his sister-in-law, Miss Cohen, and a guest,
(Mrs. Goodman) were at the dinner table.

Hearing the doorbell, Miss Cohen went to the side door
opening on the porch fronting upon the driveway, to the
north side of Mr. Wolf’s residence, snd Socolow and
Keller were there. They asked for Mr. Wolf, declined
to give their names, hecatise Mr. Wolf, Socolow said,
“‘would not know them,’’ were invited in by Miss Cohen,
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who placed them in the reception room located in the
northwest corner of the residence, and turned on the elec-

tric lights. The rest of the house, including porches, was
already lighted.

All the windows in Mr. Wolf’s residence were open and
the blinds up. The taxicab driver, Bossom, waited out-
side for his two fares, Socolow and Keller.

Miss Cohen returned to the dinner table and reported
to Mr. Wolf that ‘‘two of the worst-looking men’’ wanted
to see him. She was excited because of the appearance
of the two visitors, who were without coats or collars,
were dishevelled, dirty and hot.

Mr. Wolf and his family continued dinner and after
finishing the meal talked over the events of the day at
the table, and finally they all proceeded from the dining-
room—Mr. Wolf last—through the large central hall to-
wards the front or western part of the house. Mrs.
Cohen, Miss Cohen and Mrs. Goodman turned to the left
to enter the library at the southwest corner of the build-
ing. Mr. Wolf turned to the right to see who his visitors
were in the reception-room immediately across the central
hall from the library.

Mr. Wolf had represented Socolow, a stranger, on a
trivial vagraney charge eight or ten months before, re-
ceiving and asking no fee, and upon entering the recep-
tion-room recognized Socolow. He was surprised and
exasperated at Socolow’s intrusion, with the community
agog, and greeted Socolow with, ¢“What in the hell are
vou doing here?”’
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Mrs. Wolf was immediately behind him, and was un-
nerved at the appearance of the men, and the feeling that
they were two of Mr. Norris’ murderers.

Keller was an entire stranger to Mr. Wolf, and Mr.
Wolf supposed him to be one of the Norris murderers,
judging that from his association with Socolow.

Mr. Wolf never saw Keller privately or alone in his
life; and was offered no fee or compensation by either
Socolow or Keller, and had wothing to gain from either.

Mr. Wolf believed that in Socolow there was a man of
desperate character in his liome, a menace to the com-
munity, described by eye-witnesses as having actunally
murdered Mr. Norris and subjected his fallen body to
indignities, and Mr. Wolf was apprehensive. Mr. Wolf
also feared an immediate attack upon his house by the
pursuing police and resistance by Socolow and his then
unidentified companion, Keller.

Desiring time to consider, he motioned to Socolow and
Keller to go on back, and told them to wash up, directed
them to the kitchen, he following them with Mrs. Wolf.
Upon entering the kitchen he asked the cook if she ob-
Jected to the men washing themselves, and if she would
mind giving them a bite to eat, and he passed through
the kitchen out in the yard with Mrs. Wolf, who was
trembling and nervous, Mr. Wolf the while endeavoring
to quiet her.

Keller and Socolow washed, Keller drank a cup of cof-
fee in the kitchen, Socolow took nothing, and complained
of his stomach. Mr. Wolf returned from the back vard
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in a few minutes to the kitchen, and directed Socolow and
Keller to go ahead of him through a narrow hall that
parallels the big central hall—the narrow hall leads from
the kitchen to the dining-room. Keller and Socolow
proceeded as directed through the narrow hall from
kitchen to dining-room, and Mr. Wolf paused in the
kitchen and told the colored butler, George Taylor, that
those were two desperate men, and to stand by and give
him a lift quick if any trouble occurred.

Mrs. Wolf re-entered the house by the side door. Mrs.
Goodman left in Mr. Wolf’s machine. Mrs. Cohen and
Miss Cohen were already seated in the library, and Mrs.
Wolf joined them in the library.

The library is directly connected with the dining-room
by a sliding door, which was open. The dining-room
is connected with the hall by a wide entrance protected
by portieres. The dining-room also adjoins a small break-
fast room and is connected with the breakfast room by a
swinging door. George Taylor, the butler, in deference
to Mr. Wolf’s warning, seated himself in the breakfast
room near the swinging door and remained there through-
out the whole balance of the time Socolow and Keller were
under Mr. Wolf’s roof. Mrs. Cohen, Miss Clara Colien
and Mrs. Wolf sat in the library throughout the whole
time that remained that Keller and Socolow were in Mr.
Wolf’s house. The three ladies above mentioned and
George Taylor were in a position to hear, and did hear,
everything that was said by and between Mr. Wolf, Kel-
ler and Socolow whenever the three were together.

Mr. Wolf followed Socolow and Keller from kitchen to
dining-room, when at that instant Detective Hammersla,
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of the Baltimore City Police Force, was announced to
Mr. Wolf by Miss Cohen. Mr. Hammersla had come to
call, and took his seat on the porch—the width of the house
distant from Socolow and Keller—who were in the din-
ing-room. Mr. Wolf immediately backed out and left
Socolow and Keller and went out to see Hammersla, and
remained with him except to answer the phone and im-
mediately return till he left.  Before Hammersla left,
three men, Schwartz, Reamer and Siegel, called to see Mr.
Wolf on business. Mr. Wolf was continuously with one or
the other or both of these two sets of visitors. After get-
ting through with the last set, Mr. Wolf, for the first time,
returned to his dining-room, where Socolow and Keller
had waited for him a considerable time, was besought by
Socolow to represent him, Socolow, and Mr. Wolf peremp-
torily, loudly and profanely refused in an interview of
two or three minutes or less, and advised Socolow to give
himself up. Socolow and Keller at once left.

Keller says that in the few minutes’ time he, Socolow
and Mr. Wolf (when every word spoken was heard by
three ladies in adjoining room with communicating doov
open and by the butler who was stationed in the breakfast
room near to swinging connecting door) were together
that the fantastie, impracticable scheme, barren of every
possibility or promise of fee or benefit to Mr. Wolf of any
sort was twice broached, and considered. He never said
that M». Wolf agrecd to go into it.

He puts the compact as having been made at a time
when Bossom, State's witness, puts Mr. Wolf with the
three men or with Hammersla and away from Socolow
and Keller entirely.
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The State relies absolutely and exclusively on Keller
for any testimony to prove a conspiracy was entered into
between Mr. Wolf and his two unwelcome visitors, Keller
ar}d Socolow, in Mr. Wolf’s house on August 23, when his
wife, sister-in-law, mother-in-law and servant were sit-
uated as described and who all heard all that was said.

Without Keller the State has nothing.

The testimony of Keller as to the essential facts, of-
fered on behalf of the State, is at odds with that of all
other witness on every disputed point involving Mr.
Wolf; and is nowhere corroborated in any material par-
ticular..

TuaE ALLEGATION oF CONSPIRACY.
Keller said, on direct examination (R., 96) :

““QQ. What was done with you then; what did you

do; what part of the house did you go to? A. Mr.
Wolf said, ‘ Who is this kid ; is this Har¢?*’ And Soco-
low said, ‘No, it is a kid by the name of Kelly, wanted
for an automobile case.” He asked Socolow if he
wanted something to eat, and me and Socolow went
in and ate. Before we ate he told us to wash our
hands, and we did that and we ate, and he went out
into the yard.

Q. After you got through eating in the dining-
room, where did you go? A. Went out on the porch.
It was on the opposite side we came 1n, the one lead-
ing towards the city.

Q. What did you and Socolow do when you got out
on the poreh, sit down? A. Yes, sir.

* One of the murderers, an adult.
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Q. Did Mr. Wolf come out on the porch while you
were there that night? A. Yes. When Mr. Wolf
first came out on the porch, he said, ‘A brutal thing
you did, Socolow.” Socolow said some man came
down the street and the man kicked him, right here
(indicating pit of the stomach). The man ran back
up the street and he shot him. And he went over,
and the man kicked him, and he kicked the man and
took the money.

Q. Now, who did he tell that to; who did Socolow
tell that to? A. Mr. Wolf.

Q. What did Mr. Wolf say then, J. ohn, if anything?
A. Socolow told him he needed the money, so Wolf
said, ‘Why didn’t vou come to me; I would have lent
you a couple hundred dollars.” Then the detective
came. (No conspiracy mentioned yet.)

Q. How did vou know the detective came, if one
did come? A. A lady came in and told him.

Q. What happened then, John? A. He went out to
the detective, Mr. Wolf.

Q. Now, when Mr. Wolf came back, what oceurred,
what did Walter say to him or Mr. Wolf say to Wal-
ter? A. Asked him how would this sound; how
would this do?

Q. Walter did? A. Yes, sir.

Q. What was it he said there? A. I said I heard
Allers say he was framing Socolow.

(The Witness) Then he told me to say insvead of
HHart and Socolow taking me to the box, Frank Allers,
took me there.

Q. (By Mr. Lieach) Was anything said about the
name of Allers? A. Chicago.

Q. (By Mr Leach) Then the telephone rang? A.
Yes, sir.
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Q. What happened then? Did Mr. Wolf sit there
or zo out? A. Went to the telephone.

Q. Was he gone to the telephone very long? A.
Couple seconds.

Q. And when he came back, what happened? A.
He said, ‘I didn’t get you ;tell meit again.’ And so I
told him again. Told him the same thing I told him
the first time.

Q. (By Mr. Leach) What did you tell him the first
time? A. About Allers taking me to the box instead
of Hart and Socolow, and that I heard Allers say he
was framing Socolow.

Q. Now, what was said, if anything, by anybody
about having nerve or nct having nerve?

(The Witness) He said, ‘If you have got the nerve
it is all right.” And Walter said, ‘1 know a kid can
talk pretty good by the name of ‘‘Shovels,”” but he
don’t know anything about it.’

Q. Who used the words, ‘If he has got the nerve,
it’s all right,” Wolf or who? A. Mr. Wolf.

Q. And where were you when that was said? A.
On the porch.

Q. Then what happened, as near as you can re-
member it now? A. A couple fellows came.

(Bossom, Hammersla and the three new visitors
testified the visits overlapped and Mr. Wolf was con-
tinuuosly with his visitors.)

Q. And did they stay long, or maybe you don’t
know. I don’t? A. A couple minutes.

. Yes. When you left there that night, what was
sai?l, what was the understanding, if any? A. Mr.
Wolf said be at his office at quarter of nine; he would
have a friend there of his.
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Q. Did he tell you what he was going to do with
his friend, or what his friend would do with you? A.
Just what Socolow told me. He wouldn’t ask me any
questions.

Q. What did Wolf say, if anything? A. Then he
said be at his office at quarter of nine.

Q. Now, while I think of it, did you go out to Mr.
Wolf’s house that night to see him as a lawyer about
any automobile case? A. No, sir

Q. You went along for what reason? A. Because
Walter wanted to see him.

Q. Because Walter wanted to see him? A. Walter
asked him, I think, to be his attorney, or something.

Wolf said he wouldn’t have nothing to do with the
case.

Q. Did Walter make any statement about where
he was going, I mean in the presence of Mr. Wolf? A.

He said he was supposed to go to Washington to meet
Hart on H and 8th streets.

Q. Yes, go on and tell it? A. As we were going
out, Mr. Wolf told Socolow to gwe hamself up, be-

cause if he tries to get out of town it will go that much
harder for him.”’

In response to a request fromr the Court, Keller a sec-

ond time recited his story of what occurred at Mr. Wolf’s
home (R., 114, 115):

““A. Alady came out to the door, and me and Soco-
low was there, and Socolow said he wanted to see
Mr. Wolf, and the lady, I think, asked him his name,
something like that, so he said, ‘That is all right,’ and
Mr. Wolf came out and he said, ‘My God, boy, what
are you doing here?’ And he said, “Who is this kid ?’
—no; he said, ‘This is Hart, is it? > And Socolow
said, ‘No, his name is K elly; wanted on automobile
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theft.” So, 1 think Mr. Wolf said, ‘You want some-
thing to eat?’” And we went in and ate, and Mr. Wolf
went out in the yard. Aud then he came back in an&l
we finished eating and he takes us out on the porch’
and Mr. Wolf said, ‘A brutal thing,’ or ‘Brutal thing
you did, Socolow.” And Socolow said, ‘I will tell
you about it, Mr. Wolf.” He said the man was com-
ing down the street, and he kicked at me, and the
man ran back up the street, and he shot the man and
he kicked the man, and the man kicked him, and he
took the money, and he said—Socolow told him he
was broke and he needed the money. And Mr. Wolf
said, ‘ Why didn’t you come to me; I would have lent
you a couple of hundred dollars.” And then the de-
tective came, and a lady came in and said some de-
tective was out on the porch, and so he went out——
(No conspiracy broached before Hammersla came by
anyone.)

(Judge Bond) Who went out?
(The Witness) Mr. Wolf.
(The Court) Just one?

(The Witness) Yes;” and me and Socolow went
on the porch, and Socolow said that is some head
detective of some kind, so then Mr. Wolf

Judge Bond) Is that the only conversation oc-
cul('red %etween yvou two and Mr. Wolf?

Jitness) When Mr. Wolf was away—we were
tal(l;li‘l}llg’ ‘Qbout in)stead of him and Socolow and Har.t
taking me to the box, put it on Allers, and when Mr.
Wolf came in Socolow asked him how would this
sound, or how would this do, and he said instead of
me and Hart taking him to the box, say Allers wa;
taking him to the box and frame him, Socolowh—
heard Allers say he was framing S‘oqolow. And then
I told Mr. Wolf. Myr. Wolf said, ‘Y ou are sure you

* How reconcile two statements.
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know where it is at?”’ And I told him ves; told him
about what I would say that Frank Allers—instead
of calling him Frank Allers say ‘Chicago,” and an-
other fellow came up on Broadway—I was standing
on Broadway at Baltimore street, and this fellow
came up and said, ‘You want to make a couple of
dollars?’ - And T said, ‘Yes.” And he said, ‘Come
with me; take me to Broadway.” And gets on a car
that goes east on Fayette street and takes me down
to Highland avenue to this garage 88, and I get the
box and tags and take it up to the pond and drop them
in the pond, and he gives me twenty-five dollars.
And then the telephone bell rang, and Mr. Wolf an-
swered it, and he came back and he said, ‘ Let me hear
that again.’ And I told it to him again. He said,
‘He has got the nerve’ (pausing). And then Soco.
low said, ‘I know a kid ean talk pretty good by the
name of ‘‘Shovel.”” _ind Mr. Wolf did not say any-
thing, and a (1) couple of fellows came in (pausing).
And then Mr. Wolf came back in, and he said, ‘Come
to my office at quarter of nine; I will have q friend
there.” So Socolow said—

(Judge Bond) ‘Have that friend there, or ‘A
friend there?’

(The Witness) Have a friend there (pausing).
And Socolow—I believe it was Socolow—said, Mr.
Wolf will have a friend there and he won’t ask you
any questions. And when we were walking out Mr.
Wolf said, ‘There is only one thing I can tell you to

do is to giv.«r Yourself up. If you g0 trying to get
out of town it will go that much harder on you.’
we got the cab and left Mr. Wolf’s house.”’

(1) He meant Siegel, Schwartz and Reamer
mersla left, and Mr. Wolf was with Hammers

they left, then talked with Socolow briefly an
the Norris case.

who arrived before Ham.
la or the other three till
d for the only time in re.
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COoMMENT ON THE ABOVE.

Upon reading the above the question natuirally_ arises:
Can Keller’s testimony be fairly construed, giving Mr.
Wolf the benefit of the doubt or not, as amounting on
Mr. Wolf’s part to acquiescence in or participation in a
conspiracy? He commented on Keller’s nerve, d(.anounced
the brutality of the act, said he would have nothing to d-o
with the case, and refused to represent Socolow. His
parting words were—after all had been said and fione—
a repudiation of the invitation to join tl3e 0011§p11'§1t01's
to obstruet justice and advice to submit to 'Justlce'—
““There s only one thing I can tell you to _do 8 t(.) give
yourself up. If you go trying to get out of town it will
go that much harder on you.”’

Keller in his many transparent lies and obvious devices
that he unsuccessfully attempted to foist for fou.r days on
the police, to which may be added his oft-committed per-
juries in the Socolow trial at Towson, always had one pro-
fessed end in view—the aid of Sooolow—thfe same en('i, of
course, reinforced by considerations for .hls own safety,
comfort and reward, to be served by 1mphca.t1ng Mr.
Wolf. His days and nights in the police station were
filled by the manufacture and recitation of such clumsy

falsehoods.

There was a distinguishable system or analogy as to
all. Lacking originality to invent them .wh.olly, he 1_18ed
the suggestions got from real acts and 1-nc,1dent§, dislo-
cated them from their true surroupdmgs, mismated
authors and their words, actors and their acts, and f_als_ely
aseribed their acts and utterances to others, embell.lshmg
and connecting the whole with picturesque details en-

tirely false.
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As one example, he told the story of hiding the box and
the t‘ags—but falsely substituted Allers for Socolow, the
participant therein, and originated a lot of details. all
untrue. He and Socolow ‘‘mumbled’’ and prob;lblv
planned for the future together in Mr. Wolf’s dininé—
room during their long wait while Mr. Wolf was absent
with his other visitors, when they were disappointed in
My, Wolf and knew they were unwelcome. No one knows
precisely what they planned, but doubtless Keller took
fragments from that and other talks with Socolow, and
fragments from the real and only talk Mr. Wolf had, with
them, and from such beginnings and the suggestions had
theli'efrom, by adding, subtracting, swapping and trans-
posing, after four days’ though evolved ‘the farcical
s'tory he projected to the edification and entire satisfac-
tion of Mr. Leach. Keller was not exhausted, and had Mr
Leach not applauded the ostentatiously false statement‘
and rewarded the author with the highest prize—liberty—
Keller would doubtless have produced additional fabriyca-
tions until the veriest glutton for seandal was sated.

I‘(eller.ascribed to Mr. Wolf a repudiation of Socolow
a I‘mgh-m.lnded attitude toward the brutality of Socolow ’s’
crime, then an instantaneous moral slump a.ccompanied b
1I}terest or curiosity to hear and hear again the plans de)-r
vised while Mr. Wolf was out and the plotters alone, the;I

a third instantaneous change when Mr. Wolf declined to
touch the case and advised surrender.

Everyox
ERYONE ELSE CONTRADICTS KELLER’S sToRy,

Mr. Wolf testified (R. 316) :

““And as I got towards the doorw i
: ay—th
here represents the doorway of the rece);)tionl-iof)rx)lilf

¥y

as I got about there—we had been talking coming
through the hall—Socolow and Keller came towards
me, and, as I saw them, I said—I could hardly catch
my breath for a second—I said—pardon my lan-
guage—What in the hell are you fellows doing here;
how did you get here—or words to that effect. I
don’t remember the exact language—I saw I was
losing my head every second—my heart was thump-
ing faster than it ever had in my life before—they
were disheveled. And by that time I turned and
there was my wife at my side, and she was shaking
all over. I said to myself real quickly, Keep your
head, don’t lose your head; keep cool; because I
had made up my mind I was not going to represent
them and was going to tell them—/ didn’t know how
it would hit them. The window was open and the
door was open; the only door that was barred was
the screen door in front and the screen door to the
south. It only took seconds, but it seemed like min-
utes. I looked at them and said, I tell you fellows,
it looks like you haven’t been washed; you fellows
walk back and wash up. I said, pointing to the
back, You fellows go back there and wash up. I
took my wife by the arm and they went ahead of us;
she was shaking all over. I said, ‘‘For God’s sake,
keep cool; this is no time to get excited.”’ There is
a doorway right back of these pillars (indicating)
that leads into this little hallway here (indicating
from photographs) that goes in the kitchen—a very
narrow hallway. That (indicating) is the reception
room. That (indicating) is the big hallway as we
went: on through. So the men went in the kitchen.

I said to the cook, Florence, I said, You don’t
I said to the cook, loremnce, I said, You don’t
mind ‘these fellows washing up, and giving
them a little bite to eat. They were moving
all the time from the kitchen to the back
door. My wife said, They are the men, they are the
men. I said, For God’s sake, honey, please be still;
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don’t get excited ; don’t get hysterical; please don’t.
I was trying to bolster her up, because she was ter-
ribly wrought up over it. I said, Keep cool. She
kept repeating and repeating. I said, Don’t get
excited. We walked leisurely down to the kitechen
door, down the back steps, and went to the garden-
er’s house, and I went back there and back again
trying to calm her. - I went back in the kitchen. By
this time, Socolow and Keller were on their feet.

I'said, You fellows go ahead here. And as they went
through I said to the colored man who was there
that night, who had come back from his vaeation
that night—1I said, George, now listen. Those are
two desperate men, and if you hear the slightest

kind of trouble, come in and give me a lift quick.
He said, All right.

~ I went through the dining room . I had
jJust about gotten in through the door-—the bell

had rung in the meantime—I had just about gotten
in the dining-room, coming in the hallway from the
kitchen, this way. T had gone in to tell these fel-
lows what I was going to say to them. My sister-
in-law said, Mr. Hammersla wants to see you.

I had just gotten over one fright in the back with
my wife. Isaid, Now, hereis where it starts ; Harry is
a well-known figure in the department, they must
know hisname. Isaid. Hereis where they start. I fig-
ured they would be shooting at each other at once. It
was only seconds; it seemed minutes. T said to myself
Maybe, thank God, they didn’t get the name. I said,
You fellows go back and sit down. T told them t<;
go back here (indicating) in this dining-room. They
went back there and sat down, and I went out to see
Hammersla. As he said, I was very ill at ease. I
was. I was terribly worked up over it, and nervous
I sat in ‘the swing talking to Hammersla, As
I was talking to him, the phone would ring and my
sister-in-law or some member of the family would
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say, ‘Telephone.” I would then get up from the
swing. I think T told you the swing is here. Here
(indicating) is the swing on the porch, and I would
walk from there—have you the library there, please,
sir? T would walk over here—here (indicating) is
where the telephone was—to answer the phone. The
phone rang a great many times—just exactly the
number, I don’t know—or the character of the same.
There were a great many. I would go and answer
the phone and come out again and talk to Hammer-
sla. And I sat there for at least half an hour or so,
talking with him, hoping he would go any minute.
And as I was sitting there talking with him, T said
to him—I said, Harry—three men came along in
an automobile—I said, Harry, you will have to ex-
cuse me; these gentlemen want to see me about a
little business. He said, All right, Harry, I will see
you again. And he got in his Ford and said, Good
night.” I said, Good night, Harry. And out he went.

I said, You fellows come on in here, I took them in
the hall and we stood in the hall there. Well, any-
how, we stood in the hall over here in the neighbor-
hood of the clock, they were standing there, which
would be the north side of the building. We stood
there talking ; they were telling me that they wanted
to get Hurwitz out—that he had never been in trou-
ble before—his wife didn’t know it—they didn’t
want it to get to her. At first one would say, Why
don’t you get him out? And I said I cannot very

well tonight.

Q. About how long were they at your house? A
As a matter of fact, those men were there fully fif-
teen minutes. They were at least that. And after
they had gone, as I say, I said to the taxicab driver,
Those fellows will be out in a minute—meaning
Socolow and the other fellow. Iwent back and I said,
Come here.




hearing, testified (R. 346)

R

Q. Where were they? A. In the big dining-room.
And I stood right here, in this doorway, facing the
dining-room. I said, You fellows come here. I said
Let me tell vou something ; T am not going to repre-’
sent a damn one of you, and I went on to tell them—
and Socolow would break in and say, I am innocent.
I said, I don’t care whether you are innocent or not.
I said, If you are innocent, walk in and surrender
like a man. He said, They won’t give me a fair
trial; the papers say this and that. ] said, You will
have nothing to gain by walking away ; there is noth-
Ing to do but go in and surrender like a man. He
said, Let me tell you my story. I said, I don’t want
to hear a damn thing about it; I won 't represent a
damn one of you. Every time I tried to talk he
would break in and try to explain and said Mr
Wolf, 1 am nnocent. I said, I don’t want to h’ear a
damn thing about it. I said, The thing is not
Whether or not you are innocent, but the thing to do

18 to walk in and surrender ; i i i
‘ ; You will gai g
by 1('iunn1ng away. After some furthergexclzlhgr(:g;n(l)?'
zs}ror 8, they walked out the dining-room and st;rted
irough the hallway that leads out to the porte-

cochere. Asg they started out, the
ﬁoment, and this other fellow, ,who }';uf‘g:ar()ipggt f;(z)r‘ba
eller, turned to me and said, Mr, Wolf, will y01(1e

t is the matter with you?

Mrs. Wolf, wife of Mr. Wolf, who was within easy

Lmen, the three
q ming-room door
! e library. Mr. Wolf and I fo)-
owards the Teception-room and I to-
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wards the library to the left and as he got to the door
of the reception room, my back was turned, but I
suppose that he had gotten to the door he said, What
in the hell are you doing here or something of that
sort. Very much surprised. It was so unusual for
him to greet people in this fashion, I turned in.
stinctively and went to the reception-room door. I
saw these two awful looking boys, or men or brutes,
and I held his arm. He patted my hand and said to
the men, You go down to the kitchen. You go down
there and wash up. They went through the hall and
turned into the kitchen and went into the kitchen,
Mr. Wolf and I followed them. When we got into
the kitchen, he said, Florence, let these men wash
up and give them a bite to eat, and then we went out
of the kitchen door to the yard.

We walked slowly towards the,gardener’s house, h¢
telling me to keep quiet and cool and not to get hys-
terical and not to get excited. I left him there and
went around to the porte-cochere and called the
chauffeur to bring the machine to take Mrs. Goodman
home. I went up the steps of the porte-cochere, the
north poreh and called up to Mrs. Goodman that the
car was ready for her and she left immediately, after
which I went into the library and rejoined my sister
and my mother.

I had just about gotten in there when the bell rang
again and my sister went out and opened the door.
I heard her come back and go to the dining-room and
say, Mr. Hammersla is here, and I knew who Mr.
Hammersla was and I kept quiet. She came back
into the room and we stayed there and heard ITarry
go across the hall out on to the poreh and heard
the door close after he was out on the porch. The
telephone bell rang several times while he was out
there and we called him, my sister called him in, I
think. I think my sister each time doing it. He
would then come in and answer the ’phone, in the
library where we were.
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Then I heard some voices in the hall, but
I could not say who was there, but I heard
some men out there talking attempting to get
somebody out on bail, evidently, somebody that had
been arrested. That is nothing unusual, but he said
that he could not do anything on that night. Well,
they said that thev had their bondsmen with them
and they were sure that Harry could do it. They
then left and Harry went towards the dining-room
door and [ heard him say, Come here, evidently ad-
dressing somebody in the dining-room.

[ heard voices speaking and one of them saying, I
am innocent, Mr. Wolf, won’t vou be my lawyer?
Won’t you let me tell my story? Harry said, No, I
don’t want to have anything to do with it. I don’t
want to take your case and I don’t want to hear your
story. They interrupted him each time that he
started to talk and he said to them, Guilty or inno-
cent, the only thing for you to do is to go down and
give yourselves up. And they said, Well, we are
imnocent. He said it doesn’t do you any good to run
away. [If you run away they will catch you sooner
or later so just go on down and give vourself up.
Well, we won’t get a fair trial? He said, Now you
do as I tell and that is all. And they started out to-
wards the porte-cochere and at the door I heard a
volee say, Will you take my case? Mr. Wolf said,
What kind of a case is yours! He said, Well, I am
accused of stealing an automobile. He said, Well,
if that is the case come down to the office tomorrow
morning at nine o’clock and then they left. He then
came back to the library where we were sitting and
he sat with us.”’

Miss Clara Coben, within easy hearing, testified that

(R. 353) :

““Dinner was served and while we were at the table
the bell rang. We were short of help, so I said I
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would go to the door. T went to the side door and
there were two very disreputable looking men stand-
ing there. They asked if Lawyer Wolf was at home,
and I said yes, and the name. They said they did not
wish to give any name, because Mr. Wolf would not
know them. So then I asked them whether they
preferred sitting indoors or outside, and they pre-
ferred sitting indoors, so I immediately showed them
wmto the reception-room and turwed on the light. 1
went into the dining-room and I was very much ex-
cited, because we were not used to seeing such
wretched looking people, and I said, Oh, there are
two of the worst looking men to see you, and Mr.
Wolf said, keep ealm about it, sit down. We sat
down and finished our meal in leisurely fashion, as
we always do, talking about things that happened
during the day. When dinner was over, Mrs. Good-
man, mother and myself started out of the door that
leads into the hall, and on our way to the library we
were in front, Mr. and Mrs. Wolf in back of us, and
we were just about in the library when we heard Mr.
Wolf say—shall T use his language”

(Mr. Dennis) You will have to, [ am sorry to say.

(Witness) What in the hell are you doing here;
how did you get here? And then he said you better
go out

Q. Let me interrupt vou just a moment. Where
were the menthen? A. In the reception-room, where
I had shown them when they came.

Q. After he said what in the hell are you doing
here, what happened? A. Then he said you better
¢o out back and wash up. We continued sitting in
the library, sewing and talking, and they continued
to the back of the house, and later in the evening
Mrs. Wolf came to the side porch and she ealled Mrs.
Goodman to say that the car was ready to take her
home and Mrs. Goodman said good night and left.
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After that the door bell rang again and I went to
the door. I asked who it was; the name, Mr. Hammer-
sla. 1 asked him whether he preferred sitting in-
doors or outside, and he preferred outside, so 1 left
him sitting in the hammock.

[ went into the house and found Mr. Wolf
just coming out of the door that leads from,
well, it is is just outside the breakfast room,
leads between the kitchen and dining-room, and these
two men were standing just within that door on the
dining-room side. He was coming towards them,
and 1 said Mr. Hammersla to see you, and he said to
these men, Take a seat over there, motioning to the
back of the dining-room, and Mr. Wolf went out on
the porch and spoke to Mr. Hammersla.

We continued sitting in the library reading, or,
rather, sewing and talking, and the telephone rang
several times. HKach time the telephone rang I went
to the side porch and called ‘telephone,’ and that was
the signal for Mr. Wolf to come into the house to an-
swer the telephone, and he came into the library
where we were sitting to answer it each time. Then
after we heard voices in the hall again, Mr. Wolf’s
voice among them. Some people had come out there;
they were in trouble and wanted to get some man out
on bail and were trying to persuade Mr. Wolf to have
that man released that night. Of course, he kept say-
ing he could not do it, but they were persistent in
trving to get him to do it, naturally.

Then Mr. Wolf came into the house again; he
walked over to the dining-room and I heard a voice
say, Now, Mr. Wolf, I want you to hear my story.
He said, 1 don’t want to hear anything about it. He
said, Well, T didn’t do this thing, Mr. Wolf; I want
vou to listen to me, want you to hear what I have to
gay, and Mr. Welf kept saying, No, I don’t want to
have anything to do with it: you are guilty or you are
innocent ; there is only one thing for vou to do and
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that is give yourself up, and they were Just about
going out the side hall when I heard another voice
say, Well, will you take my case; 1 am in a little trou-
ble; have been accused of stealing an antomobile; so
Mr. Wolf said, Well, if you want to see me about that
come down to the office tomorrow morning at nine
o’clock. '

Q. (Mr. Dennis) Now, that is the time they left?
A. Yes.

Mrs. Rose H. Goodman testified (R. 365):

‘“While we werc at dinner the bell rang and Miss
Cohen volunteered to go to the door, and she came
back and said, Harry, two terrible looking men are at
the door and want to see you, so he said. Well, just
don’t bother, sit quietly, and we continued with our
meal. After the meal was served and we finished
our meal we still sat talking, discussing all that we
did at Sandy Beach and about the baby, how he en-
Joyed himself, and we did not—we were not in any
apparent hurry to leave the table.

Q. Mr. Wolf there all the time? A. Yes, sir; he
did not leave the table while I was there. And after
dinner, after we got into the hall and Mr. and Mrs.
Wolf followed, and I was going into the library door,
in the library, and I heard Mr. Wolf approach some
people and say, What in hell are you doing here, and
damn it, how did you get there; and then I felt im-
mediately that there was something wrong, but I
went in and quietly sat down and [ was seated a very
little while when I heard Mrs. Wolf eall to me that the
car was ready, and I left.

Q. Where was Mrs. Wolf at the time that Mr.
Wolf had made this exclamation that you deseribe?
A. Idid not see Mrs. Wolf. 1 was in the library.

Q. You walked on in the library and sat down?
A. I was in the library.
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Q. She did not come in the library with you? A
I did not see Mrs. Wolf any moie until I heard her
voice and then T went out to the car ”’

Mrs. Fredericka Cohen testified (R. 369):

““The door bell rang and my daughter Clara went
to the door, and she came back and she seemed ter-
ribly excited and she said, Oh, two of the worst look-
ing characters I have ever seen to see you, Harry,
and he said, Well, don’t get too excited, it is all right ;
sit down and we will finish our dinner, and I think he
said, Did you take them into the room or show them to
a room, and she said, Yes, they were in the reception
room. We countinued with our dinner and talking
about the afternoon, what we had done and how we
had enjoyed ourselves, and we were not in any hurry
at all to leave the table, and when we were through
dinner I think I was the first one to leave the table
and go out in the hall towards the reception-room
or the library, the rest of the family following me,
and I had just about gotten in the library when I
heard Mr. Wolf in very loud tones say—will I go on
just the same? Well, where in hell did vou come
from? How did vou get here? And it was so un-
usual. I had often known Mr. Wolf to have callers,
for I spend a great deal of time there, and I had
never heard him talk to anv clients in that tone. I
immediately turned and was surprised to see Mrs.
Wolf had joined him, at the door there, talk to these
people, whom I did not see, and then he said, Go in
and wash up, and Mr. and Mrs, Wolf followed them.
They went back in the hall towards the kitchen. Thev
were ahead and Mr. and Mvs. Wolf following them.

Q. Now, did anyone else come to Mr. Wolf’s house
that evening that you know of? A. Yes, sir. The
bell rang and my daughter went to the door, and she
came back and said, Mr. Hammersla.
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Q. Now, how long was that after Mr. Wolf, vou
heard him say go back and wash up, and he and his
wife walked towards the kitehen deor? A. Well, it
might have been ten or fifteen minutes, because in the
meantime Mrs. Goodman had been ealled, that the
car was ready, and she went home.

Q. But you are just estimating it? Now, then, Mr.
Hammersla was announced and do vou know whether
Mr. Wolf went out to see him? A. I understood he
did, that he went out on the porch. 1 was in the
library, I did not see any of the movements at all, [
could only hear the voices.

Q. Were you engaged in any work of auy kind?
A. We all thought we were working, we had a little
work in our hands and thought we were working, but
we were all terribly excited.

Q. Did Mr. Wolf seem to be excited? A. Just as
much as we were, which was very unsual for him, be-
cause in all the time that 1 have been at the house and
the many visitors that he has had, we had scarcely
ever heard one word that he said to his elients.

Q. Now, then, after Mr. Tlammersla was there—
arrived—do you know whether later on any other
people came to that home? A. Yes, sir: there were
other voices in the hall, there were some men there
and they wanted him to go on, to furnish bail or to
make arrangements to furnish bail, and he said it
was very late and he could not do anvthing, and they
persistéd and said they knew it had been done other
times and wanted it done, and finally persnaded he
couldn’t do anything that night, and to come to the
office in the morning, and see what he could do, and

they left.

Q. Was there any difficulty in hearing the talk of
Mr. Wolf that night? A. Not a particle.
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Q. Did you hear him come to the dining-room door
and say anything to these men who were there? A.
I heard him say, as soon as he seemed to have gone
with these men and shown them the door, and he came
back, I heard voices then say, now, Mr. Wolf, I want
to tell you my story, and Mr. Wolf said, T don’t want
to hear your story. Well, I am innoeent and I want
you to help me. Innocent or guilty—now this is as
near as I can remember: they may have said oftener
or perhaps added a little—but innocent or guilty,
there is only one thing for vou to do and that is to
surrender, go right down town and give vourselves
up, and they persisted they were innocent, he was in-
nocent and he wanted to tell his storyv; and Mr. Wolf
said, No, I will have nothing to do with the cases.

Q. Was that talk loud enough to be heard by you
and the other ladies in the librarv? A. Positively,
very loud, anyone might have heard it.

Q. Would it have been difficult for anybody on the
porch to have heard it? A. Well, T don’t think it
would be.

Q. However, you heard it? A. I heard it

Q. After he said innocent or guilty, there is only
one thing to do, give vourself up, what did they do?
A. Then I heard the footsteps, and another voice said,
Well, will you take——

Q. Now, which way did they appear to be going?
A. They were going out the side door to the porch.
Well, will you take my case? What js vour case? 1
am accused of stealing an automobile. Well, you
come to my office tomorrow morning at 9 o’clock.’’

George Taylor testified that (R. 386) :

“After I got home T was sitting down talking to
my wife about what a time T had on my vacation, T
was sitting there a while and in a few minutes the
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door opened, the door coming ont into a little hall,
and out came two hard, rough-looking men, shirts
open, they looked dirty, and Mr. and Mrs. Wolf be-
hind them. Mr. Wolf ecame on out and he said, ‘Flor-
ence, you do not mind these men washing up a little?’
And Florence said, ‘No.” Florence told them to go
to the sink and wash up, and before Mr. Wolf went
out of the door he said, ‘Give them a bite to eat,
too, Florence,’ and out of the door he and Mrs. Wolf
went. They were out there a short while and Mr.
Wolf came back and when he came back these two
men were standing up in the kitehen and Mr. Wolf
said, ‘In that way, fellows,” and those fellows went
into a little hall that leads into the dining-room, and
after they got in the hall and had closed the door Mr.
Wolf beckoned to me to come to him. 1 went to Mr.
Wolf and Mr. Wolf said, ‘George, these are two bad,
desperate men; you sit in that chair there by that
door and if you hear any disturbance or any shuffling
you step in to give me a lLift.’

Q. During that time could yvou hear what was going
on in the dining-room? A. Well, after Mr. Wolf told
me to sit in the chair by the dining-room door, and
he went on through the door, it was a Jady said to him
that Mr. Hammersla was there to see him, and M]r.
Wolf said to these fellows, he said, ‘You fellows sit
over there,” and Mr. Wolf went on out talking to Mr.
Hammersla, T suppose.

Q. During the time did you hear these men that
vou speak of, these rough-looking men; could you
hear them talking to each other? A. Yes, I did, but
I could not understand anything they said. They
were mumbling and talking very low.

Q. Now, then, did you hear—you said vou sat there

1t an hour before came back? A. Why
about an hour before Mr. Wolf came back? A. Why,
he didn’t come back there. He came in probably eight
or nine times to answer the telephone, he went in the

library.
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). Now, did vou hear any talk out in the hall? Did
anybody else come to see Mr. Wolf? A. Well, after
Mr. Wolf, the last time he answered the phone and
he went out, the next time I heard Mr. Wolf he was
talking to two or three men—it sounded that way from
the different voices—and they were in there, I sup-
pose, about fifteen minutes talking about some boot-
legging case or something, and I neard Mr. Wolf say
he was very sorry he could not do anything for them
that night, but for them to come down to his office
in the morning at nine o’clock and he would attend
to it; he would take care of them. That is what he
said. And they went away.

Q. After they went awayv did Mr. Wolf say any-
thing to these men that were sitting there? A. Why,
yes, sir; the next time I heard Mr. Wolf again he said,
‘Look here, you fellows, come here’

Q. Where was he, out toward the hall, that en-
trance? A. It seemed like to me he was in the hall,
in the big hall; it sounded like it to me. So he said,
‘You fellows come here.” Now, he said, I want to tell
vou 1 am not going to defend a damm one of you.’
Excuse the expression. He said, ‘T am not going to
defend a damn one of you.” He said, ‘It is a damn
outrage and it is a shame,’ and one of them kept on
talking and saying, ‘Mr. Wolf, T am innocent, I am
innocent.” Mr. Wolf said, ‘Innocent or no innocent,
I don’t give a damn. If vou are innocent go down
and give yourself up. [t is nothing in running away.
If you are guilty go down and give yourself up. If
vou are not guilty go down and give vourself up, be-
cause if you run away they will get vou sooner or
later.” Then whilst Mr. Wolf was saving that one of
them kept on talking and saving, ‘T want you to take
my case, I am innocent, I am innocent, the papers—
they won’t give me a fair trial in Baltimore.” Mr.
Wolf said, ‘Yes, they will; they will give you as fair
a trial in Baltimore as they will anywhere else.’ Then
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1 heard a serumbling like they were going toward
the door, and Mr. Wolf said, 1 am damn sorry, but I
cannot do anything for you.” Whilst they were going
out it seemed like to me they were going toward the
big hall to go out, I heard oene of them say some-
thing to Mr. Wolf, but I did not understand what it
was, but I did hear Mr. Wolf say, ‘Well, you come
down to my office at nine o’clock in the morning and
I will see about it.’

Q. Did they go out then? A. Yes; I never heard
no more of it.”’ »

Bossom, State’s witness, contradiets Keller at every
turn (R. 176, 177) :

“Q. Well, then, your two fares rang the doorbell
and they were admitted? A. Yes; that is right.

Q. Now, did you have your lights on the automo-
bile lit? A. No; we don’t use headlights on the
automobiles, but when they went in the interior of
the house was not lighted up, but it was lighted
after they got in there.

Q. Were the blinds up? A. Yes.

Q. Everything open? Windows open? A. 1
think they were open; yes, sir.

Q. Now, it was no trouble for anybody from the
outside to see in; was it? A. Not if they wanted
to look in.

Q. Not if they wanted to look in? A. No, sir.

Q. Now, you say that they had been there for
about ten or fifteen minutes sitting there wailing,
when Mr. Wolf came to meet them? A. Yes, sir.

Q. And he then took them to the back of the house!?
A. Yes, sir.
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Q. And that is the last that you saw of the boys
until they re-entered the cab and left? A. That’s
right.

Q. Now, then, how long after that was it that Mr.
Hammersla got there in his little Ford? I think
vou told us, but let us make sure of it? A. I don’t
know how long, but it was some time.

Q. Well, how long was it after Mr. Hammersla
arrived that Mr. Wolf went out on the porch to meet
him? A. From the time that Mr. Hammersla ar-
rived, I don’t guess that it was over a minute.

Q. He went out immediately and saw Hammersla?
A. Yes.

Q. And I think that you say that they sat in the
swing on the porch and in your view all of the time?
A. Yes, sir. That is right.

Q. Did Mr. Wolf go in the house at any time and
leave Hammersla there at any time while you were
warting there? A. I don’t think so.

Q. Did he have any phone calls that you know of?
A. Yes. 1 heard at first, when they first went in
there—Socolow and Keller—I heard the phone ring-
ing, and I heard him say, Hello, and that was all.
I don’t know whether he went in a booth or not.

Q. And that is when they first went in there? A.
Yes, sir.

Q. And he sat there talking with Hammersla con-
tinvously (1) wntil the three men arrived in the big
car? A. Yes.

Q. How long did those men stay there that came
n that big car? A. They stayed possibly ten or
firteen minutes and they went inside.

Q. Did they have a chauffeur? A. No, sir; I
didn’t notice that. It was three of them, I think,
and they went in the house with Mr. Wolf.
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Q. Yes. Now, do you know at what time they
left Mr. Wolf’s? A. The three men?

(1) Siegel, Schwartz and Reamer.

Q. Yes. A. Indeed, I don’t. I couldn’t tell you
that.

Q. And almost immediately after they left was
when Mr. Wolf came out to. you and told you that the
two young men would be out there shortly? A. Yes.

Q. And, as a matter of fact, they did come out
within a few minutes after these other three men
had left? A. Yes, sir.”’

After Socolow and Keller left Mr. Wolf called up Cap-
tain Leverton, an old friend, and the man responsible in
chief for the apprehension and confession of Allers (hav-
ing been put in touch through Mr. Wolf’s advice to
McKee), and asked him to call at his, Mr. Wolf’s, office
next morning, that he might have something important.

Keller appeared at Mr. Wolf’s office, there admitted
to Mr. Wolf he knew where the metal cash box stolen
from Mr. Norris was, said he wanted to teil, and was
then introduced by Mr. Wolf to Captain Leverton, with
the explanation that Keller was wanted for stealing an
automobile, and could give Captain Leverton informa-
tion about the stolen box, ete. Leverton took Keller in
charge, found the box and auto tags, ete., ete. Keller
told the police very many untruths, led them astray
time and again, concocted many more or less plausible
stories, and finally after four days constant badgering
by the police and contriving for his own relief made an
alleged confession wherein he sought to placate his
oppressors at the sacrifice of Mr. Wolf. He sueeeeded.
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A1 tue Beainyineg It 15 Peruaps WeLL 1o UUNDERSTAND
Wiro KELLER 1s.

John Keller is aged seventeen, is the son of respect-
able parents, and had his skull fractured when three
vears old (R. 290), has never since ‘‘been accountable
for what he did’’ (Rose Keller, R. 291-292), when twelve
vears of age he was first arrested (February 17, 1917),
charge larceny, dismissed, and on charge of disorderly
conduet, probation, one month, and has been arrested
for various charges, to wit (R. 163-164-165-166, &e.) :

(February 17th, 1917. Eastern District).

Charge—I elomiously entering store 2001 Bank Street,
stealing seventy-five cents and twenty-five cents’ worth
of pies. Larceny charge dismissed. Found guilty of
disorderly conduct. Probation for one month under care
of Mr. Mueller. Officers in case: Sergeant Nicholas
Gatch and Officer Joseph Jeffres, Eastern District (R.
148).

(April 9th, 1917. Juvenile Court).

Charge—Minor without proper care. Sent to St.
Mary’s Industrial School pending further hearing July
9,1917. Dismissed July 9th, 1917. Witnesses: Mother,
Mrs. Rose Keller, and Father Wheeler.

(October 27th, 1917. Eastern District).

Charge—Disorderly conduct on public street. Sent to
St. Mary’s Industrial School pending further hearing
April 1st, 1918, Dismissed March 20th, 1918. Officer in
case: Harman, Eastern District (R. 148).
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(November 6th, 1918. Fastern District).

Charge—Larceny of one pair rubber boots. Placed in
care of Probation Officer William Mueller for three
months. Further action suspended. Officers in case:
Sergeant Granville Bozman and Officer George Kritseh.
Witness: Mary Sussman, 1921 East Pratt Street.

(November 6th, 1918. Eastern Distriet).

Charge- —Liarceny of one wrist wateh, $15.00; one
child’s bracelet, $4.00. Dismissed. Officers in case:
Sergeant Granville Bozman and Officer George Fritsch.
Witness: Kate Feldstein, 1921 Hast Pratt Street (R.
149).

(November 9th, 1918. Eastern Distriet).

Charge—Larceny of $10 U. S. currency, from Mary
Perel, November 6th, 1918. Sent to St. Mary’s Indus-
trial School pending further hearing December 20th,
1918. Released December 22nd, 1918. Officers in case:
Officer William F. Griese, Central Distriet. Wiiness:
Mary Perel, 209 Harrison Street (R. 149).

(February 5th, 1919. Eastern Distriet).

Charge—Disorderly eonduet on public street; fined
$2 and costs. Fine of $3.45 paid. Officers in case: Ser-
geant John H. Holzer and Officer Charles Grauling,
Bastern Distriet. Witness: Murs. Rosie Potkovitz, 1115
Kast Lombard Street.

(February 13th, 1922).

Charge—Incorrigible, charge preferred by Mrs. Rose
Keller, mother.
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He admitted that he had worked at ten different places
R. 121, &c.), that he had wilfully deceived the police
for four days to help Hart and Socolow, telling lie after
lie (R. 144), until finally after being subjected to four
days’ confinement and an examination by Mr. Leach and
other State officials for five hours (R. 113, 116), he made
a statement which suited them. They pressed him no
further.

He testified at the trial of Socolow at Towson, and
admitted five times (R. 126, 128, 140. 141, 142, 150, 152,
154, 155, 157, 170, 171) in the Wolf trial that he had many
times committed perjury in the case of the State vs.
Socolow, all with a view to helping Socolow (R. 143, 171,
171), a purpose always in mind; that he withheld testi-
mony of an alleged confession of Socolow, when lestify-
ing in the case of State vs. Socolow at Towson by direc-
tion of Mr. Leach (R. 141, 141, 143).

He further admitted that the clothes he wore in the
Wolf case were given him by Wiggles Smith (R. 147),
one of the murderers, that he had worked but nine days
in the last year, that he ran away from home last Mareh
for no good reason—simply because he felt like it, that
he broke into a house and stole a still (for the same
reason), because he felt like it (R. 144).

He introduced himself to Mr. Wolf as being wanted on
the charge of stealing an automobile, and Mr. Wolf
frankly told Captain Leverton that he was a thief, that
is to say, he was wanted for stealing an automobile—
sufficient notice to a cautious policemnan, we would think.

It further appears on Keller’s own statement that he
had for months mingled freely with the underworld, shot
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craps, and heen supported by criminals, and that he had
done and performed acts for Socolow and Hart whieh
would make him liable as an accessory after the faet to
their erime of murder (R. 158, &ec.).

It further appeared that his mother, when he was
taken into custody, knowing his weakness and degener-
ate tendencies, went to State’s Attorney’s office to warn
Mr. Leach (without effect) that her son was untrust-
worthy; and that no friend, relative or lawyer repre-
senting him (R. 297) was permitted to talk to him out
of the presence of the police (R. 123, 124, 125).

It further appears that he testified against Mr. Wolf
after having been over sixty days in the custody of the
police with the promise of a job (R. 123, 125, 145), that
his story was written up and (R. 135) he had gone
over it time and again with Mr. Leach (R. 122) and
with Mr. Poe, once for two hours (R. 122), and that
before the Smith-Carey trial he had been promised a job
by Mr. Leach and a parole, and on Sunday night—the
Wolf trial beginning Monday—he had again been prom-
ised a job and a parole by Mr. Leach, the State’s Attor-
ney (R. 146, 147, 158, &c.).

Keller’s mother, father, brother and sister and unele
took the stand and testified his reputation was bad, that
he was not to be believed on oath (R. 293, 295, 298, 300),
Harry Bauer (R. 296), a neighbor; W. H. Mattson (R.
299), a neighbor; M. J. Mattson (R. 299), a neighbor;
W. J. Glenn (R. 301), a neighbor; Martin Glenn (R. 302),
a neighbor; Dr. George Heller (R. 303), i'zunil_\.' doctor to
the Kellers; Charles H. Buck (R. 305), a neighbor, all
testified that Keller’s reputation was bad, most of them
swore they would not believe him on oath.
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William Mueller (R. 305), Chief Probation Officer of
the Supreme Bench, formerly probation officer of the
Juvenile Court, testified he had as a part of his duty—
having Keller under probation in his charge—investi-
gated Keller’s character, that it was bad, that he would
not believe Keller on oath (R. 307). He was not permitted
to produce his official records by way of further proof of
Keller’s criminal acts.

In Ta1s Case—

(a) Keller testified to conspiracy talked over with
Mr. Wolt after Hammersla left—the sole basis of any
charge against Mr. Wolf.

Direetly refuted by Mr. Wolf, Mrs. Wolf, Miss Cohen,
Mrs. Cohen, George the butler, Socolow, all listening
and being all the persons present.

(b) Keller testified he and Socolow waited for Mr.
Wolf upon arrival but a couple of seconds, later enlarged.

Directly refuted by Mr. Wolf, Mrs. Wolf, Miss Cohen,
Mrs. Cohen, Mrs. Goodman. (See Mr. Bossom’s testi-
mony, R. 172.)

(¢) Keller testified he and Socolow talked with Mr.
Wolf ““on poreh’” thirty minutes before Mr. Hammersla
arrived.

Jireetly refuted by Mr. Wolf, Miss Cohen, who met
Mr. Hammersla at the door, Taylor and Socolow and
Bossom (R., 173).

(d) Keller testified Mr. Wolt returned to Him' and
Socolow and sat with them after Hammersla left and
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before other three visitors arrived, and he then went over
the details of the plot fuwice. Mr. Wolf answering the
phone between times.

Directly refuted by Hammersla and three men, i. e.,
Siegel, Sehwartz and Reamer, and by Mr. Wolf and Bos-
som, who testified visits overlapped and/or that Mr. Wolf
was continunously with one or other, or both.

(e) Keller testified Socolow and Mr. Wolf talked to-
gether altogether for an hour.

Directly refuted by testimony of Mrs. Wolf, Mrs.
Cohen, Miss Cohen, Mr. Wolf, George Tavlor—and was
a physical impossibility in view of the time spent on the
premises less the time Mr. Wolf spent with Hammersla
and other three visitors, who show conclusively that Mr.
Wolf during the whole evening was with Socolow and
Keller but three or four minutes. (See testimony of Bos-
som (R., 171) and Hammersla (R., 179).

(f) Keller testified that Mr. Wolf’s visitors on the
night of Wednesday, August 23, staved “‘a couple of min-
utes.”’

Directly refuted by testimony of Mr. Wolf and his
family, and also by testimony of Bossom and of the vis-
itors themselves, Siegel, Sehwartz and Reamer.

(g) Keller testified that Mr. Wolf told Captain Lev
erton in the big reception room of Mr. Wolfl’s office when
he left Mr. Wolf’s office Thursday morning, August 24,
with Keller, ‘‘Don’t ask the kid any questions.”’

Refuted by testimony of Captain Leverton, a State wit-
ness, Mr. Wolf, Mr. Meyler and Mr. Stevenson.
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(h) Keller testifield he had a talk with Mr. Wolf just
before leaving Mr. Wolf’s office for detective headquar-
ters Thursday, August 24, with Captain Leverton,
Keller’s last visit to the office before his incarceration.

¢¢Q. What conversation or what statements, if any,
were made by you to Mr. Wolf at that time, and what
was said by Mr. Wolf to you as you were going out
with Leverton to ‘go over to the Court House? A.
He asked me if I had any money, and I told him no.
He said here is a dollar to get a place to sleep.
What are you going to say, Allers found the tags?
Either one, he said, or are you going to say Allers
framed Socolow. I don’t know which he said.

Q. What did you say, John? A. T told him yes.

Q. What, if anyvthing, was said about whether or
not you might be held by the police? A. I told him,
suppose they hold me? And he said to eall my house,
call me up at my house and I will come down and

get you out.”’
No such conversation ever occurred.

(Captain Leverton, and Messrs. Sherwood and Tomp-
kins, State’s witnesses, were then and there present.

Leverton and Tompkins, State’s witnesses, testified
(R. 211) that at time fixed by Keller as when the forego-
ing alleged conversation took place Keller was sitting
hetween Sherwood and Tompkins, newspaper reporters,
in Mr. Woli”’s outer offece. Leverton (R. 211) testified he
was there to take Keller to police headquarters, and—

Q. Well, the boy was in your presence all the

time, wasn’t he! A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did Mr. Wolf at any time in your presence on
that occasion ask this boy if he was going to frame
Allers? A. No, No, sir; No, sw. * * "
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Q. There was never any such conversation; is that
what I am to understand! A. Yes, sir,” ete. (R.
212).

Sherwood, State’s witness (R. 235), who was present
sitting beside Keller (R. 227) in Mr. Woll's office when
Keller said the aforegoing conversation between himself
and Mr. Wolf took place, testified (R. 236):

““Q. Did Mr. Wolf have any conversation with the
boy at all in your presence before the boy left? A. I do
not remember any ; no, sir.’’

Tompkins, State witness and newspaper reporter, sat
beside Keller in Mr. Wolf’s office, interviewed Keller, was
present before and at the time Keller was taken from Mr.
Wolf’s to police headquarters by Leverton (the time when
Keller says the conversation about framing Allers, ete.,
took place), and Mr. Tompkins testified (R. 246, 247) :

f‘Q. While you were there, did Mr. Wolf have any
private conversation at all with John Kellery A.
None that I know of.

Q. And you were there all the tim¢ and would have
known it if he had had? A. I was there, as I said, a
little while ago, for about fifteen minutes.

Q. Well, during the fifteen minutes you were there,
and it was the fifteen minutes immediately preceding
the taking of Keller from Mr. Wolf’s office, did Mr.
Wolf have any conversation with him which vou did
not overhear? A. No, sir.

Q. Was there any conversation between Mr, Wolf
and Keller in your hearing that Keller testified to?
He testified that Wolf asked him if he was going to
frame Allers? A. There was no such conversation as
that in my hearing, sir.”’
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(i) Keller testified twice or -more that the alleged
conspiracy was agreed to by Mr. Wolf after Hammersla
left and before the other visitors arrived, obviously over-
looking the clear faet that no interval occurred, as Ham-
mersla, Bossom and the three visitors and Mr. Wolf—six
witnesses, five disinterested—testified. Such is the State’s
indispensable witness!

ARGUMENT—PART III.
GrxEral, TREATMENT oF ERRORS.

The distinetion between a witness who has been con-
vieted of perjury and a witness who, like Keller, has time
and again acknowledged that he had time and again heen
guilty of perjury, is searcely distinguishable. Had Keller
heen convicted of any one of his many perjuries, he would
not have been eligible to testify as a witness by statute.
Art 35, See. 1, C. P. G. L.

While we realize this Court cannot review the propriety
of the verdiet and judgment, for the eredit of counsel
in the case, we trust it is proper to demonstrate to this
Court the complete innocence of Mr. Wolf, and that coun-
sel are engaged in an effort to effect substantial justice to
the innocent, and not to shield guilt behind any legal de-
fense,

At the beginning of the trial Keller was granted a sev-
erance (apparently he never entered any plea), and at
the conelusion granted a parole and judgment suspended.

Ixyuvstics o Me. Worr 1s CLrax.

The action of the distinguished Judges who accepted in
toto as true all of Keller’s testimony, in spite of the ad-
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monitions of this Honorable Court in the late case of La-
nasa vs. State, 109 Md. 602, and Leury vs. State, 116 Md.
294, against convicting upou the uneorroborated evidence
of a co-conspirator (and in this case a confessed perjurer,
a degenerate and criminal, furnished with every induce-
ment by way of liberty and reward the State could give,
under the constant and unyielding eontrol of the police,
though contradicted at every essential point by competent
(and often disinterested State’s) witnesses, and nowhere
supported as to any point in dispule, essential or other
wise, by any witness) would be absolutely inexplicable in
normal times.

In the Leury case, this Honorable Court expresged in
vivid language a good reason for the rule referred to:

“Any one who has had experience at nisi prius

trials knows how captivating is the story of one
relating the cirecumstances connected with some
mysterious erime. When such an one has a motive
the prospect of freedom, a milder sentence or the
favor of the officers who have him in charge, an
innocent one may undoubtedly be made to suffer, if
great caution is not used”’ (at p. 293).

Keller had all that.

Mgr. Worr Triep Uxper ABNORMAL (CCONDITIONS.

The conditions surrounding the trial of Mr. Wolf were
decidedly abnormal. Public sentiment was naturally out-
raged at the robbery and the wanton murder of Mr.
Norris; the newspapers fanned the flames of hate to-
ward anyone connected with, or supposed to be, how-
ever remotely, suspected of connection with the murder-
ers, legitimately or no, either before or after the erime,
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by cditorials, garish headlines, extravagantly embel-
lished articles. Large rewards were offered for the ar-
rest of the murderers. Popular excitement over-
whelmed the community.

The Executive and Grievance Committees of the Bar
Association, by an incendiary and vicious exparte peti-
tion, in most part incorrect, filed under the lashing of the
press, precipitately passed by the said committees, with-
out an invitation to Mr. Wolf to explain or a chance to
be heard, and never considered by the membership of
the Association, but given the widest publicity, supple-
mented by published interviews with ready talkers,
asked Mr. Wolf’s disbarment, and added to the over-
whelming wave of mistaken condemnation of him—un-
heard—and he could not talk or explain without violai-
ing a professional confidence.

Mr. Wolf could not have his case tried as this Hon-
orable Court said in Fountain vs. State of Maryland,
135 Md. 76, he was entitled to be tried: ‘“To have the
verdict represent solely the effect of the evidence and
not the influence of popular sentiment.’’

That the verdict was influenced by popular sentiment is
clear. The State’s Attorney publicly announced after the
verdict in big letters:

ASTATEMENT BY THE STATE’S ATTORNEY.

STATE’S ATTORNEY ROBERT F. LEACH,
JR., WHO BUILT UP AND PROSECUTED THE
CASE AGAINST HARRY B. WOLF, MADE THIS
STATEMENT YESTERDAY :

“IN SECURING THIS GREAT STEP TO.
WARD THE RESTORATION OF DECENT CON-

47

DITIONS IN THE ADMINISTRATION O LAW
AND ORDER, THE SERVICE OF THE AMERI-
CAN AND THE NEWS SHOULD NOT BE LOST
SIGHT OF

“VERY EARLY IN THE DEVELOPMEN'T
WHICH LED TO THE RESULT JUST AT-
TAINED THE MANAGEMENT OF THOSE TWO
PAPERS SENSED NOT ONLY THE IMPOR-
TANCE OF THE SITUATION TO THE ENTIRE
PEOPLE, BUT WIHAT IS MORE IMPORTANT,
THEY ALSO SENSED THE DIFFICULTY OF
BRINGING TO LIGHT ALL THE FACTS AND
CIRCUMSTANCES INVOLVED.

“WITHOUT PUBLICITY IT IS PROBABLY A
FACT THAT A CONVICTION IN THIS CASKE
NEVER WOULD HAVE BEEN SECURED.

“AS THE PEOPLE’S SERVANT I KNOW,
AND AT THIS TIME AM ANXIOUS TO STATE,
THAT THE VALUE OF THIS SERVICE THUS
RENDERED CANNOT WELI, BE OVERESTI-
MATED.”

The leading editorial in the largest Baltimore paper
described the verdict as a “‘ community verdict,”’ as fol-
lows:

THE WOLF VERDICT.

“Whatever technical legal opinion may be as to
the verdict of the court of five judges of the Supreme
Bench in the case of the member of the bar whom
they have solemnly adjudged to be guilty of con-
spiracy to obstruct justioe, there cannot be the slight-
est doubt that their decision represents the overwhel-

ming sentiment of tlge people of this city. 1tis essen-
tially a community judgment and not mevely a court
judgment. For once, at least, the popular mind and
the judicial mind are in accord.
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“There can be no doubt that public feeling has ex-
ereised a tremendous pressure in this and all the
other cases growing out of the Norris murder. Rare-
ly before in the history of this city have the people
of Baltimore been so shocked, so horrified, so aroused
as by the brutal erime of August 18. The intense
moral reaction to it was ascribable not merely to the
cold-blooded circumstances of the murder, to the high
charncter of the vietim, to the unusual ferocity of the
assailant, but to the far-reaching implications of
the tragedy as the case was developed from day to
day. As these developments camne, it seemed clear
that the blow of the murderous gang was, in effect,
aimed not only at Mr. Norris, but at the safety of the
whole community ; that it was the logical outgrowth
of underworld affiliations with the upper wortd and
with persons and agencies conmacted with the ad-
munistration of justice. The great majority of peo-
ple grew to feel that they faced a crisis of gravity
and danger; that a fundamental issue of civiliza-
tion was involved: that a conflict between govern-
ment by law and government by the eriminal and
crooked elements of society must be fought to a fin-
ish; that it presented not simply the tragedy of an
individual, but the majesty of law and the suprem-
acy of eivie decency and honesty, and the security of
the general public.

““The case thus became in truth and fact, and not
merely in name, that of the State of Marvland and
the eity of Baltimore against all who were brought to
bar for trial. The prosecution consequently repre-
sented every respectable and law-abiding household
in Marvland, and was followed with profound and
personal interest in every seetion of the State. The
detailed testimony was studied almost as carefully
hy readers of the newspapers as by the lawyers for
the State and the defense. Rarely if ever before in
Maryland has so large a jury of the people been un-
ofhcially impaneled in a case of this character.
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‘‘And the court verdict in every instanece, it is safe
to assert, has been the verdict of the outside public,
except, perhaps, that the latter was sterner and more
severe.”” * * * (Italics are ours.)

We respectfully submit that it is impossible to read
the whole record and reach the conclusion that at any
stage of the trial was Mr. Wolf given the benefit of any
matter in doubt; or that at the threshold of the case he
was not shorn of the presumption of innocenece, evidence
in his favor and a valuable right; or that all intend-
ments, even as to matters at most mere errvors of
judgment or of good taste, all matters equally consis-
tent with innocence as guilt, were resolved against him.

This Court said in the recent case decided Mareh 15,
1923, Canton Lumber Co. vs. Burton Lumber (o., that
no such speculation of guilt was proper.

The presumption of innoeence is not the last refuge of
a scoundrel, but the prime right and first sateguard of
innocence.

In Coffin vs. United States, 156 U. S. 452455, by White,
C. J., the Court said:

“The principle that there is a presumption of in-
nocence in favor of the accused is the undoubted
law, axiomatic and elementary, and its enforeement
lies at the foundation of the administration of our
eriminal law.

“It is stated as unquestioned in the text-books,

and has bheen referred to as a matter of course in
the decisions of this Courts and in the Courts of the

several States. * * *

‘“‘(reenleaf traces this presnmption te Deute-
ronomy, and quotes Mascardius De Probationibus to
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show that it was substantially embodied in the laws
of Sparta and Athens. ‘On Evidence,’ Part V, Sec-
tion 29 note. Whether Greenleaf is correct or not
in this view there can be no question that the Roman
law was pervaded with this maxim of criminal ad-
ministration, as the following extracts show:

“‘Let all accusers understand that they are not
to prefer charges unless they can be proven by
proper witnesses or by conclusive documents, or by
circumstantial evidence which amounts to indubit-
able proof and is clearer than day.”” Code L. IV,
D Byl 964

“¢The noble (divus) Trajan wrote to Julius
Frontonus that no man should be condemned on a
criminal charge in his absence, because it was better
to let the crime of a guilty person go unpunished
than to condemn the innocent.” Dig. L. XLVIIL,
tit. 19. 1. 5.

““‘In all eases of doubt, the most merciful con-
struetion of facts should be preferred.” Dig. L. L.
tit. XVIIL. 1. 56.

¢ ¢In eriminal cases the milder construction shall
always be preserved.” Dig. L. L. tit. XVIL, 1. 155,

-

¢ ¢In cases of doubt it i3 no less just than it is
safe to adopt the milder construction.” Dig. L. L.
tit. XVIL, 1, 192, s. 1.

““ Ammianus Marcellinus relates an anecdote of
the Emperor Julian which illustrates the enforce-
ment of this principle in the Roman law. Numerius,
the governor of Narbonensis, was on trial before the
Emperor, and, contrary to the usage in the eriminal
cases, the trial was public. Numerius contented
himself with denying his guilt, and there was not
sufficient proof against him. His adversary, Del-
phidius, ‘a passionate man,’ seeing that the failure
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of the accusation was inevitable, could not restrain
}umself and exclaimed, ‘Oh, illustrious Caesar! if it
1s sufficient to deny, what hereafter will become of
the guilty?’ to which Julian replied, ‘If it suffices to
accuse, what will become of the innocent?’ Rerum
Gestarum, lib. XVIIT, ¢. 1. The rule thus found in
the Roman law, was along with many other funda-
mental and humane maxims of that system pre-
served for mankind by the canon law. Decretum
Gratiani de Presumptionibus, L. TI., T. XXIII., c.
XIV., A. D.1198; Corpus Juris Canonici Hispani et
Indici. R. P. Murillo Velarde, Tom. 1, L. 11., n. 140
Exactly when this presumption was in precise words
stated to be a part of the common law is involved in
doubt. The writer in an able article in the North
American Review, January, 1851, tracing the gene-
sis of the prineiple, says that no express mention of
the presumption of innocence can be found in the
books of the common law earlier than the date of
MeNally’s Evidence (1802). Whether this state-
ment is correct is a matter of no moment, for there
can be no doubt that, if the principle had not found
formal expression in the common law writers at an
earlier date yet the practice which flowed from it
has existed in the common law from the earliest
Ui (Al

““How fully the presumption of innocence haid been
involved as a principle and applied at commaon law is
shown in MeKinley’s case (1817), 33 How. St. Tr.
275, 506, where Lord Gillies says: ‘It is impossible
to look at it (a treasonable oath which it was al-
leged that McKinley had taken) without sugpecting,
and thinking it probable, it imports an obligation to
commit a ecapital erime. That has been and is my
impression. But the presumption in favor of inno-
cence is not te¢ be regarded by mere suspicion. I am
sorry to see, in thms information, that the public
prosecutor treats this too lightly; he seems to think
that the law entertains no such presumption of inno
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ceuce. 1 cannot listen to this. I coneeive that this
presumption is to be found in every code of law
whieh has reason, and religion, and humanity for a
foundation. It is a maxim which ought to be in-
seribed in indelible characters in the heart of every
judge and juryman; and I was happy to hear from
Lord Bermand he is inclined to give full effect to it.
To everturn this, there must be legal evidence of
guilt, carrying home a decree of convietion short
only of absolute certainty.’ * * *

“The fact that the presumption of innocence is
recognized as a presumption of law and is character-
ized by the civilians as a presumptio juris, demon-
strates that it is evidence in favor of the accused.
For in all systems of law legal presumptions are
treated as evidence giving rise to resulting proof to
the full extent of their legal efficacy.”” * * *

The great public excitement affected the Court and
prejudiced Mr. Wolf, a wrong; this Court, Judge Urner
speaking for the Court, in 135 Md., p. 86, said:

*‘ But the identitication and puishment of the erimi-
nal mast be left to the careful and regular processes
of the law, however deep and just may be the public
sense of horror at the crime, the law does not toler-
ate any interference with the right of the humblest
individual to be accorded equal and exact justice,
and, when charged with crime, to have the question
of his guilt or innocence fairly and impartially deter-
mined. It is of the highest concern to the people
and courts alike that this vital and sacred right shal!
be preserved inviolate.”’

The Supreme Court of the United States in a case de-
cided February 19th, 1923 (No. 199, October Term, 1922,
Advanced Sheets), entitled ‘““Frank Moore vs. E. H.
Dempsey,”’ in passing upon an appeal from the United
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States District Court, Eastern Distriet of Arkansas, in
dismissing a writ of habeas corpus, on demurrer, reversed
the lower Court, and decided that Moore and others tried
in the State Court of Arkansas for murder, on the facts
alleged in the petition for the writ, had been dewied due
process of law, becanse by reason of public feeling and
excitement and the pressure of the mob that the proceecd-
ings i the State Court, although a trial in form, were
only a form.

The Court let Keller echo answers to Mr. Leach’s lead-
ing questions—a wrong. :

Nurnberger vs. United States, Cireunit Court of Ap-
peals, 8t8h Circuit, October 28th, 1907, 156 Fed., page 721,
reads:

‘“While the permitting of leading questions is a
matter resting in the sound diseretion of the trial
Court, allowing a Distriet Attorney in a eriminal ¢éase
to ask questions of his own witnesses, who are not
unwilling or unfriemdly, which are leading and in a
form to suggest the answer desired and call for a
mere conclusion of the witness, is an sbuse of dis-
cretion, and is prejudicial error.”’

At page 734, the Court (Judge Philips) said:

‘It must, however, he coneeded that the abuse of
such discretion would have no corrective if it were
rigidly maintained that it is not reviewable."”

At page 735, the Court said:

“Tt is difficult to escape the impression that the
Court was either too indulgent to the Government or
too discriminating against the idefendant.”’
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Lord Bacon said:

“Tt is a good point of cunning for a man to shape
the answer he would have in his own words, for it
makes the other party stick the less.”’

¢“ A leading question propounded to a witness may
by creating an inference in his mind cause him to tes-
tify in accordance with the suggestion conveyed by
the question.” U. S. vs. Lee Huen, 118 Fed. 442, at
446.

““His answer may be rather an echo of the ques-
tion than a genuine recollection ot events and in some
cases may be inadequate to support a verdiet or de-
cree.’”” Moore on facts, page 913, Section 814.

Conspiraey consists ot a meeting of the minds of the
conspirators, an instantaneous mental process, and under
the harsh principles of the common law (abolished by
Statute in Federal jurisdictions) is completed and pun-
ishable the instant the conspirators agree, whether they
do anything further or not.

The law is that statements made by individual con-
spirators even as to measures taken in execution
of furtherance of any sunech common purpose are not
deemed to be relevant as such against any conspirators
except those by whom or in whose presence such state-
ments are made. (Stephens Digest, Law of Evidence Md.
Ed. 1904, Pg. 30, State vs. Larkins, 49 N, H. 39; Com-
missioners vs. Ingraham, 7 Gray, Mass. 46; Moore vs.
Shields, 121 Ind. 267, Samples vs. State, 121 I11. 547.

Notwithstanding the above rule of evidence, the learned
Court below let in many pages of testimony, being the
repetition, pure narrative, oi statements made by Keller,
to Hurley, Leverton, and other officials, all out of Mr.
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Wolf’s presence, in no way in furtherance of any joint
design.

TuE ImrossiBLE Was Demaxpen or Mr. WoLF, AND THE
ImprroBaBLE CHARGED To Him,

Mr. Wolf was held to an artificial super-standard of
logical, clarified thought, impeccable judgment, the gift
of prophecy, to be used, with faultless courage and taet
in the face of embarrassment, grave emergeney without
precedent, sndden danger, all at the moment, upon peril
of conviction in this case of a black erime.

For instance: the ecircumstance that Mr. Wolf, lack-
ing omnisecience, had a mistaken theory at first that the
murder was committed by out-of-town men (the police
had many mistaken theories), that he went to the police

station to see some men when suspected merely—bnt
correctly—it later developed, and some suspected un-
justly and released, as lawyers are want to do; that he
promised General Gaither and the papers to help run
down the culprits; that he did what he promised, and was
instrumental in finding the owner of the death ear, result-
ing in the arrest and confession of Allers, the finding
of the box and auto tag, ete.; that he was per-
sonally friendly with some police; that he was per-
sonally at enmity with others; that he didn’t talk,
and that he talked too much; that he arranged with
Police Captain Leverton, after Socolow and Keller left,
to be within call next morning should c¢ither or both zo
to Mr. Wolf’s office next day (when if they went it could
only be or at least would likely be for the purpose of
surrendeting) ; that he once represented Soeolow on a
trivial case without charge, to Lelp an unknown boy,—
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a humanitarian aet; that he did not violate a thoroughly
well recognized professional obligation to respect Soco-
low’s confidence in having sought Mr. Wolf’s profession-
al aid, notwithstanding it was refused; that he vielded to
a human impulse and was frightened for the safety of
his family with the two young thugs in his home pre-
sumably armed, dirty, desperate, and sought everywhere
by the police and citizens seeking pecuniary reward ; that
he did not then and there do all the wise, brave and
thoughtful things mature hindsight suggested to Court
and public at the trial in a safe Court room specially
guarded three months later—all these things, and all else
this impetuous, impulsive, unsystematic vietim did or
sald was construed at the trial as false and insincere; as
pointing unerringly to guilt, and admitted in evidence.

The Court (R. 88, 94, &ec.), in abuse of its discretion,
as we have said, let the State’s Attorney lead Keller on
direct examination throughout. There was no need to
lead him, he was cunning, willing and had rehearsed his
written statement many times,

Keller was permitted to testify under circumstances
that prevented counsel from hearing (R. 98). The com-
ment of the Chief Judge (R. 100), ¢“It is a perfeetly
leading question, but he’’ (the State’s Attorney) ‘“has a
right to ask a leading question when he can’t get it out
on general questions. You gentlemen’’ (to counsel for
Mr. Wolf) ‘‘know that, too”’; likewise the melancholy
and belated privilege allowed by the Chief Judge’s rul-
ing (having let in much inadmissible testimony given by
Keller, and after Keller bad told his story twice, over
objection (R. 100), ¢ You gentlemen ecan start to object
now, if you want to’’; the spontaneous and fixed objection

57

of the Chief Justice to exposing fully Keller’s utter moral
worthlessness (R. 162), and his refusal to let in the offi-
cial record of Mueller, the probation officer, to diseredit
Keller (R. 308), the precise ground for reversing the
Lanasa case, 109 Md.

The inference obvious from the questions asked by one
of the learned Judges (R. 341), that with Socolow in his
dining-room and Detective Hammersla on his poreh, it was
Mr. Wolf’s duty (ignoring Mr. Wolf’s obligation as law-
ver to would-be client he had not as then talked to but
briefly) to betray Socolow to the detective, and by failure
to do so Mr. Wolf was an aceessory after the fact, hence
guilty of a conspiracy that certainly when Hammersla
was present was not in existence; the ruling of the
Chuief Judge that, ‘““Whatever Mr. Wolf does is in fur-
therance of the conspiracy. Yes, that is admissible’”
(R. 263); like many other incidents, too numerous to
mention, disclosed by the record, demonstrate that the
learned trial Court, must mecessariy, even if uncon-
sciously, have been unable to give the accused a cool and
wmpartial trial; and was effected by public clamor and
the prejudices stimulated by the superlative excitement
of the times.

The curiously insufficient and inconsistent judgment
imposed, had Mr. Wolf been guilty, indicates an unset-
tled, wavering state of mind on the part of the trial
Court, and a fear of carrving an injustice to extremes—
or else a compromise of views between Judges desiring
to conviet and Judges desiring to aequit. Certainly no
lawyer conspiring with any man guilty of marder in the
first degree to befuddle the police, no matter if the plan
to be followed was silly and too awkward to deceive the
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most gullible, is entitled to much merey, immediately or
incidentally.

The learned Court apparently overlooked the fact that
an insignificant injustice could not be done, that no
Judgment on a verdict of guilty in such a case as this
can be anything less than a calamity to a lawyer, and that
the necessary incident, of a ruin so complete, permanent
and terrible that no mere physical penalty can compare in
severity thereto, is a burden, the Court should not yield
to excitement, public clamor, or aught else but proof of
guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, to impose.

The prejudices of the day will soon be forgotten. The
passions which have excited or favored this prosecution
will subside, but the consequences of the verdict will out-
live both.

So mueh for the conditions generally pertaining to the
trial,

EXAMINATION OF EXCEPTIONS SEVERALLY.
A List or Exceprions Nor Discussep ox Brirr.

\t the beginning of the trial the traverser reserved so
many exceptions that the making of the objections and the
reservation of the questions became an obvious disad-
vantage to the presentation of the State’s $ testimony.
After the Court had made clear its attitude on the ad-
missibility of evidence it was suggested by counsel for the
defense that an exception be given to the tr averser on
each question and answer, without the neocessity of a for-
mal objection and (‘\(‘O'F)tl()ll being made and taken in
every instance. The Court early adopted this proposal,

o9

so that the traverser had at the close of the proof an
exception on every material adverse ruling. We make
this statement because of the fact that in framing the
bills of exception many exceptions taken were not incor-
porated, because the same questions were covered by the
various bills of exception presented to the lower Court
for its signature, and, conqequentl), it any testimony
objected to is later on found in the record without an
exception, it is for the reason given, and not because of
a waiver of the point taken. It is needless to add that this
action was taken to avoid the multiplication of exceptions
to an incredible number. For further simplification, and
because we are convinced that the material points on
the evidence are covered by the remaining exceptions,
we shall not discuss exceptions: 2nd (R. 27); 10th (R.
34) ; 15th (R.40) ; 25th (R. 49) ; 26th (R.49); 31st (R. 56) ;
34th (R. 61); 40th (R. 66); 43rd (R. 68); 46th (R. 72);
57th (R.72 to 74); 48th (R.75); 56th (R.94) ; 57th (R.95);
o8th (R. 99); 61st (R. 112); 62nd (R. 116) ; 63rd (R. 118) ;
67th (R.191) ; 68th (R. 194) ; 69th (R. 195) ; 70th (R. 196) ;
71st (R. 215) ; 79th (R. 228) ; 87th (R. 39) 88th (R. 240);
94th (R. 249); 191st (R. 260); 104th (R. 264); 109th (R.
269); 111th (R. 291); 112th (R. 294); 113th (R. 295);
114th (R. 297); 115th (R. 307) ; 116th (R. 308); 117th (R.
308) ; 118th (R. 436) ; 119th (R. 437); 120th (R. 437).

CLASSIFICATION AND STATEMENT 0F KxerpTioss.

The evidence on this record naturally and logically faulls
into two periods: the first period, covering all that oe-
curred before the time the conspiracy is alleged to have
been formed at Wolf’s home on the night of Wednesday,
August 23rd ; and the second period, embracing what hap-
pened on the visit of Keller and Socolow to the traverser's
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home until the eonfession of Keller on Monday morning,
August 28th.

In these two periods the testimony is mainly directed
to the presentation of the conduet of Keller and the
traverser. It has been found convenient to classify the
selected exceptions with reference to the periods and the
witnesses, with the result that the exceptions to be dis-
cussed are to be found in two groups, with sabdivisions.

In Group One will be found all the discussed exceptions
hased upon testimony which related to acts and deelara-
tions before the night of August 23rd, when the conspiracy
is asserted to have originated at the home of the trav-
erser.

Group Two will contain all the discussed exceptions to
testimony which dealt with the events which took place at
and after the meeting at the traverser’s house until the
confession of Keller on Monday morning, August 28th.

Tur Privcirnes oF Law axp KviDENCE MAINTAINED AND
Aprprrien oX Tius Brigr.

First: If sufficient proof of conspiracy be given to
establish the fact prima facie in the opinion of the trial
(fourt, the acts and declarations of each conspirator, in
the furtherance of the common object, and during the
continuance of the ecombination, are admissible in evi-
denee ngainst all, whether present or not.

Testimony is aceordingly not admissible :

1. If the acts and declarations of the eo-eonspirator
were before the eonspiraey was formed; or
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2. If the aets and declarations of the co-conspirator
were after the conspiracy was brought to an end by con-

summation, abandonment or failure; or

3. Unless the acts aud declarations of the co-con-
spirator were in the course of, and in the furtherance of
the common design.

Second: Where there has been an abuse of the dis-
cretion of the trial Court in permitting leading questions
to the prejudice of the appellant, a reversible error is
presented by an exception on that ground.

Nurnberger vs. United States, 156 Fed. Rep.
721.

Third: No act or deeclaration is relevant that is not
shown to have a direct connection between the unlawful
combination and the prosecution of its design.

The word ‘“relevant’’ means that any two faets to which
it is applied are so related to each other that according to
the common eourge of events one either taken by itself or
in connection with other faets prove or render probable
the past, present or future existence or non-existence of
the other.” Stephen’s Digest of the Law of Evidence
(Md. Ed., 1904), p. 4. It follows that it is not permitted
for testimony to be offered unless the fact proffered is
first shown to be a part of the same transaction, or to be
connected with it by the bond of probable cause or effect.
Reynolds on Evidence (3rd Ed.), Secs. 12, 13.

Fourth: The fact that the trial below was before the
Court does not deprive the traverser of his right to have
the testimony presented according to the rules of evi-
dence.
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MecAllister vs. State, 140 Md. 647, 652.
MeClelland vs. State, 138 M. 533, 539.

Fifth: A lawyer is bound to keep secret all informa-
tion obtained from a party secking to employ him, al-
though he may neither be paid a fee nor accept the re-
tainer.

ApMissIBILITY 0r THE ACTS AND DECLARATIONS 0OF A
Co-Coxspirator AGaINsT ANoTHER CONSPIRATOR.

It is unquestionably true that if the connection of the
individuals in the unlawful enterprise be shown, every
act and declaration of each member of the confederacy in
pursuance of the original concerted plan, and with ref-
erence to, and in furtherance of, the common object, is in
contemplation of law, the act and declaration of them all;
and is admissible as evidence against each conspirator,
provided it took place after the conspiracy began, and
before its end by abandonment, failure ox accomplish-
ment.

Bloomer vs. State, 48 Md. 521, 531 ;

Hays vs. State, 40 Md. 633, 648, 649, 650 ;

Lawrence vs. State, 103 Md. 17, 21235

Wharton on Crim. Ev. (10th Ed.), Sec. 698,
pp. 1430, 1431.

A counspiraey is essentially a combination of persons,
and their aets and declarations are only admissible
against one another on the theory that they are the acts
and declarations of those united in one common design.
An act or declaration cannot be done or made in the
course and for the furtherance of the common design if
it be either not begun or at an end, for then the union is
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either not formed or dissolved, and its members are no
longer in combination, and so speak and act severally and
independently. Whatever happened before the begin-
ning or termination of the combination is a pasct facl,
and the very existence of the eombination is a past fact.
Furthermore, before the conspiracy was formed and after
the end of the conspiracy, whatever deeclaration, admis-
sion or confession was made, and whatever act was done,
by any of the company of eonspirators, eannot be refer-
able to the prosecution and conduet of a non-existent
common design. Consequently, we have this aceepted
rule of evidence, that before the econspiracy is begun or is
at an end, whether by accomplishment, abandonment or
failure, no one of the conspirators is permitted by any
prior or subsequent aet or declaration of his own to
affect the other conspirators. His prior or subsequent
conduct becomes irrelevant and immaterial, execept as
against himself. His confession, even if in the form of a
plea of guilty, or the most solemn admission made by him,
after the conspiracy is at an end, is not evidence against
his fellow-conspirators, but only against himself.

Wharton on Criminal Kvidence (10th Fd.):
Sec. 699, pp. 1435, 1436;

2 Bishop Criminal Procedure, See. 229;

Lawrence vs, The State, 103 Md. 17, 22, 25, 26
(statement made the very day the con-
spiracy was consummated, but after its
consumration) ;

1 (reenleaf on Evidence, See. 111; Vol. 3,
Sec. 94;

Sparf and Hangen vs. U. 8, 156 U. 8. 51, 56,
57-59; 39 L. Ed. 343;

Brown vs. United States, 150 U. S, 93, 98, 09,
37 L. Ed. 1010;
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Weborg vs. United States, 183 U. S. 632, 657-
658 ;

Logan vs. U. S, 144 U. 8. 263, 275, 308, 309;
36 L. Kd. 429.

State vs. Larkins, 49 N. H. 39.

Commissioners vs. Ingraham, 7 Gray (Mass.)
46.

Moore vs. Shields, 121 Ind. 267.

Samples vs. State, 121 Ill. 547.

As stated by (reenleaf in his classical work on evi-
dence:

““The principle on which the acts and declarations
of other conspirators, and acts done at different
times, are admitted in evidence against the persons
prosecuted, is, that by the act of conspiring together,
the conspirators have jointly assumed to themselves,
as a body, the attribute of individuality, so far as re-
gards the prosecution of the common design; thus
rendering whatever is done or said by any one, in
furtherance of that design, a part of the res gestae
and therefore the act of all. It is the same prinei-
ple of identity with each other, that governs in regard
to the acts and admissions of agents, when offered in
evidence against their principals, and partners as
against partnership, which has already been consid-
ered. And here, also, as in those cases, the evidence
of what was said and done by the other conspirators
must be limited to their acts and declarations made
and done while the conspiracy was pending, and in
furtherance of the design; what was said or done by
them before or afterwards not being within the prin-
ciple of admissibility.”’ Sec. 94, Vol. 3.

The cases and authorities all speak with one tongue in
declaring the rule to he as stated by Greenleaf. Tt must
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be accepted as beyond controversy that all acts and dec-
larations of any party to the conspiracy before the con-
spiracy existed are not admissible against any of those
who afterwards formed with him the cougpiracy, or sub-
sequently became one of its members. 8o much is plain
as pikestaff.

There is, however, some divergence of opinion with re-
spect to whether or not, after a conspiracy has actually
been entered into by two or more, the acts and declara-
tions of these co-conspirators are admissible in evidenee
against one who later joins the unlawful combination.
The rule as stated by (Ireenleaf is that:

‘‘The connection of the individuals in the unlawful
enterprise being thus shown, every act and deelara-
tion of each member of the confederacy, in pursu-

-ance of the original concerted plan, and with ref-
erence to the common object is, in contemplation of
law, the act and declaration of them all; and is there-
fore original evidence against each of them. It makes
no difference at what time any one entered into the
conspiracy. Kvery one who does enter into a com-
mon purpose or design is generally deemed, in law,
a party to every act, which had before heen done by
the others, and a party to every act. which may after-
wards be done by any of the others, in furtherance
of such common design.”’

Greenleaf on Kvidence, Sec. 111, Vol. 1; See.
93, Vol. 3.

1 R. C. 1, title ““Admissions and Deelara-
tions,”’ Sec. 60, pp. 509, 510.

In the absence of any knowledge of the prior decla-
rations and acts of the original conspirators, it would
seem that the rule announced in this section is too broadly
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and unqualifiedly stated by Mr. Greenleaf. It certainly
is a departure from the analogy of the relation of prin-
cipal and agent, and of partners, upon which the rule
rests, as neither the act or declaration of any agent, nor
those of & partner, anterior to the formatien of the rela-
tion of principal and agent or that of partners, are ad-
missible as evidence to bind either the principal or the
partner.

Owings vs. Low, 5 G. & J., 134, 143-145.
Ellicott vs. Nichols, 7 Gill 85.

In the sixteenth edition of Greeleat by Wigmore, Sec-
tion 111 becomes Sections 184a, and the learned editor
puts the doctrine as we argue it has been modified by the
weight of authority:

“‘This general principle is not disputed and the con-
troversies usually arise merely upon its application
to the circumstances of each case. There are two
chief things to be considered in thus applying it to the
facts (1) whether a common pnurpose and co-opera-
tion between the persons has been sufficiently shown
on the circumstances, and (2) whether the acts and
admissions In question were made during the con-
tinuance of that purpose and co-operation. -
That the acts offered may have been done, as above
said, see illustrations in R. vs. Frost, 4 State Tr. N. S.
85, 229, 244 ; R. vs. Cuffy, 7 State Tr. 467, 476.”°

Until the joint unlawful act binds the conspirators in
crime, they are not conjoined, but are separate individu-
alg, responsible severally and not jointly, for their acts
and declarations. No man can be criminally affected by
the aets or declarations of a stranger. Two or more per-
sons must be actually bronght together in a common un-
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!awful purpose before a conspiracy may exist. Of eourse, it
1s not essential that it be established by direct proof that
the minds of the conspirators met in agreement in the un-
lawful enterprise, because, like any other faet, this may
be shown by circumstantial evidence. But, whether th‘e
p.roof be direet or circumstantial, it must establish a com-
bination between two or more persons, by some concerted
action to accomplish some unlawful or eriminal purpose,
or to accomplish some purpose not in itself unlawful by
criminal or unlawful means. .

6 Am. & Eng. Ency. of Law (2nd ed.) 932, 933
and notes 840;

Garland vs. State, 112 Md.,, 83, 86, 87 ;

5 R.C. L., See. 1, p. 1061;

Com. vs. Hunt, 4 Mete. (Mass.) 111;

Lanasa vs. State, 109 Md., 602 607.

It follows that this privity and community of design
cannot exist before the conspiraey is formed, and there-
fore, any act or declaration of a conspirator, in the ab-
sence of the co-conspirator, before the conspiracy exists,
1s not admissible in evidence against nis eo-conspirator,

It would appear that the rule supported by reason and
authority is thus stated in the case of People vs. Kief,
126 N. Y., 661, 27 N. E. 556:

““Where the guilt of one of several defendants,
jointly indicted for a felony, is songht to be estah-
lished by evidence showing, or tending to show a eon-
spiracy between him and the others for the commis-
sion of the erime, evidence as to nets or statements of
the others must be confined to such statements as were
made, or acts done, at times when the proofs in the
case permit of a finding that a conspiracy existed, and
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where the acts or statements were in furtherance
of the common design. The acts or statements of one
of the defendants prior to the formation of the con-
spiracy or subsequent to its termination by the ac-
complishment of the common purpose, or by aban-
donment are inadmissible as evidence against the
others.’’ (Italies ours.)
State vs. Walker, 124 Towa 414; 100 N. W,
354;
State vs. Gilmore (Iowa), 132 N. W. 53; 35 L.
R. A. (N. S.) 1084;
People vs. Stanley, 47 Cal. 113;
People vs. Davis, 56 N. Y. 95;
Patton vs. State, 6 Ohio St. 468, 470;
Fouts vs. State, 7 Ohio St. 464, 474, 475;
State vs. Grant, 86 Iowa 216, 227;
People vs. Irwin, 77 Cal. 495, 504;
Mere suspicion not enough.
State vs. Walker, 124 Towa 414; 100 N. W. 354,
39¢ ;
@ill vs. State, 56 Tex. Crim. App. 202, 205,
17 Auno. Cases 1164;
State vs. Moeller, 20 N. D. 114; 126 N. W. 568
People vs. Kief, 126 N. Y. 661; 27 N. E. 556 ;
Cuyler vs. McCartney, 40 N. Y. 221.

Some of the reasons for the view are ably set forth in
State vs. (Gilmore, 132 N. W. 53, as reported in 35 L. R.
A. (N. S.) 1084, at p. 1088:

“No man’s connection with a conspiracy can be
legally established by what others did in his absence
and without his knowledge and concurrence.’”’
United States vs. Babeock, 3 Dill. 581, Fed. Cas. No.
14,487. “*To admit sueh declarations—such hear-
say testimony—in proof of the conspiracy itself
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would in civil matters ‘put every man at the merey
of rogues’, * * * and in charges of criminal con-
spiracy render the innocent the helpless vietims of
villainous schemes, supported and proved by the
j rearranged and manufactured evidence of the pro-
moters thereof.’’

The Maryland rule is in accordance with the weight
of reason and authority, as was clearly laid down in the
conspiracy case of Bloomer vs. State, 48 Md. 521, at p.
530, the Court holding evidence of acts subsequent to the
formation of the conspiracy admissible: and saying:

‘“‘Before any act can be evidence against a man,
it must be shown to be an act done by himself, or
another, acting by his authority, or in pursuanee of
a common design.”’

In Lawrence vs. State, 103 Md. 17, this language was
quoted with approval, and the rule so announced was
applied (p. 21). In this case, John B. Lawrence, Wil
liam Hooper and Virginia Hamilton were jointly in
dicted for a conspiracy to obtain money and property
from John Rose by false pretenses. In the alleged con-
spiracy, but not indicted, was a man named Bell, who
was shown to be acting in combination with Hooper, and
statements of Bell were offered in evidence as oceurring
at a time when Lawrence had not been connected with
the conspiracy, but as being made in the presence of
Hooper. The Court applied the rule by admitting the
proof offered as against Hooper, but not as against Law-
rence and Hamilton, unless followed up by proof of their
connection with the conspiracy (p. 25). The most sig
nificant ruling, however, was under the fifth exeeption,
where the Court ruled that a eonversation between the
prosecuting Rose and Bell, before the first interview of
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Rose, Lawrence and Bell, was not admissible against
Lawrence or the other traversers (p. 25).

The Court of Appeals in applying this rule of evi-
dence excluded all of the testimony offered under the
fifth exception, and held what was offered under the first
and fourth exceptions to be admissible against the one
conspirator, who was present at the time the declarations
were made by Bell, the co-conspirator who was not in-
dicted (p. 25):

‘It may be said in addition to the above that the
acts and declarations of a co-conspirator to be re-
ceived as evidence against others confederating with
him must oceur during the life of the combination,
that is after the formation and before the consum-
mation or abandonment of the object of the con-
spiracy.’’

8 Cye. 680, 681, p. 22.

In Roscoe on Criminal Evidence, an authority of the
highest order, we find:

““The rule, says Mr. Starkie, that one man is not
to be affected by the acts and declarations of a
stranger rests on the principles of the purest Jus-
tice; and although the courts, in cases of conspiracy,
have, out of econvenience, and on account of the diffi-
culty in otherwise proving the guilt of the parties,
admitted the aets and declarations to be given in
evidence, in order to establish the fact of a con-
spiraey, it is to be remembered that this is an in-
version of the usual order, for the sake of con-
venience, and that such evidence is, in the result,
material so far only as the assent of the accused to
what has been done by others is proved.”’

2 Stark. Ev., 235, 2nd ed.
Roscoe’s Criminal Bvidence (8th ed), Vol. 1,
4307 (p. 572).
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An apology may be due, because this statement of the
rule was unnecessary, in view of the fact that each of
the nine counts of the indictment allege that the con-
spiracy was formed on August 23, and the proof is that,
if any conspiracy was formed, it was at the home of the
traverser on the night of that day. Under every author-
ity, therefore, any act or declaration of the three con-
spirators before the night of August 23 was prior to
the formation of the conspiracy and so inadmissible.

3 Greenleaf on Kvidence, Sec. 94.

However, in every instance, as was said in Baker vs.
State, 80 Wis. 416, ‘‘it is indispensable that there be
proof sufficient to establish prima facie the fact that a
conspiracy existed at the time of the act or declaration
sought to be introduced’’ (pp. 420, 421).

Sands vs. Commonwealth (Va.), 21 Grattan
871, 895, 896.

State vs. Crab, 121 Mo. 554, 563.

Wright on Criminal Censpiracies (1887), p
56.

Tre Marvraxp Cases Ark 1IN Accosn WiTh THE
PrevaiLise Rune,

In Hays vs. State, 40 Md. 633, the testimony showed
that a conspiracy had been formed, and that subseguent
to the formation of the conspiracy one of the conspir-
ators wrote a létter to the prosecuting witness in further-
ance of the eriminal undertaking, and before itz eon-
clusion or abandomment (pp. 637, 648, 649). The lettor
arranged for the prosecutrix to go with one of the con-
spirators to the home of the co-conspirator where the
abortion was alleged to have been performed in aeeord-
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ance with the preceding understanding of the two con-
spirators.

Likewise, in Bloomer vs. State, 48 Md. 521, certain
testimony, which was held admissible, related to the
conduct of the conspirators in furtherance of their erim-
inal purpose after the combination between them (pp.
330-535).

So in Lawrence vs. State, 103 Md. 17, all the testimony
held relevant was after the unlawful combination was
formed, and was in furtherance of its object and before
its consummation (5th, 2nd and 3rd Ezxceptions, pp. 25,
26).

Again, in Blum vs. The State, 94 Md. 375, evidence was
held admissible where the conspirators, in order to carry
out their criminal scheme and pursuant thereto, dis-
tributed goods, bought on credit, among shops in differ-
ent parts of the city where they were disposed of at a
sacrifice (pp. 386, 387).

Unlike the four preceding cases, those of Lianasa vs.
State, 109 Md. 604, 613-616; of Garland vs. State, 112
Md. 83, 91; of Simond vs. State, 127 Md. 29, 36-38, are
instances where co-conspirators (Lupo and Tomburo;
and Ellicott and Noel) testified against their former as-
sociates, but narrated their aects and declarations, and
those of the accused in furtherance of the business of
their respective conspiracies during its continuance.

In these three cases, the narratives of the prosecuting
wilnesses were assailed as untrue, but in only one of
these was it attempted to support the credibility of the
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co-conspirator by his own statements subsequent to the
commission of the erime. The lower Court permitted it
to be done in the Lanasa case, but the Court of Appeals
held that, independently of Section 3 of Article 35 of
Bagby’s Code, this testimony was, under the eircum-
stances, inadmissible. The statement had been obtained
thirty-nine days after the commission of the erime. In
disposing of this question the Court said:

““If it be conceded that the statement is not ex-
cluded by Section 3, Article 35, of the Code of 1904,
we are of opinion that such a statement hy one
Jointly indicted with the appellant for the identical
crime for which he was being tried, made so long
after the commission of the offense and under the
circumstances disclosed by the record, does not fall
within the exception to the general rule ‘which ex-
cludes mere hearsay evidence, because ex parte and
without the sanetion of an oath.” The rule which
admits such testimony in corroboration of the evi-
dence of an impeached witness is one whieh is ‘not
very generally recognized in the Courts of England,
or of other States in this Country, and it should not
be extended, but applied strictly. Maitland wvs.
Banks, 40 Md. 559.” 1In all the cases in this Court in
which such evidence has been admitted it appears
that the corroborating statement was made imme-
diately, or soon after the transaetion.’’

Lianasa vs. State, 109 Md. 620.
Tue Exceprions ro WHich THE RvLes axp PrixcreLes
MAINTAINED BY THE APPELLANT ARE APPLIED.
(roup OxE.

Exceptions on the testimony covering the period he-
fore the night of August 23rd, the time of the alloged
conspiracy, sub-divided into:
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A. The acts and declarations of police officers and
newspaper men; and

B. The aets and declarations of Keller.

(. The acts and declarations of the appellant.

Grour Oxg, Sus-Division A.

The Acts and Declarations of Police Officials and News-
paper Men Before the Alleged Conspiracy.

11th- 13th, 14th, 16th, 17th, 18th, 110th, 82nd, 83rd and
84th Exceptions.

Under the 11th, 13th, 14th, 16th, 17th and 18th bills
of exceptions the State was permitted to prove that on
August 18th the police were seeking Hart, Socolow,
Smith and Lewis for the murder of Norris and that on
the same day Smith and Lewis were arrested (11th, R.,
27, 38); that on August 22nd Allers surrendered in the
morning, and was subjected to an examination by the
State’s Attorney in the morning of that day, and in the
early morning of Wednesday, August 23rd, Allers con-
fessed (13th, 14th, 16th, 17th, R. 39-42); that the auto-
mobile in which the murderers rode was diseovered and
seizedd by the police before Allers confessed (18th, R.

43).

This was the narrative of police activities, in which
the appellant did not participate, and it had no evi-
dential significance againgt the traverser, but served its
part in the ereation of an atmosphere of suspicion and
distrust, so that, in the eonfusion caused by the very
irrelevaney of the proof, the appellant would be asso-

7%

ciated in the mind of the triers with the murderers in
order that guilt might be imputed to his subsequent
behavior.

In its process of piling innuendo upon innuendo, the
State showed under the 110th exception by Sergeant
Martin J. Mannion that the appellant represented Soco-
low in his professional capacity as lawver in April,
1921, when Socolow was arrested on “‘ suspicion of steal
ing some cigarettes from the F. A. Davis Company”’’;
and that the appellant actually went to detective head-
quarters to see his client. This remote and isolated fact
was offered ‘‘just to show association.” The argument
runs like this: a lawyer has a client in April, 1921, and
the relations end with that employment ergo, when the
party went to see the same lawyer professionally after
an interval of one year and four months, the first, single
and isolated employment is ipso facto proof tending to
establish a conspiracy between them on the second visit
by virtue of the theory of “‘association” (R., 268, 270).

By its rulings on the 82nd. 83rd and 84th exceptions,
the lower Court admitted in evidence, while Harry S.
Sherwood, a reporter for The Evening Sun, was testify-
ing, copies of The Kvening Sun of Wednesday, Aungust
23rd, ‘‘Home Edition” and ‘“‘Financial Edition,” con-
taining the confession of Allers, written by the witness
(R., 231, 234).

The facts of the confession were not known to Sher
wood. He was not present when Allers made it, and he
was not even the author of the entire article, which wag
rewritten in The Sun office by a rewrite editor,—testify
ing: “If you will let me correct vou, Mr. Poe, I did not
write that entire story that day. I just wrote part of if
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and others wrote the rest”” (R. 235). So the confession
was hearsay once removed when Sherwood heard it. It
was hearsay twice removed in the mouth of Sherwood ;
and it was none the less hearsay when written and pub-
lished in his newspaper, whose type and columns added
not an iota to its truth. There is no offer to connect the
confession as published in The Evening Sun with the
appellant. The proffer was within the application of
the maxim ** Res inter alias acta alteri nocere non debet.”

froup OxE, Sus-Divisiox B.

The Acts and Declarations of Keller, Hart and Socolow
Before the Conspiracy and Out of the
Presence of the Appellant.

53rd, 54th and 55th Exeeptions.

Under the ruling on the 53rd, 54th and 55th exceptions,
Keller was permitted to testify to his companionship
with Soeolow and Hart from the night of Friday, Angust
18th, when Norris was murdered, until he and Socolow
went to the appellant’s home on Wednesday, August 23;
to his intimate association with these criminals; their
going to the garage, where Hart kept his car, getting the
license tag of the automobile driven by the murderers,
and the tin eash box in which Norris carried the money;
taking these evidences of the erime under cover of night
o a pond on Highland Avenue, where Hart and Socolow
threw the tax and box into the pond for their conceal-
ment on Saturday night, August 19th; to his acting as
messenger for Hart and Socolow, obtaining food and
information for their sustenance and use (R. 85-93).

Wolfe was not present and had no conneetion whatso-
over with a single word or act testified to by Keller.

(k4

Everything was done and said in his absence and before
the alleged combination was conceived. The testimony
was offered generally, and no attempt was made by the
State to confine its effect to Socolow, who was with Kel
ler at the planning of the things narrated.

In Lawrence vs. State, 103 Md. 26, it is said:

‘““The suggestion is that it was competent testi-
mony as agamst the party with whom the eonversa
tion was held, and it might be as going to show the
connection of such party with a conspiraey other
wise established against the appellant. It was ad
mitted, however, without econdition or limitation,
against the appellant’s objection and so could be
used in the case against him under both counts of
the indictinent; whereas, as against him, when ob-
jected to, it was not competent evidence under either
count. It is not within the rule of praectice that
when an offer of evidence is objected to generally
the evidence will be admitted if competent for any
purpose. As to the appellant it was competent for
no purpose, and so he was i the same position as if
the indictment had been against him alone.”’

Grour Oxng, Sus-Divisiox C.

The Acts and Declarations of the Appellant Before the
Alleged Conspiracy.

Exceptions 1st, 3rd, 4th, 5th, 6th, 7th, 8th, 12th, 19th,
20th, 21st, 32nd, 33rd, 35th, 36th, 37th, 38th,
39th, 85tk and Ro6th.

Under the 1st, 3vd, 4th, 5th, 6th, 7th and Sth excep-
tions the State was permitted to show by General
Gaither, Police (Commissioner of Baltimore City, the
horror of the appellant at the murder of Norris; his
determination not to represent any one connected with
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the erime; his offer, on the afternoon of the murder, to
assist the public authorities in the arrest and conviction
of the murderers; the acceptance of this offer, and the
advice and suggestions he made from his first visit until
the visit of Socolow and Keller at his house. Everything
narrated was beyond the criticism of the State. His
acts and declarations were the genuine manifestations
of a sincere detestation of the murderer, and of a desire
to see the malefactors brought to justice (R., 26-32).

Yet these creditable deeds were offered and received
as evidence ‘“to show the conduct of the traverser, if
your Honor please,—show how inconsistent it is with the
conduct that we expect to show afterwards” (R. 26). In
other words, to use the langnage and the conduct of in-
nocence as the firm basis of an arbitrary hypothesis of
guilt; and to distort an impeccable course into proof of
a future erime. By what process of reasoning can it be
inferred that natural, lawful aets in the detection and
punishment of erime are but the covert and sinister
plotting and preparation for a conspiracy not vet con
ceived!

The State was obliged to vouch for the good faith and
creditable conduet of the appellant, as testified to by
ieneral Gaither, but justified its proffer by the contrast
of its goodness with the evil—as the State proposed to
establish—aof his course after Socolow and Keller saw
him (R., 26). Outside of the incredible testimonv of
Keller, we challenge the State to point to a sinlgle. act,
or word, of the appellant at variance with his approved
good conduet with General Gaither, and inconsistent with
his absolute innocence of the crime charged. He coun-
selled Socolow to surrender, and he gave Keller to the
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police with the injunction to tell the truth. He kept
faith with the authorities.

And Captain Burns, and Sergeant Himmelman, and
Inspector Hurley are permitted to testify to appellant’s
conduct with respect to the investigation of the erime,
and the arrest of the perpetrators. Not a single deed
or word has reference to either Keller or Socolow.

Burns testified that Wolf said to him over the tele
phone that he thought Smith, Lewis and Carey, who had
been arrested and were held, were not the guilty men,
and that he wanted to see if he could get them out (12th
exception, R., 39); and this conversation was heard and
testified to by Sergeant Himmelman (32nd exception, R.,
57), who, with Inspector Hurley, also testified that the
appellant saw the prisoners Lewis and Smith in the
morning and afternoon of Saturday, August 19th, the
day after the murder (32nd and 33rd exceptions, R., 57,
58; Hurley, 35th, 36th and 37th exceptions, R., 62-64).
Inspector Hurley was, also, allowed to testify to Wolf’s
opinion that the police were on the wrong track, and did
not have the right men, and their arrest was **pinhead
policing’’ (39th exception: R., 65, 66).

It is important to bear in mind that all this testimony
on the 12th, 32nd, 33rd, 35th, 36th, 37th and 39th exeep-
tions related to what took place on Augnst 19th, the day
after the muarder, when no charge had been preferred
against any of the prisoners and all were being held on
suspicion; and the police were then of the same opinion
as the appellant with respect to Carey (R., 64, 65; 78-80).

In all the evidence admitted there ig no suggestion that
the appellant knew on August 19th who killed Norris;
and as an attorney he was within his rights in acting for




80

these suspects. His decision was not to represent those
who had murdered Norris, but he was as free, under his
promise to General Gaither, as any other lawyer to de-
fend an accused innocent of the crime.

In the 38th bill of exceptions, Inspector Hurley is al-
lowed to testify to a casual encounter with appellant on
Monday morning, August 21st. It was as Wolf was
about to go to the Traffic Court, and the Inspector ad-
dressed the appellant, telling him that Smith and Lewis
were being held for the murder of Norris. The appel-
lant then asked the officer if Carey had been released and
had been given his money (38th exeeption, R., 65).

The lower Court ruled that Captain Burns could tes-
tity that on Wednesday, August 23rd, about four o’clock
in the afternoom, the appellant called him by telephone
and econgratulated him on the arrest of Smith, Lewis,
Carey, Allers, Heard and Blades, and inquired about the
release of his client, Jenkins, who had been falsely sus-:
pected, and that at the close of the conversation ‘“He’’
(appellant) ‘‘also said to me, well, I may have some-
thing for you tomorrow?’’ (19th, 20th and 21st exceptions,
R., 44, 45).

What in heaven above, the earth beneath, or the waters
under the earth, the ‘“something’’ was nobody can tell
from this record, except upon the theory, whieh seems to
have been adopted, that to think a thing evil, when youn
wish to think evil, necessarily makes evil “‘something’’
of whose form and content vou know nothing.

And then the State proved that on the night of the
Norris murder, the Baltimore Sun, through its reporter,
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Raymond S. Tompkins, enlisted the aid of the appelant
to solve the problem of the tragedy. The conversation
between the appellant and the reporter shows that the
appellant said that The Sun might publish or keep quiet
his efforts to bring the parties to justice; gave the re-
porter a tip in reference to some parties ; and the re
porter said that his paper would stand bask of him in
whatever aid he gave and could probably secure him a
part in the prosecution of the guilty persons (85th and
86th exceptions, R., 237, 238). We agree the appellant
did not act bere with wisdom. Heowever, the Court of
Appeals has not yet held folly proof of & crime; and, in
view of the treatment accorded the appellant, the sole
effect of this proof is to supply another unnecessa ry in-
stance of the ingratitude of the press.

Every one of these acts and deelargtions set out in the
thirty-three exceptions in Group One oceurred before the
alleged conspiracy. Therefore, not a single one was
missible, because not one was done in the course aul
prosecution of a common design. Under the authori-
ties, every ruling of the lower Court constituted rever
sible error. - Supra.

The steady accumulation of irrelevant matter under
these thirty-three exceptions created a situation deplor-
able in its effect upon the rights of the appellant. The
inadmissible testimony pictured the widespread horror
of the crime, and the vigilance of the police and the news
papers, and, by sly innuendo and adroit implication, the
very service of the appellant in helping to apprehend the
murderers became the evidence upon which the State
rested the argument to the trinl Qourt that the aid given
by the appellant was the insincere and treacherous con-
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duet of an associate with the eriminal classes, with the
object more effectually to subvert the administration of
justice when the occasion was ripe for his unconscionable

and sinister object.

The exact measure of the legal wrong suffered by the
appellant is the verdict of guilty.

Cross vs. State, 118 Md. 668.

The usual and proper course is to require a foundation
to be laid by proof sufficient in the opinion of the Court
to establish prima facie a case of conspiracy between
the parties accused, or at least proper to be laid before
the jury as tending to establish the conspiracy, although
“‘for the sake of convenience the acts or declarations of
one are admitted in evidence before sufficient proof is
given of conspiracy, the prosecutor undertaking to fur-
nish sueh proof in a subsequent stage of the cause. But
this mode of proceeding rests in the discretion of the
judge, and in seditions or other general conspiracies is
seldom permitted, except under particular and urgent
circumstances; for otherwise, the jury might be misled
to infer the faet itself of the conspiracy from the declara-
tions of strangers.’’

Bloomer vs. State, 48 Md. 521, 531;

Hays vs. State, 40 Md. 633, 648, 650;
Lawrence vs. State, 103 Md. 17, 20, 21;
Garland vs. State, 112 Md. 83, 100.
Seibert vs. State, 133 Md. 309, 313, 315.

The action of the lower Court in permitting the State’s
Attorney to offer sets and declarations of the members
of the alleged conspiracy before any foundation was laid
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by any proof whatever of the conspiraecy introduced
much irrelevant and misleading testimun\:, which con-
fused the issue and produced an in('.oherc;nt, irrelevant
and unrelated mass of facts whose sole office and effoct
were to induce the trial Court ‘“to infer the fact itself
of the conspiracy from the declaration of strangers,”’
supra.

It was not a part of the res gestae, for the statements
lnle}de and acts done were not a part of the alleged con-
spiracy, nor connected with it in any way; nor did they
occur in exeeution or furtherance of a common pul'pum'-.
The proof upon which the State relied for the establish-
ment of the conspiracy demonstrated bevond eavil at
least that the idea of a conspiracy was first and unex
pectedly introduced and submitted to the traverser on
the night of August 23rd at his home. Before the un-
forseen arrival of Keller and Socolow at Lis house, Mr
Wolf had not seen, nor had any communication with,
either of them. Their arrival was a startling in{rusion.
No one could assert the contrary. It must be accepted
as incontrovertible that, even if the testimony of the
practiced liar Keller he given the full weight of a truth-
ful narrative, there was no common purpose before the
evening of Wednesday.

It follows that the conduct of the traverser hefore the
visit of Keller and Socolow to his home, was not u part
of the res gestae of a conspiraey not then conceived.
Neither was his conduet during this period relevant or
material to establish a motive for the traverser to enter
into the conspiracy charged, nor did it tend to prove that
he was makinz auy nreparation for the formation of a
conspiracy to thwart the sdministration of justice, or
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that the imputed conspiracy was the natural and prob-
able result of his coursec.
GROUP TWO.

Exceptions on the testimony covering the period of
the night of August 23rd until the confession of Keller
in the early morning of August 28th, sub-divided into—

A. The aets and declarations of Keller:

1. The night of August 23rd.

2. After the night of August 23rd.

B. The acts and declarations of appellant:
1. The night of August 23rd.
2. After the night of August 23rd.
C. The aets and declarations of third parties in the
absence of Wolf.
Groupr Two, Sus-Divisioxy A.

The Acts and Declarations of Keller on Night of
August 23rd.

a9th and 64th Exceptions.

In the course of the examination by the State’s Attor-
ney, this question was put to the witness:

“Q. Now, what was said, if anything, by anybody,
about having nerve or not having nerve!”

The question wag leading and suggestive to the wit-
ness, as the whole examination had been, and this brief
passage followed :

35

‘“(Mr. Robinson) He hasn’t testified about any-
thing like that.

(The Court) Overruled, gentlemen. It is a per-
feetly leading question, but he has a right to ask a
leading question when he can’t get it out in genernl
questions. You gentlemen know that, too.”

The reply was:

 ‘He said: If you have got the nerve, it is all
right’” (59th Exception, R., 100, 101).

In view of the importance of his testimony, it ig felt
that there was error in the lowetr Court "a permitting this
testimony to be elicited in this disjointed manner, dis-
associated with the whole conversation; and wrested
from the witness by a suggestive and leading question.

The meaning of this language depends largely on what
was said before and after its utterance. The nbsence of
the entire conversation deprives us of this test. The
reply is the echo of the question. Lord Bacon made a
pertinent observation when he remarked: *‘It is a aood
point of cunning for a man to shape the answer he would
have in his own words, for it makes the other party stick
the less.”” A like observation is made by the Court in
U. 8. vs. Lee Huen, 11° Fed. 442 at 446 “A leading
question propounded to a witness may by ereating un in
fluence in his mind cause him to testify in wecordunce
with the suggestion conveyed by the question.'  Moore
on Facts, See. 814, p. 913.

The erime of conspiracy is one of design, To know
what was the design, you must have the exact words of
the whole conversation between the conspirators. The
langnage of the parties is of supreme importance. The
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difficulty, if not the impossibility, of any witness being
able to recall the very words used makes it of vital
moment in a criminal case, that there be no leading, no
prompting in the narrative of the very terms of a con-
spiracy. This record supplies the instance to support
the statement. Look on this picture, and then on that:

Keller when led: Keller when not led:
‘““If you have got the nerve, ‘‘He has got the nerve”’
it is all riglt”’ (R. 101). (R. 115).

The appellant, who is supported by Socolow, who was
present, and by his family, who heard, say nothing of
the kind oceurred.

Is the State entitled to take its preference in these
divergent tales! It certainly should not be given this
privilege as a result of the error of the Court in per-
mitting a witness to be led, who eagerly played the part
of informer under cireamstances furnishing a counter-
part to those depicted in Lewry vs. State, 116 Md. at PP.
292, 293.

The 64th exception presents a similar question. Keller
had been in the hands of the State’s Attorney for some-
time. He had been freely led and prodded when his story
lagged, but his narrative lacked one statement. The
State’s Attorney asked if Keller could not remember
something else that was said when Mr. Wolf advised
Socolow to give himself up. The witness could only
repeat what hie had said before, and then the State’s
Attorney put this direct and leading interrogatory :

: “I:i}. Did either one talk about Allers’ confession?
A " Y J
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Here was a direct and categorical answer. Notwith
standing this clear reply to a plain question, the State
put the same question in a different and suggestive fash-
ion, and the appellant objectéd. The Court should have
sustained this objection, but did not, with the result that
the witness denied his former reply to the extent of say-
ing: ‘‘I think Socolow said Allers confessed’’ (R. 119).

In making this point, the appellant is aware of the great
latitude allowed to the lower Court, but we feel the dis-
cretion was abused to the prejudice of the accused. The
record shows this witness was led throughout in daring
manner, although the appellant vigorously protested. At
the very beginning of Keller’s testimony the Conrt an-
nounced its purpose to permit this willing and coddled
witness to be led.

“(Mr. Leach) (o ahead, John; don’t pay any par-
ticular attention to these folks here (indieating
counsel for the accused) ; go ahead unless the Court
stops you.

(The Court) I am giving you an objection and an
exception to every questio nand answer.

(Mr. Robinson) But, your Honor, ¢an they violate
the rules as to leading their witness in a case like
this?

(The Court) That is within our discretion. We
do not think it is leading. If it is, it is within our
diseretion to allow it.

(Mr. Dennis) How are we going to call it to the
attention of the Court if we are not to object?

(The Court) I am giving von an exception to
everything he asks.

(Mr. Parke) On the ground also that it is leading!

(The Court) Yes” (R. 88, §7, 94, 95, 100, 107, 118).
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In Nurnberger vs. United States, Circuit Court of Ap-
peals, 8th Cirenit, October 28th, 1907, 156 Fed. 721, the
Court held that while the permitting of leading questions
is a matter resting in the sound discretion of the trial
Court, allowing a District Attorney in a eriminal case to
ask questions of his own witness, who is not unwilling or
unfriendly, whieh are leading and in a form to suggest
the answer desired and call for a mere conclusion of the
witness, is an abuse of discretion, and is prejudicial error.

At page 734, the Court (Judge Phillips) said: ¢TIt
must, however, be conceded that the abuse of such discre-
tion would have no corrective if it were rigidly maintained
that it is not reviewable.”’

At page 735, the Court said: ‘It is difficult to escape
the impression that the Court was either too indulgent
to the Government or too diseriminating against the
defendant.”’

Grour Two, SuBpIvision A.

I1. The Acts and Declarations of Keller After the Night
of August 23rd in the Absence of Appellant.

22nd, 23rd, 24th, 27th, 28th, 29th, 41 st, 42nd, 44th, 45th,
48th, 49th, 50th, 51st, 52nd, 60th, 66th, 72nd and 91st.

Under the 22ud (R. 46), 23rd and 24th (R. 47), 27th (R.
50), 28th (R. 51), 29th (R. 52), 41st and 42nd (R. 66, 67),
44th (R. 69), 45th (R. 71), 48th and 49th (R. 75), 50th
(R. 76), 51st (R. 76}, 52nd (R. 77), 60th (R. 111), 66th
(R. 187), 72ud (R. 216), 91st (R. 244), exceptions are set
out the acts and statements done and made by Keller
in the absence of Mr. Wolf, after the visit of himself and
Soeolow to appellant at his home.
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It is vital to bear in mind that there must be prima facie
evidence of a conspiracy before the acts and declarations
of a co-conspirator are admissible against the aceused.
If the usual order is reversed, and acts and declarations
of a co-conspirator are introduced before the prima facie
evidence of a conspiracy is established in the opinion of
the trial judge, without an offer to follow up with proof
of the conspiracy, then there can be no question of the
error in admitting the testimony of the police officers
and newspaper men as to the acts and declarations of
Keller, unless the Appellate Court should be convineed
that a prima facie case of conspiracy against the appellant
was later established.

Lawrence vs. State, 103 Md. 20, 21, 25, 26 ;
Bloomer vs. State, 48 Md. 633, 648, 650 ;
Hays vs. State, 40 Md. 633, 648-50;

State vs. Cain, 20 W. Va. 679, 694 ;

1 Bishop on Criminal Pro., Sees. 1148-1254 ;
2 Bishop on Crim. Pro., Seecs. 227-232;
Underhill on Crim. Ev., Sees. 492, 493,

Was there at the end of the trial a prima facie ease of
conspiracy sufficient to warrant the introduction of Kel-
ler’s acts and declarations? If not, there was reversible
error in the lower Court’s rulings.

It is upon the testimony of Keller that this prima facie
case of conspiracy must be found. It is the indisputable
proof of this record that the appellant was not a com-
panion or associate of Keller or of Soeolow. He was not
bound to them by ties of interest, friendship or blood.
There had been no previous correspondence or communi-
cation. Their unexpected and unpremeditated visit was a
shocking and unwelcome intrusion. The appellant de-
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clined to act as counsel for Socolow, and received no
fee or compensation whatsoever. He urged Socolow to
surrender to the law. He agreed to represent Keller in
the antomobile charge, and told him to report to his office
in the morning.

When he asked Captain Leverton to come to his office
the same morning, when he turned the boy over to Lev-
erton to tell all he knew; when he gave the cue to the
newspaper men to follow Leverton and Keller, he was
aiding the State in its efforts to catch and punish the mur-
derers. He put in operation every legitimate agency at
his command in the interest of law and justice.

There is not a single act or word of the appellant that
is not a demnial of guilt. There was never a word spoken
nor a thing done by him that, as displayed and illumined
by its setting, was not consistent with his entire inno-
cence.  We challenge the record for a refutation of these
facts.

A prima facie case of conspiracy means that amount
of evidence which is sufficient to establish the fact of a
conspiracy. It may be said to require such a state of
proof to exist as, in the absence of evidence to the con-
trary, would justify a verdiet of guilty.

Thayer’s Preliminary Treatise on Evidence,
p. 943, n.

The ncts and declarations of one eo-conspirator are not
sufficient to establish the prima facie fact of eonspiracy
against n conspirator. ,

In State vs. Thompson, 69 Conn. 720, 726, 728 38th
Atl, 868, 870, the Court said :
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‘“Nor do we think it can fairly be said that the
Jourt held the declarations of one of the conspira-
tors was competent evidence to establish a combina-
tion between the two, in the sense that such aets and
declarations of one could be sufficient prima facie
evidence of the combination of the two.””

Mere knowledge that Keller was talking of at-

Marrash vs. U. S, No. 168 Fed. 225, 231 ;
Stager vs. U. 8., 223 Fed. 510, 512-514;
Ormsby vs. People, 53 N. Y. 472, 475.
Corn vs. Holmes, 127 Mass. 424, 439.

There must be proof, not speculation, to make out a
prima facie charge. ‘‘The essence of the offense consists
in the unlawful agreement and combination of the par
ties; and therefore it is completed whenever such combi-
nation is formed, although no aet be done towards earry-
ing the main design into effect.”’

3 Greenleaf on Evidence, Sec. 91.

In this case the parties to the alleged couspiracy are
shown to be together, and what occurred between them is
not a matter of inference from cirenmstantial evidence,
but of knowledge from the fact that the co-conspirator
Keller is a participant.

The conspiracy, if ever made, was entered into in the
night at Wolf’s home. If there were a conspiracy, the
crime was complete that very night. All that oceurred
afterwards, attributable to the common purposge, would
be the result of the crime. So, any subsequent act o
declaration, in pursuance and during the life of the com
bination, would not constitute the erime; and wonld
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merely be circumstantial evidence tending to prove the
original eriminal agreement.

It follows that from what was done and said by the
conspirators after the combination you have to infer the
conspiracy ; but, it one of the conspirators testified to all
that took place when the unlawful combination was
formed, there is no room for inference, as the proof is
direct and positive.

If, therefore, the subsequent acts and deeds of one of
the conspirators is as consistent with innocense as with
quill, the evidence against him of a common design must
be sought in what took place at the meeting when the con-
spracy was born.

Within the four corners of this record there is not a
single faet proved, after the alleged combination was
formed, that is not consistent with Wolf’s innocence of
conspiracy to obstruet justice. If these subsequent facts
were even such as to be more compatible with his inno-
cence than with his guilt, the presumption of innocence
vould prevail and they would be, at least, insufficient to
make a prima facie conspiracy.

Shipley vs. B. & 0. R. R. Co., 39 Md. 257.

U. 8. vs. Goldberg, 25 Fed. Cas. No. 15233, pp.
1342, 1348.

Dort ve. MeDonald, 182 Pae. 628, 629.

MeGinmis vs. U. S, 256 Fed. 621, 626.

It is an inevitable conelusion that what occurred at the
appellant’s house on the uight of August 23rd constituted
the erime of conspiraey, if any; and whether or not a
prima facie eonspiracy has been shown depends wholly
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and absolutely on the sufficiency of the facts of Keller's
narrative, upon the assumption that his testimony be
true, to show a prima facie conspiracy. His testimony
follows:

““(The Witness) When Mr. Wolf was away—we
were talking about instead of him and Socolow and
Hart taking me to the box, put it on Allers, and when
Mr. Wolf came in Socolow asked him how would this
sound, or how would this do, and he said instead
of me and Hart taking him to the box, say that Allers
was taking him to the box and frame him, Socolow—I
heard Allers say he was framing Socolow. And then
I told Mr. Wolf. Mr. Wolf said, ‘You are sure wou
know where it is at?’ and I told him ves; told him
about what I would say that Frank Allers—instead
of calling him Frank Allers say ‘Chicago,’” and an-
other fellow came up on Broadway—I was standing
on Broadway at Baltimore street, and this fellow
came up and said, ‘Yon want to make a couple of
dollars?’ and I said, ‘Yes.” Aund he said, ‘Come with
me; take me to Broadway.,” And gets on a car that
goes east on Fayette street and takes me down to
Highland avenue to this garage 88 and I get the box
and tags and take it up to the pond and drop them in
the pond, and he gives me twenty-five dollars. And
then the telephone bell rang—I told this to Mr. Wolf
—and the telephone bell rang, and Mr. Wolf answered
it, and he came bacek and he said, ‘Let me hear that
again.” And I told it to him again. He said, ‘ He has
got the nerve’ (pausing). And then Socolow said,
‘T know a kid can talk pretty good by the name of
“Shovel,’”’ * and Mr. Wolf did not say anything and
a couple of fellows came in (pausing). And then
Mr. Wolf came back in, and he said, ‘Come fo my
office at gquartev of nine; I will have a friend there,’
So Socolow said——

(Judge Bond) ‘Have that friend there,' aor ‘A
friend there?’
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(The Witness) Have a friend there (pausing).
And Socolow—I believe it was Socolow—said Mr.
Wolf will have a friend there and he won’t ask you
many questions. And when we were walking out
Mr. Wolf said, ‘“There is only one thing I can tell you
to do is to give yourself up. If you go trying to get
out of town it will go that much harder on you”
(R. 115, 116).

This is substantially all, except when Keller stated the
conversation in response to the cross-examination of the
State’s Attorney, he represented Mr. Wolf’s reply as:
“If you have got the nerve it is all right’’ (R. 101, 90-100).

Here we find that in Mr. Wolf’s home, while he was
away from Socolow and Keller, they agreed that Keller
should say Allers and Hart took Keller to the tin box;
and that Keller heard Allers say he was framing Socolow.
When appellant returned Socolow asked Wolf what he
thought of it, and his reply was:

‘“You are sure you know where it is at?”’

Wolf was called away again, and on his return asked
Keller to repeat what he said, saying, after it had been
repeated by Keller:

‘“He has got the nerve,”’

or, at page 101 :
““If you have got the nerve it is all right.”’

Wolf was called out again, and on his return told
Keller to come to his office at quarter of nine the next
morning, and that he would have a friend there, and that
Socolow, he believed, stated that he would not ask many
questions (R. 101). :

95

We submit that this testimony does not show a prima
facie agreement and combination ot the part of Wolf.

Keller and Socolow have thought out a plan to aidl
Socolow by Keller putting Allers with Hart, in the place
of Socolow, and to diseredit Allers by stating that Allers
had said he would “frame’’ Socolow. This plan, they
submit to Wolf, who says, ‘‘He has got the nerve’’ in one
version, or ‘‘If you have got the nerve it is all right,”” in
the other.

Giving the testimony its full effect, Keller simply asked
the appellant’s judgment on what Keller had himself
purposed to do, independently of any one else, and with-
out concerted action.

Would anyone torture this into an unlawful agreement
and combination? Not from what was said. An expres
sion of opinion is far from an agreement.

The appellant had advised Socolow to surrcader, and
Keller, who was wanted on an automobile charge, he
directed to his office the next morning where appellant
said he would have a friend there, whom Socolow said
would not ask many questions of Keller; whether ubont
the auto theft or not does not appear.

Is there anything here to indicate a joint design or a
combination to effect a common object? Again: we say no,
particularly in the light of what appellant did. Seon
after Keller and Socolow left he called Captain Leverion
by telephone and asked him to be at his office the next
morning, as he would have some information for him in
the Norris ease. Captain Leverton was an officcr of
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thirty vears’ standing, and experienced in detecting evim-
inals, as was well known by the appellant, who had been
in conference with the appellant the previous Saturday,
and had found out and taken into custody Heard, owner
of the car used by the murderers. Nowhere on his
record is there the slightest indication of eollusion
and fraud between Captain Leverton and Wolf, who knew
he was in pursuit of the Norris murderers. Keller, the
liar, and Captain Leverton, the incorruptible officer, tes-
tified for the State. Keller testified Wolf said to Lever-
ton: ““This kid will show you something,”’ and, as he
left, said: ‘‘Don’t go asking the kid any questions’’ (R.
103). It may be suggested that if Wolf wanted Keller’s
proposed statements to be launched, he would have not
asked this forbearance from inquiry.

Lieverton, on the contrary, stated that Wolf told him
that the boy knew where some of the goods in the Norris
case were disposed of, and would tell him all he knew (R.
186, 190, 207, 208).

Jan it be said that here is prima facie proof of an un-
lawful agreement and combination between Keller and
the appellant? All the other proof in the record is negli-
gible on this pivotal question of an unlawful confedera-
tion between the two. Casting aside the fact that Keller
cannot be believed; that, if he were convicted of his ad-
mitted perjury, he could not testify because of the statu-
tory disqualification; that he is contradicted by every
witness in the case on every material point and corrobo.
rated in none; and then accepting his tale at its face value,
we maintain that aspersion, conjecture and speculation
will not suffice in Maryland to eke out the form of a prima
Tacie case, or to permit a co-conspirator to give substance

a7

and foree to his own insufficient declarations and acts by
the testimony of deeds and words which he alone aseribes
to the joint unlawful agreement and combination of him-
self and others.

Ormsby vs. People, 53 N. Y. 472, 475;

Marrash vs. U. S, 168 Fed. 2295, 231 ;

Stager vs. U. S., 233 Fed. 010, 512, 514 ;

Leury vs. State, 116 Md. 293,

2 Bishop on Crim. Pro., Secs. 230, 23

Crawford vs. U. S,, 212, U. S. 183, 203, 204 ;
53 L. Ed. 474.

‘A conspiracy is proved ecither expressly, as where
one of the persons implicated consents to be examined as
a witness for the prosecution,’’ or by cireumstantial evi-
dence.

Wright on Crim. Conspir. (1887}, 212,

The proof here was express, as Kaller was by his state-
ment a co-conspirator and what was actually =aid he ean-
not reecall with accuracy, supra. *‘It frequently happens
also that the witness by unintentionally altering u few
of the expressions really used, gives an effeet t0 the state-
ment completely at variance with what the party actually
said.”’

Earle vs. Pickens, 5 C. & P. b42u, per Parks, .J.
Rex vs. Simons, 6 C. & P. 5490, per Alderson.
Rex vs. Simons, 9 C. & P., 129.

The obligation is on the trial Court below to determine
if a prima facie case of conspiracy has been made out in-
dependent of the aets and deelarations of the co.conspira-
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tor, out of the presence of the acensed. In determining
this question, the Court is not at liberty to ignore the
character, the veracity, and the manner of the prosecut-
ing witness, nor it is allowed to impute to the conduet of
the traverser a guilty motive when an innocent one is
equally probable. 1In the language of Judge MeSherry,
in a civil suit:

“Excluding the inadmissible hypothesis of inad-
vertent error and excluding it because there is no
evidence of any kind to sustain it, there are but these
alternatives left, viz: either that the entry was right-
ful or else that it was deliberately wrongful. If right-
ful then a tenaney by the entireties was created, and
of oourse, rightfully created, and the fund now he-
longs to the plaintiff; if deliberately wrongful, then a
fraud was perpetrated on Jacob Bowersox, because
his money was diverted from him and from his es-
tate without his consent. Which of these two ex-
tremes must be adopted? Fvery presumption ob-
tains in favor of innocence and good faith. Where an
act may be innocent or culpable, as antecedent eir-
cumstances make it the one or the other, and those
antecedent circumstances are not disclosed ; the plain-
est dictates of justice require that the act shall be
treated as an innocent act. And so when the altern-
ative is as to whether the act is rightful or wrong-
ful, the act being one that may be either according
to its environments, and there is nothing to show that
it is wrongful, the natural and the general presump-
tion, founded on observation and experience, is that
it was rightful. Praesumptitio judicatur potentior
quae est benignior, Wills Cir. Ev. 157; Jones vs.
Jones, 45 Md. 15=." Brewer vs. Bowersox, 92 Md.

ATH-57.

In the late case of Canton Lumber Company vs. Bur-
ton Lumber Company, Nos. 8 and 9, January Term, re-
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ported in Daily Record of March 26th, 1923, the Court
stated anew the rule:

‘It is a recognized and reasonable rule that if the
circumstances are as consistent with the innocence
as with the guilt of a defendant charged with con.
Spiracy in an action like the present, the jury will not
be permitted to speculate as to whether the accusa-
tion is well founded. 12 C..J. 639; Ballentine vs.
Cummings, 220 Pa. 621 ; Dart vs. McDonald (Wash.),
182 Pac. 628; Walsh vs. Walsh (Mo.), 226 S. W, 242,
Without legally sufficient proof of the alleged con-
spiracy the Canton Company could not be held re.
sponsible for a breach of duty which Werner might
be found to have committed. 5 R. (. L. 1103 ; Brink-
ley vs. Platt, 40 Md. 529. Its liability was necessarily
dependent upon the existence of knowledge on its
part that it was participating in a violation of the
plaintiff’s rights. Debnam vs. Simonson. 124 M.
358. The evidence, in our opinion, is not legally suf-
ficient for a determination to that effect.”’ j

Cross vs. State, 118 Md. 667, 668,

It needs something more than proof of a mere passive
cognizance of fraudulent or illegal action of others to
sustain conspiracy. There must be something showing
active participation of some kind by the parties charged.

2 Wharton on Crim. Law (7th ed.) See. 2355 ;
Evans vs The People, 90 T1I. 884. 390; and
supra.

And here the only active thing that Wolf did was to
telephone Captain Leverton to be at his office and there
turn the boy over to give the prosecution the very proof
it needed. In doing this, he was perfectly consistent with
everything he had done from the very first day of the
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murder. In doing this, his conduct was perfeetly econ-
sistent with innocence, and not with the theory of guilt.
How could the Court, without error, admit the co-con-
spirator’s declarations and acts, out of the presence of
the traverser, against the appellant? The error be-
comes all the more inexplicable when it is reealled that the
State’s own proof established that Keller was unworthy
of belief, and was testifying under a promise of immunity.

After severally conceiving a false story, can this mis-
creant Keller, by repeating it, and repeating it to third
parties, outside of the presence of the appellant, gave it
a greater credibility than when it was first uttered? Can
he be regarded as sufficient to prove the prima facte
fact of a conspiracy, when he is contradicted in every
material point and when his imaginings do not retain

the consistency of truth?

It is respectfully submitted that a prima facie case of
conspiracy not having been subsequently established, and
this testimony having been offered generally, there was
both error and injury and a reversal must follow on this
point.

Hays vs. State, 40 Md., 648, 650, and supra;

State vs. Walker, 124 Towa, 414; 100 N. W,
. 354, 357;

Burke vs. Miller, 7 Cush. 547, 550.

Nor can the evidence be regarded as corroboration of
what the prosecuting witness Keller testified to. It was
offered generally, and not for that purpose. Moreover,
when offered Keller had not testified.

Lawrence vs. State, 103 Md., 26.
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Furthermore, Keller was Jointly indicted with appel-
lant and Socolow for the same crime for which the ap-
pellant was being tried; and, even if this proof had been
offered after the testimony of Keller and for the specific
purpose of corroboration, the testimony wonld have been
excluded under Section 3 of Article 35 of the Code.

Cross vs. State, 118 Md., 660, 670, 671 ;
See Lanasa vs. State, 109 Md., 620, 621.

‘Tt 1s not sufficient to corroborate an aceomplice
as to the facts of the case generally. IHe should be
corroborated as to some material fact which tends to
prove that the acoused was connected with the evime
charged. The corroboration that merely raises a sus
picion of guilt, because the accused had an oppor-
tunity to commit the offense, is not suficient.”’

Wharton on Criminal Evidence (10th Ed.),
Sec. 442,
. vs. Kirkman (1909), 25 T. 1.. R. 656.
. vs. Barrett (1908), 1 Cr. App. Rep. 64.
. vs. Jacobs (1908), | Cr. App. Rep 216.
. vs. Warner (1908), 1 Cr. App. Rep. 227,
. vs. Boves (1861),1 B. & 8. 311.
. vs. Thistlewood (1820), 33 St. Tr. 921.
Luery vs. State, 116 Md. 284, 292,
Lanasa vs. State, 109 Md. 613.
Garland vs. State, 112 Md, 83.
U. S. va. Lancaster, 44 Fed. 922,
Wharton on Crim. Ed. (10th Ed.), Sees. 441
442,
Jomm vs. Holmes, 127 Mass. 424
1 Roscoe on Criminal Evidence (8th Fd.),
132%-134°.
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‘“As the reason for the rule as adopted by most
courts us that the testimony of an accomplice alone
and unsupported is regarded as too doubiful to be
safe, the important matter is to have him supported
in at least some of the material points mvolved, tend-
ing to show the quilt of the accused.”’

Leury vs. State, 116 Md. 294.

1837, Lord Abinger, C. B., in R. vs. Farler, 8 C. & P.
106 :

““It is a practice which deserves all the reverence
of law that judges have uniformly told juries that
they ought not to pay any vespect to the testimony
of an accomplice unless the accomplice is corrobo-
rated in some material particular . . . The dan-
ger is that when a man is fixed, and knows that his
own guilt is detected, he purchases immunity by
falsely accusing others.*’

For attitude of our own Court of Appeals, holding
that the erime of conspiracy may not be established upon
the uncorroborated evidence of accomplices and co-con-
spirators connecting the accused with the crime, see—

Lanasa vs. State, 109 Md. 604.

In People vs. Plath, 110 N. Y. 590, at 593, the Court

savs:

““The rule as to the corroboration of an accomplice

is stated in Roscoe’s Criminal Evidence, 122, as fol-
lows: ‘That there should be some fact deposed to, in-
dependently altogether of the evidence of the accom-
plice, which taken by itself leads to the inference not
only that a crime has been committed, but that the
prisoner is implicated in it.” Russel on Crimes, 963,
says: ‘That it is not sufficient to corroborate an ac-
complice as to the facets of the case generally, but he
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must be corroborated as to some material fact or
facts which go to prove that the prigoner was con-
nected with the crime charged.’ 1 Greenleaf on Fvi-
dence, Sec. 381, lays down the rule as held by some,
that it is ‘essential that there should be corrobors.
ting proof that the prisoner actually participated in
the offense, and that when several prisoners are to
be tried, confirmation is to be required as to all of
them before all can be safely convicted, the confir-
mation of the witness as to the commission of the
crime being régarded as no confirmation at all as it
respects the prisoner.

A suspicion is not sufficient nor when the corrobora-

ting testimony is as compatible with the traverser’s inno-
cence as his guilt.

The rule in New York is similar to that followed in

other jurisdictions:

*“The evidenee to sustain charges such as have been
here made and in a proceeding of this kind should be
clear and satisfactory and convincing. The respond-
ent 1s presumed to be innocent and proof of his guilt
should be clearly established. This is especially {rue
where, as in this case, the charges, if true, con-
stitute violations of the criminal law. There is an-
other remedy against the respondent. The eriminal
courts are open for his prosecution. If he is con-
victed of a felony, as he should be if these charges
are true, disbarment will follow antomatically and
swiftly. Wae should not, except in a very clear ease,
anticipate what the verdict of the jury might be. We
do not intend to imply that no action should ever he
taken in a proceceding of this kind in advanee of the
action of the eriminal ecourts; but when n doubtinl
question of faet exists, aud that doubt eun best be
resolved by a jury in an appropriate tribunal
equipped for the determination of such gquestions of
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fact, we should hesitate to take action based on the
guilt of the respondent when our action might be at
variance with the pronouncement of a jurv on the
same question’’ (p. 508).
In re. an \Attorney (1916), 175 App. Div. 410;
161 N. Y. S. 504,

In re. O’Neill (1918), 171 N. Y. S. 514, the Court re-
fused to disbar on the ground that in diseiplinary pro-
ceedings against an attorney, the charge could not be
based upon uncorrobovated testimony of a self-confessed
perjurer and unmitigated lar,

(rove Two, Sus-Divisioxn B.

I. Acts and Declarations of Appellant on Night of
April 23rd.

Eixception 65th--Hammersla.

Under the 65th Bill of Exeeptions, Detective Hammer-
sla testified to his conersation with appellant in refer-
ence to the Norris case. He visited Mr. Wolf while
Socolow and Keller were at his house. When the appel-
lant went out to see Detective Hammersla, an old friend,
the idea of a conspiracy in the State’s own direct and only
proof had not been broached. (R., 114, 137.)

The recital of this interview was highly prejudicial, as
from it was based {he argument that hecause the appel-
lant had not betrayed Socolow into the hands of officer
Hammersla, convineing proof of the conspiracy was sup-
plied. (R., 180, 183.)

The evidence was inadmissible on two grounds:
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I. The conversation with Hammersla took place b
fore there was any suggestion made by Keller or any one
else relative to the alleged conspiracy.

Socolow was in the midst of his story, aceording to
Keller of how Mr. Norris was killed, when they were in-
terrupted by the arrival of Hammersla. The appellant
went out on the north poreh and sat in the swing with
Hammersla talking. While they were on the south
poreh, adjoining the dining room, according to Keller,
he and Socolow talked over the plan of helping
Socolow. It was not until Hammersla had left the
porch and premises and the appellant had returned,
that the alleged design was submitted to Wolf, It was
testimony relative to a conversation with a third party
before there was a commaon design among Keller, Soco-
law and Wolf on the State’s own theory. The evidence
was inadmissible, as what occurred between Wolf and
Hammersla could not throw any light on what did not
then exist; and an idea of which had net even been eon-
ceived by Wolf. (duthorities supra.)

II. An attorney may not betray to the police a party
who visits him to engage his professional serviee in the
defense of a eriminal charge however grave.

Bird vs. U. 8,, 187 U. S. 118.

In Marbury vs. Brooks, T Wheai. 357, at page D70, (D L.
Ed. 522,527) Chief Justice Marshall ranarked :

““The only feature in the transaetion to whieh hlame
i8 attached is the attempt of & father-in-law to con-
ceal the forgeries of a son-in-law, by paving off the
notes he had forged. It may be the duty of a eitizen
to accuse every offender, and to proclaim every of-
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fense which comes to his knowledge, but the law
which would punish him in every case for not per-
forming his duty is too harsh for man.”” (Cited in
1 Bishop’s Crim. Law, Sec. 717, n. 3, and see, idem,
Secs. 225, 226, 633.)

So, it may be said on high authority that the law does
not require a private citizen to become a hero on the
penalty of having criminality aseribed to his failure; and
in legal ethics there is no duty on a lawyer to betray.

Socolow and Keller sought the advice of the appellant
as a lawyer; and his home therehy became their sanctuary
and their statements his sacred secret. It is to be pre-
sumed that, in Socolow’s judgment, his whereabouts just
then were to be kept a secret, an opinion he held notwith-
standing Mr. Wolf’s adviee to surrender. Mr. Wolf’s
course, under difficult and dramatic circumstances, in not
becoming a traitor to his clients and to the weighty re-
sponsibility of his honorable profession, should have
brought commendation. We find it urged as an evidence
of guilty. In such confusion of thought, ancient rules may
be here restated without offense to this learned appellate
trihunal.

Dury or AtTor¥EY TO CLIENT.

‘“Whatever facts, therefore, are communicated by
a client te a counsel solely on account of that rela-
tion, such counsel are not at liberty, even if they wish
to disclose, and the law holds their testimony incom-
petent.”’

Justice Story in Chiroe vs. Reemicken, 11
Wheat. (24 U. S.) 280, 6 Fed. 474.
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Samuel Warren wrote in Duties of Attorneys and
Solicitors (1849):

‘‘Maintain inviolate the seevets intrusted to you in
your professional capacity. You must not betray
them on any pretense—on anvy provocation what-
ever’’ (p. 227).

Brewer, J., later of the Supreme Court U. 8., in United
States vs. Costen, 38 Fed. 24, said:

““Now it is the glory of our profession that its
fidelity to its client can be depended on; that « man
may safely go to a lawyer and converse with him wpon
his rights or supposed rights in any litigation with
the absolute assurance that that lawyer’s tongue is
tied from ever disclosing it; and any lawyer who
proves false to such an obligation, and betrays or
seeks to betray any information or any facts that he
has attained while employed on the one side, is quilty
of the grossest breach of trust. 1 can tolerate n grent
many things that a lawyer may do—things that in
and of themselves may perhaps be eriticized or con
demned when done in obedience to the interest or
supposed interest of his own elient, and when he is
seeking simply to protect and uphold those interests.
If he goes beyond, perhaps, the limits of propriety,
I can tolerate and pass that by; but I eannot tolerats
for a moment, neither can the profession, neither can
the community, any disloyalty on the part of a lawyer
to his elient. In all things he musi be true to that
trust, or failing it, he must leave the profession.

“Truth, like all other good things, may be loved
immensely, may be pursued too keenly, may cost too
much, and surely the meanness, and the mischief of
prying into a man's confidential communication
with his legal advisor, and the general evil of infus-
ing reserve and dissimulation, uneasiness, suspicion
and fear into these communications which must take
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place, and which, unless in a condition of perfect
security, must take place uselessly or worse, are too
great a price to pay for truth itself.”’

Pearce vs. Pearce, 11 Jar. 52, at page 55, and

1 De Gex & Smale, 25, at page 27, cited in

State of West Virginia vs. Douglass, 20 W.
Va. 770, 783 (man charged with murder
informed his attorney where pistol is hid-
den, wnot admissible, nor where body
buried, 790).

Robsou et al. vs. Kemp et al., 5 Esp, R., 52
(lawyer saw paper destroyed with frau-
dulent intent by bankrupt, not admis-
sible).

Mr. Justice Brown, in Alexander vs. U. S, 138 U S.

353, at page 360, wrote:

“‘Had the interview in this case been held for the
purpose of preparing his defense, or even for devis-
ing a scheme to escape the consequences of his crime,
there could be ne doubt of its being privileged, al-
though he had made the same statements that his
} art her was missing and that he had not heard from
11m.

‘“But, in this respect, the communications of the
prisoner to his counsel stand as is universally ad-
mitted, on a very different footing. They are not
exeluded as extorted confessions are, because of their
probable want of truth, and would they were ever so
strongly corroborated they weuld be excluded, For
they are excluded simply on account of public policy,
because it is considered that public interest would be
pramoted by letting even eriminals escape just pun-
ishment, rather than to obtain their punishment, by
destroying the confidence of all clients and prisoners
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in their counsel, which would be the necessary conse
quence of permitting under any cirecumstances these
professional communieations from being disclosed
by an attorney. 1f this be not firmly upheld as the
law, gross wrong would be done many a elient and
many an innocent prisoner, because they would al-
ways be apprehensive, that they could not safely tell
the truth to their own counsel, and unless it counld be
safely told in many instances, no defense could be
effectively made, though one in fact existed.
State vs. Douglass, 20 W. Va. 770, 790.

D9

Ex parte MeDonougl, 170 Cala. 230.

The rule is well set forth in Wharton on Criminal Kvi
dence (10th Ed.), See. 496, as follows:

‘“An attorney is not permitted to disclose com
munications made to him by his elient in the course
of their professional relations. The privilege id
not affected by statutes allowing parties to become
witnesses. Such eommunications were privileged
at common law, and are generally protected by
statute in all of the states, But this would be true
irrespective of the statute, as the statute z:(-m-r{tllly
is merely declaratory of the common law rule. 7he
privilege is applicable to crimanal cases as well as
civil. Courts seek to give the rule its fullest appli
cation. 'Thus, where an accused was on trial for
stealing silver coin, it was held error to compel his
attorney to testify that his retainer had been paid
in silver coin. The object of the rule 1s to encour-
age a free communication between the attorney and
the client, and the rule is founded on r;{u.(,lw policy.
The prividege belongs to the client, The privilege
18 protected even i/ (lH.a)I'lu;r person 18 present with
the client at the mterview.””

And see¢ Secs. 497, 502, 50D,
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In Thornton vs. Davis (1835), 4 Cranch. C. C. 500, 23
Fed. Cases, 1147, Case No. 13998 (a most interesting
case), a petition for freedom was filed by a negro, John
Thornton, accompanied by a bill for injunction. The
Court granted the injunction asked to restrain the owner,
Orrine Davis, from removing the negro from the juris-
diction of the Court. The owner did remove the negro
in violation of the injunction and a motion was made
for an attachment against the owner for his disobedience.

During the argument on the motion, H. B. Robinson
and Madison Jeffers, constables, were charged with as-
sisting the owner in disobeying the injunetion, and were
then permitted to speak on their own justification; and,
among other things: stated facts implicating the purity
of the professional character of G. L. Giberson, one of
the negro's attorneys. The charge was that Giberson
had consented to take $25.00 for discovering where the
neqgro was, so that he might be seized by the constables,
who were endeavoring to catch him for the master so
that he might take him beyond the jurisdiction of the
Court. This accusation resulted in charges being pre-
ferred against Giberson for his unprofessional conduct
in agreeing to discover his negro client’s place of hiding.

The disbarment proceedings are reported in Ex Parte
Giberson, 4 Cranch. C. C. 503; 10 Fed. Cases No. 5388,
305, and the Court declined to disbar him on the evi-
dence, but no one ever thought that it was either a crim-
inal or an wnethical act for the attorney to refuse to dis-
close to constables the refuge of a runaway slave, as the
master was entitled to the possession of the negro until

his freedom is established upon complying with the rules
of Court.
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The Court even exonerated the lawyer on the charge
of having assented to take a fee of $25.00 on the appre-
hension of the negro, saying:

““Mr. Giberson, believing it to be the intention of
Mr. Davis to carry the petitioner out of the juris-
dietion of this Court, notwithstanding the subpoena
and injunction, might have deemed it his duty to
deceive Robinson and Jeffers with a view to give
notice to the petitioner. The petitioner was, in fact,
taken and carried out of this distriet by Davis, but
not by Robinsen and Jeffers, nor does it appear to
have been through any information furnished by
them, or by Mr. Giberson. We must, therefore,
acquit him of this part of the charge.”’

It is worthy of note that the above case was the con
verse of Mr. Wolf’s. There the attorney was tried for
alleged disclosure of the whereabouts of his fugitive
client.

Lanasa vs. State (Md. 1909), 109 Md. 602;
71 Atl 1058:

“The subject of confidential communications be-
tween attorney and elient has heen fully treated by
this Court. The result of the authorities is that, to
make the communications privileged, they must be
made during the existence of the actual relation of
attorney and eclient, or during interviews ad wego-
tiations looking to the establishment of such a vela-
tionship between the parties, and must relate to pro
fessional advice and to the subject-matter about
which such adviee is sought.”’

State vs. Tally (1893), 102 Ala. 25; 15 So. 722:

Where a person talks with an attorney, with a view
to retaining him, the conversation is privileged, though
the relationship of attorney and client is never estab-
lished between them.
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Denver Tramway Co. vs. Owens (1894), 20
Colo. 107; 36 P. 848:

Communications to an attorney are privileged when
he voluntarily listens to his client’s preliminary state-
ments, or gives advice thereon, though there are no
further relations between them.

Young vs. State (1880), 65 Ga. 525:
Statements made to an attorney by a woman while
she was anticipating employing him to conduct a prose-
cution for an alleged rape upon her, are privileged.

Thorp vs. Goewey (1877), 85 Ill. 611:
Knowledge obtained by an attorney during negotia-
tions as to the amount which he should receive for his
services in prosecuting a contemplated suit, the nego-
tiations resulting in no employment, are privileged.

Sargent vs. Inhabitants of Hampden (1854),
38 Me. 581:
1t is a privileged communication if application is made
to counsel for professional serviees, although the rela-
tion of attorney and client does not exist in faect.

Wade vs. Ridley (1895), 87 Me. 368; 32 Atl.
975:

Statements of fact made in good faith to an attorney
at law, for the purpose of obtaining his professional
guidanee, are privileged communications, though the re-
lation of attorney and client does not evist.

40 Cye. 2366:
“Where a person consults an attorney with a view
to employing him professionally, any information

acquired by the attorney in the course of interviews
or negotiations looking toward such employment is
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privileged and can not be disclosed, even though no
actual employment of the attorney as such follows,
and notwithstanding the fact that the attorney may
be afterward employed by the adversary of the per
son who made such communication.’’

Jones, Commentaries on Evidence (1914),
Sec. 749:

““In order that the communication should be privi
leged, it should be made as part of the purpose of
the client to obtain advice. . . . The rule ox
cluding testimony of professional communications
between attorney and client is broad enough fo em
brace a case where the one seeking counsel pavs no
fee. . . . Communications made by n person in
a conversation with an attorney with a view of re
taining the latter are privileged, and they can not
be called out from the attorney in evidence, although
the relation of attorney and client is never estab
lished.”’

10 Ency. of Evidence, p. 256:

“‘Statements made by a person to an attorney, in
anticipation or expectation of employment, are
privileged, although the attormey is not aftericard
employed. But in such case it must appear that the
person addressing the attorney intended to employ
him or take his advice as attorney.”

Thornton on Attorneys at Law, p. 175, See.
101:

“To exclude declarations as communications to
counsel, or made with a view to employment, their
root in the relation, or contemplated relation, of
client and attorney must be manifest. They must
be the offspring of the relation, present or prospe
tive, not of taking or expecting to take the fruits of
such a relation without forming it.""
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Page 195, Sec. 112:

“Communieations made to an attorney with a ]oonu
fide view to his employment in his professional
capacity “are privileged; even though the relation
of attorney and client does not result from the con-
swltation, or is never established between the par-
ties. The reason upon which the rule is founded
applies with equal force where the attorney is not
able to determine whether to withhold or remder his
professional aid until the applicant has disclosed the
merits of his case. Then, if he should decline to act
professionally in the matter, on account of previous
engagements and prior obligations to others, or
from necessity or choice, the disclosures and com-
munications thus made should be privileged. The
term client should be understood in its most enlarged
sense; and the prohibition should close the mouths
of all counsel who have listened to disclosures look-
ing to professional awd.”’

Thorp vs. Goewey (1877), 85 Ill. 611:

“The deposition of one Parsons, an attorney-at-
law of Kansas City, . . . was taken, in which
he testified to statements made to him by John W.
(Joewey in regard to the note in question. It ap-
pears that Parsons was consulted as an attorney
for the plaintiff in the action in regard to the col-
lection of the note, but for some cause the parties
failed to agree as to the fee Parsons was to receive
for prosecuting the suit, and finally he was not em-
ploved. The facts he disclosed in his deposition
were obtained as an attorney, and while negotia-
tions were in progress as to the amount of pay he
should receive for his services. These communica-
tions were pirwileged, and Parsons had no right to
disclose them.”’

Andrews vs. Simms (1878), 33 Ark. 771:

Communications made by a person to an attorney
while taking his professional advice are not admissible
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In evidence, even though no fee was charged or paid
To the same effect are—

Denver Tramway (o. vs. Owens (1894), 20
Colo. 107; 36 P. 848,
Bailly vs. Robles, 4 Mart. N. 8. (L) 361.

: Browne vs. Dunn, 6 Reports (Eng.), 67, is digested
in 5 Wews Eng. Case Law Dig., p. 987, as holding that
if a solicitor reasonably believes that his serviees mm:
be required by a possible client, who does afterwards
retain him, all communication passing between the goli-
citor and client, leading up to the retainer and relevant
to it, and having that and nothing else, in view, are
privileged.

It 1s TaE Dury ov AN Arroryey Nor To Discrose Facts
Revarive To THE LartEr’s Pasr
CrimMiyar, WRONGDOIXG.

See foregoing cases, and—
Wigmore, Evidence, Sec. 2298

‘It is possible, of course, to take merely the prae-
tical point of view, and to declare that the privilege
must at least cease to be a cloak for criminal con-
spiracy. . . . But it seems hardly necessary
thus to do violence to the theory of the privilege.
Looking at the reasons of policy on which it rests,
they appear by their natural limits to end with the
same conclusion. They predicate the need of con-
fidence on the part not only of injured persong, but
also of those who, being already wrongdoers in part
or all of their cause, are seeking legal advice suit-
able for their plight. The confidence of such per-
sons may legitimately be protected, wrongdoers
though they have been, becawse . . . the element
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of wrong is not always found separated from an ele-
ment of right; because, even when it is, a legal ad-
viser may properly be employed to obtain the best
available or lawful means of making redress; and
because the legal adviser can wot habitually be placed
in the position of an iformer. But these reasons
all censes to operate at a certain point, namely, where
the desired advice refers not to prior wrongdoing,
but to futwure wrongdoing.”’

Costigan, Cases on Legal Ethies, p. 97:

A solicitor, in his professional capacity, had obtained
from a client information which, if disclosed to the
Queen’s Proctor, would, in all probability, prevent a mis-
carriage of justice, and inquired whether he ought to
disclose it as an officer of the Court.

The Council of the Law Society, a committee of the
Association of Solicitors of England, expressed the opin-
ion that it is the duty of a solicitor not to disclose secrets
confided to him by his client. Qpinion of Council, Jan.
12, 189%4.

State vs. Rocker (1906), 130 Towa 239; 106
N. W. 645:

The defendant was indicted for the crime of murder
in the first degree. The trial resulted in his convietion,
and from the judgment he appealed. Reversed.

Bishop, J.: ‘1. August Schroder, the person
alleged to have been murdered, came to his death on
June 30, 1900. It seems that, shortly thereafter, the
defendant, Charles Rocker, was arrested upon in-
formation filed before a justice of the peace, charg-
ing him with the murder of Schroeder, and upon
hearing he was discharged. He then commenced »
civil- netion for malicious prosecution against his
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accuser, and one of the attorneys employed by him
was Simon Fisher, who thereafter, as county attor-
ney, signed the indietment which forms the basis of
the present proceeding. Before pleading, defend-
ant filed a motion to quash the indietment, supported
by affidavits, basing the sume upon the faets above
stated, and the further averment that, as his attor
ney in said civil action, Fisher became possessed of
all the information defendant had respecting the
death of Shroeder and the circumstances and evi.
dence in relation thereto. The motion then repre-
sents that Fisher made use of the infermation and
knowledge thus obtained in condueting the examina-
tion of witnesses before the grand Jury, in advising
the grand jury, and in preparing the indietment
voted and returned against the defendant. Notwith-
standing the faet that Fisher made no attempt at
denial of the matters thus charged, the motion was
overruled.

““We think it should have been sustained. 1t is
true the charge made was in general terms, but from
the mere fact of a retainer in the civil action, it mmst
be presumed that Fisher became possessed of every
fact either known to Rocker or concerning which e
had information from others respeeting the death
of Shroeder and the circumstances and causes thers-
of. The communication, it may readily be gup-
posed, would include the faets eoncerning his own
life and character, as such might beecome material in
various ways. All this would naturally follow o
retainer. It was necessary, in the first instance, to
enable the attorney to determine whether or not a
eause of action existed, and, in the next place, to
prepare for a presentation of the ease in conrt and
meet any opposition presented in the way of de-
fense. Now, by statute it is made the duty of an
attorney ‘to maintain inviolate the confidence and
at any peril to himself, to preserve the secret of his
client.” Not only is thig true by statute, but it ia
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true by every consideration of the ethics of the pro-
fession. And it has been held repeatedly that an
attorney, who has once been made the recipient of
the confidence of a client concerning a certain sub-
Ject-matter, is thereafter disqualified from acting
for any other party adversely interested in such sub-
ject-matter.”’

Judgment reversed and case remanded.

23 Am. & Eng. Ency. of Law (2nd Ed.), 68.

28 R. C. L., Sec. 147, p. 558; Sec. 165, p. 575.

Robson vs. Kemp, 3 Esp. 52.

Wheatley vs. Williams, 1 M. & W. 533.

Freeman vs. Brewster, 93 Ga. 648.

Dietrich vs. Mitchell, 43 I11. 40.

Heister vs. Davis, 3 Yeates (Pa.), 4.

Ex parte McDonough, 170 Cal. 230; 149 Pac.
566.

People vs. Clark (Cala.), 203 Pac. 781.

May not be compelled to give address of client, if ascer-
tained in communications for the purpose of obtaining
advice.

23 Am. & Ency. of Law (2nd Ed.), 75.

28 R. (. L., Sec. 153, pp. 564, 564

Ex parte McDonough, 170 Cal. 230; 149 Pac.
266; Ann. Cases 1916 E 327; 1.. R. A.
1916 C 593; Ann Cas. 1913A 29.

Cox vs. Beckett, 11 Jur. N. S. 88.

Walton vs. Fairehild (N. Y. City St. Spee. T.),
4 N. Y. Supp. 552.

Ex parte Campbell, 1.. R. 5 Ch. 703.

Fix parte Official Receiver, 60 L. H. N. 8. 109;
5 Morrell 286.

Hooper vs. Hareourt, 111 Bl 534.

Ramsbotham vs. Senior, I.. R. S, Eq. 575.

119

An attorney will not be ordered in a eivil suit to dis
close the address of his client in order to enable the
moving party to arrest on a criminal charge.

Harris vs. Holler, 19 L. J. Q. B, N. S.,62;7
Dowl. & 1. 319.

Nor will a solicitor be ordered to disclose his elient s
address, when sought by the moving party for the pur
pose of serving process upon him,

Clark vs. Compton, 4 New Reports 15.

Heath ve. Crealock, L. R. 15 Eq. 257.

Re. Trainor, 146 App. Div. 117; 130 N. Y.
S. 682.

Communications after the erime is committed, with
reference thereto, are within the general rule as to privi
lege and must not be disclosed.

23 Am. & Eng. Ency. of Law (2nd Ed.) 79
(p. C.).

Alexander vs. U. S,, 138 U. 8. 353.

Carency vs. Taunahill, 1 Hill (N. Y.) 33.

Hartness vs. Brown, 21 Wash. 655.

The privilege is not lost by the termination ef the rela-
tion of client and attorney, whoese ‘““mouth is shut for
ever.”’

23 Amn. & Eng. Encey. of Law (2nd Ed.) 80, 81.

2 Laws of England, Sec. 660, p. 394,

28 R C. L., Sec. 160, pp. 570, 571.

Hodges vs. Millikin, 1 Bland (2nd Ed.) 503,
509.

Chase’s Case, 1 Bland (2nd Fd.) 206, 222,

Chew vs. Farmers’ Bank- 2 Md. Ch. 231, 240,
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Hunter vs. Van Bornhorst, 1 Md. 504, 509-511.
People vs. Pratt, 133 Mich. 125; 67 L. R. A.

(4]

9...1).

Lanasa vs. State, 109 Md. 612, 617-618.

See Munson’s Manual of Elementary Practice, page
62, Lawyer’s Duty to Client, Sec. 58:

‘e must faithfully preserve his client’s seecrets.’’
Seection 71:

“Professional Communications.—At ecommon law
as well ag by statute all communications made by the
client to his attorney in the course of his employ-
ment ave privileged,—even if the attorney is not re-
tained, and whether or not the communication is im-
portant, or has been given without the pledge of
secreey, ete.”’ (page 77).

The same effect, see—

Sharswood’s Legal Ethies, p. 86, note and
cases cited.

From Weeks on Attorney-at-TLaw (2nd Ed.), page 312,
Sec. 149:

“Injunction of Secrecy Unnecessary—Effect of
Declining Retainer.—To entitle a client to the pro-
teetion of the rule, it is not essential that he be ap-
prised of it, or that he enjoin secrecy upon the attor-
ney, nor that the client should be aware of his right.
Declarations made to an attorney with reference to
his employment in a cause fall under the privilege,
although the attorney declines the engagement, be-
cause the latter may not be able to determine
whether to render or withhold kis professional aid
undil the applicant has disclosed the mevrits of his

»
Cate,
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And Section 144, page 305:

‘“The general rules established by an apparent
weight of authority, independent of statutory pro-
visions, may then be stated in regard to privileged
communications as follows: An attorney is privi
leged from giving evidence of any confidential eom
munication made to himn by his elient, or concerning
which he has been informed in his professional
capacity as attorney for the client. The privilege is
that of the client, and nol that of the attorney."

And Section 154, page 334:

e It is enough to enable the protection

of the law to apply, that a legal adviser is sought for
the purpose of confidential professional advice with
a view either to the prosecution of a claim or 1 de-
fense against a claim.’’

And Section 155, page 331

‘“The mode by which the information is eomminni-
cated . . . is nol important. . . . The pol
icy of the law allows a man to make the best defense
in his power; whatever may be his delinguency, he
18 permitted to coufer freely with his counsel . . .
without the peril of having his confidence betrayed
under the forms of law,”’ ete.

And Section 166, page 358:

“Privilege applied to frandulent transactions con-
sulting attorney as to making frandnlent convey-
ance privileges, ete., ete.”

And Section 181, page 377:

Y An altorney in a criminal cage is bownd by the
same rules of confidential commusications as in civil
cases. He canmot be compelled and ocught wot to
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disclose anything in evidence against his client,
cither before the Grand Jury or Court, which has
been communicated to him in the course of his em-
ployment, ete., ete.”’

And Section 175, page 368:

“ . . . DBut the Court will not make an order
upon a solicitor compelling him to disclose the ad-
dress of his client, the defendant, who has absconded,
and whom plaintiff seeks to serve with a subpoena
duces tecum, ete.”’

Ex Parte Cambell: Re. Catheart, 23 Law
Times Reports, New Series, 289:

‘1 stated in the course of the argument that if
this gentleman’s residence had been concealed, and
if he is hiding for some reason or other, and the
solicitor says: ‘I have only known it because he
has communicated that fact to me, and not communi-
cated it to the rest of the world; that he has com-
municated it to me as his solicitor for the purpose
of being advised by me in the matter,” that would
make it a matter of professional confidence.’’

Re Arnot: Ex Parte Chief Official Receiver
(1888), 60 Law Times Reports, New
Series, 109:

On July 31 the debtor departed from his dwelling
house, and took with him all his furniture. On August
1 he had an interview with his solicitor, who was at that
time unaware that an act of bankruptey had been com-
mitted.  On October 4 the debtor communicated by let-
ter with his solicitor. In the proceedings that ensued
the solicitor’s elerk was examined as a witness, and de-
clined to disclose the debtor’s address, on the ground
“that it had been communicated confidentially to him, as

3

the debtor’s solicitor, for the purpose of advising his
¢lient in reference to these proceedings, and that such
address had not been, so far as he believed, communi-
cated by the debtor to the rest of the world.” On appli-
cation being made to compel the witness to diselose the
address:

Held, that the address was under the cireumstances n
privileged communication, and as such need not be dis-
closed.

‘““Cave, J.—I am of opinion that in this ecase the
witness was entitled to decline to answer the ques-
tion. The first ground suggested was that the abode
of a client must always be disclosed; there is no
authority for that proposition at all. 1t was said
that the address must be disclosed unless the client
consults his solicitor as to what his address should
be, but that is not the basis of privilege. The whole
matter is explained in the case cited of Ex Parte
Jampbell: Re. Catheart (uwbi sup.). In that case
James, L. J., says: ‘If indeed the gentleman’s resi.
dence had-been concealed; if he was in hiding for
some reason or other, and the solicitor had said : *“1
only know my client’s residence because he has com-
municated it to me confidentially, as his solicitor, for
the purpose of being advised by me, and he has not
communicated it to the rest of the world,”” then the
client’s residence would have been a matter of pro-
fessional confidence.’ ”’

Costigan, Cases on Legal Ethies (1017), p.
365 :
Committee on Professional Ethies, N. Y. ('o. Lawvers’
Association:

“Question 70: When an accused person has de-
posited cash bail for his appearance for trial on a
eriminal charvge and has also made a deposit of
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money with his Jawyer, subject to the order of the
accused, in case of convietion; and the bail is for-
feited— .

1. Isit improper for the lawyer to honor an erder
from his eclient, who has fled to Canada, directing
the payment to one outside the State of the deposit
made with his lawyer!?

2. Is it incmnbent upon the lawyer to advise the
police officials of the receipt of a communication
from his elient diselosing his whereabouts and en-
closing such order?

Answer: In the opinion of this eommittee there
is no impropriety in the lawyer’s honoring the order
of his client in respeet to the disposition of his
client’s property. The client has not forfeited all
awid rights wor his ownership of property by becom-
ing a fugitive from justice. In the opwion of the
committee it would be improper for the lawyer to
disclose the information; his obligation to his client,
imposed by our law in the interest of the supposedly
proper and satisfactory administration of justice, a
rule which is binding upon the lawyer, precludes him
fram making the disclosure tc any one without his
chient’s express consent.”’

“The committee bases its latter opinion upon its
view that the professional relation extends to the

date of the ecommunication, notwithstanding the
other Taets stated in the opinion.”’

In re. Billington (N. Y., 1913), 156 App. Div.
63, 141 N. Y. Supp. 16:

An attorney for a fugitive from justice who goes be-
yond the mere giving of adviee, and offers to forward a
letter to throw the authorities off the scent, and to bribe
a publie officer, and who informs the authorities, falsely,
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that he does not know the whereabouts of the fagitive,
will be disbarred. Page 21:

““The respondent (atloruey) informs his client
that he had obstructed the distriet attorney of this
comuty in the performante of his duty by making
false statements as to his knowledge of Stade’s (the
client’s) address, and proposed to further obstruct
him in the performance of his duty by proeuring a
letter which he understood would fall into the hauds
of the distriet altorney to be posted in Buffalo
for the avowed purpose of throwimg the authorities
off the track. The respondent had represented
Stade as his counsel. He had, of course, the right to
advise Stade as to the course that he should adopt
which would best protect his interests. When called
upon by the public authorities for wmformalion as to
Stade, he had the right lo refuse lo answer any
questions as to a fact which had been communicaled
to him by his client, or which he had ascertained
the course of his professional employment. But he
certainly was not justified in giving the distriet at-
torney or the public anthorities false information or
mis-stating facts whieh would obstruet the district
attorney in the performance of his duties, or to do
any act which would assist any person charged with
a crime escaping prosecution therefor, or prevent
or obstruct the officers of the law from performing
their duties.

“I wish to clearly emphasize the fact that this
offense is not that the respondent gave o his elient
advice, but that this attorney proposed ta his client
that he, the attorney, would, if furnished with money,
bribe or endeavor to bribe a police officer to refrain
from diacharging his duty, and that, if Tornished
with a decoy letter, he, the attorney, wonld canse it
to be posted at a place in New York State, so that,
when 1t was received by the public anthorities, they
would be thrown off the track. It was the act that
the respondent, an attorney and counsellor at law,
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himself proposed to do that constitutes the offense,
not any advice that he gave to his client as to what
his client should do; and it is this offense that we
are called upon to consider.”’

Harris vs. Holler (1849), 19 Law Journal,
New Series, Queen’s Bench (Eng.) 62:

The plaintiff, a female who had been employed by the
defendant to take care of his house, but who had subse-
quently left it, brought an action against him for breach
of promise of marriage. The defendant had threatened
to proceed criminally against her on a charge of taking
away some of his property from the house. The Cowrt
refused to compel the plaintiff’s attorney to disclose her
place of residence, as the defendant knew who she was,
and had avowed that he sought the information with a
view to effecting her arrest on the criminal charge,

‘“Much interest was excited some years ago in
England, by the eircumstances atteﬁding the de-
fence of Courvoisier, indicted for the murder of
Lord Williamm Russell. The crime was one of great
atroeity. It came out after his conviction, that dur-
ing the trial he had confessed his guilt to his coun-
sel, of whom the eminent barrister, Charles Phillips
Fisq., was one. Mr. Phillips was accused of haviné
endeavored, notwithstanding this confession, to
fasten suspicion on the other servants in the houge-
to induce the belief that the police had conspired with
them to manufacture evidence against the prisoner
and to impress the jury with his own personal belief
in the innocence of his client. Tow far these accusa-
tions were just in point of fact was the subject of
lively diseussion in the newspapers and periodicals
of the time.
~ "*The language of counsel, on such oceasions, dur-
ing the exeitement of the trial, in the fervor ,of an
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address to the jury, is not to be calmly and nicely
scanned in the printed report. The testimony of such
a witness as Baron Parke, at the time and on the
spot—he, too, aware of the exaet position of Mr.
Phillips—and that confirmed by Chief Justice Tin-
dal, is conclusive. To charge him with aefiug false.
hood, that ig, with presenting the case as it ap
peared upon the testimony, earnestly and confident-
ly, means that he did not do that which would have
been worse than retiving from his post.

‘“The non-professiona! as well as professional
public in England, however, agreed in saying that
he would not have been justitied in withdrawing from
the case: he was still bound to defend the necused
upon the evidence; though a knowledge of his guilt,
from whatever source derived, might and ought
materially to influence the mode of the defence. No
rightminded man, professional or otherwise, will
eontend that it would have been right in him to have
lent himself to a defence, which might have ended,
had it been successful, in bringing down an unjnsi
suspicion upon an innocent persoi; or even to stand
up and falsely pretend a confidence ir the truth and
justice of his cause, when be did not feel. But there
were those on this side of the Atlantic who demurred
to the conelusion, that an advocate 18 under s moral
obligation to maintain the defence of a man who has
admitted to him his guilt. Men have been known,
however, under the influence of some delusion, to
confess themselves guilty of erimes which they had
not committed ; and hence, to deeline acting ns coon
sel in such a ease, is a dangeroung refmement in
morals. Nothing seems plainer than the proposi-
tion, that a person accused of a erime is to be tried
and convicted, if convicted at all, upon evidence, and
whether quilty or not gwilty, if the evidence is insuffi-
cient to conviet him, he has a legal right to be aequit-
ted. The tribunal that conviets withont sufficient
evidence, may deecide according to the fact; but the
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next jury, aeting on the same prineiple, may condemn
an innocent man. [If this be so, is not the prisoner
in every case entitled to have the evidence carefully
sifted, the weak points of the prosecution exposed,
the reasonable doubts presented which should weigh
in his favor? And what offence to truth or morality
does his advoecate commit in discharging that duty
to the best of his ability. What apology can be
make for throwing up his brief? The truth he can-
not disclose; the law seals his lips as to what has
thus been communicated to him in confidence by his
chent. He has no alternative, then, but to perform
his duty.

Sharswood on Legal Ethies (5th Ed.), pp.
103-107.

‘It has often been said broadly that statements
made to an attorney, by his client in the presence of
the adverse party, are not privileged. 40 Cye. 2377.
However, in the cases cited in support of such ex-
pressions, either the testimony of the attorneys was
called for in litigation between his client and the
opponent who had been present when the communi-
cation was made (or their representatives), or else
the distinction was not noted between that situation
and one where a stranger sought to elicit the testi-
mony. The rule has more accurately been thus
stated (the italics being ours except as to the first
italicized phrase), the language being in part
adopted from that of the opinion in Brittan vs. Lor-
enz, 45 N. Y. 51, 57:

‘¢ ¢A communication between client and attorney
is not confidential when made in the presence of the
other party. When it is made in the presence of all
the parties to the controversy, evidence of the com-
munication is competent between such parties, and
the attorney may be required, in an action betiween
them, to testify thereto.’ ”?

4 Jones on Evidence, Sec. 751b, p. 507.
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This distinetion and gualification as stated by Jones
m his valuable treatise on evidenee is supp()rt(-nf by the
weight of authority; and the rule may be thus stated:

The presence of a third party does not destroy the
confidential nature of the communication between the
attorney and the client, and the attorney wmay wot be
compelled to testify, although the third party may.

10 Ency. of Kvidence, 241.

Blunt vs. Kimpton, 155 Mass. 378; 20 N. K.
590.

Denver Tramway Co. vs. Owens, 20 Colo. 107,
129; 36 Pac. 848.

Kant vs. Kessler, 114 Pa. St. 650%; 7 Atl, 586,

Hartness vs. Brown, 21 Wash. 655; 59 Pae.
491.

Bower vs. State, 29 Ohio St. 542.

Moreover, when two parties are jointly interested and
seek advice of an attorney, the commumications are privi-
leged as to both.

Rochefoucauld vs. Bonstend, 74 1. T. N. S.
(Eng.) 783.

Chahoon’s Case, 21 (ratt. (Va.) 822 841,

1 Greenleaf on Evidenee, See. 245,

Standard Fire Ins Co. vs. Smithhart (Ky.),
211 S. W. 441.

28 R. C. L., Sec. 155.

23 Am. & Eng. Eney. of Law (2nd Ed.) 65.

Murphy vs. Waterhouse, 113 Colo. 467; 45
Pue. 866.

Hageman on Privileged Communication, Sec,
75.
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The fact that the communication between client and
attorney is overheard does not release the attorney
from his disqualification to testify, although the party
hearing is usually competent to testify.

Hoy vs. Morriss, 13 Gray (Mass.) 519.
Goddard vs. Garner, 28 Conn. 172.

Statements made and advice given by the attorney
are privileged.

23 Am. & Eng. Ency of Law (2nd Ed.) 56, 57.

Combe vs. London, 4 Y. & C. Exch. 139.

Woods vs. Woods, 4 Hare 83.

Richards vs. Jackson, 18 Ves. 472.

Lyell vs. Kennedy, 9 App. Cas. 81.

Churton vs. Frenen, 2 Drew & Son 39%4.

ix parte Abbott, 7 Montreal Leg. N. 318.

Liggett vs. Glenn, 4 U. S. App. 438.

Jenkinson vs. State, 5 Blackf. (Ind.) 465.

George vs. Hurst, 31 Ind. App. 660.

People vs. Hillhouse, 80 Mich. 580.

Riley vs. Conner, 79 Mich. 497.

Erickson vs. Milwaukee ete. R. Co., 93 Minn.
414.

Matter of Whitlock (Supr. Ct. Spec. T.), 15
Civ. Pro. (N.Y.) 204; 51 Hun. 351.

Austin, ete., Mfg. Co. vs. Heiser, 6 S. Dak. 429.

Communications with view to employment within the
rule, although the attorney should decline the case.

23 Am. & Eng. Ency. of Law (2nd Ed.) 63.

28 R. C. L., Sec. 145, p. 556.

Cromack vs. Heatheote, 2 Brod. & B. 4; 4
Mov. 357.
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State vs. Tally, 102 Ala. 25.

Hawes vs. State, 88 Ala. 37.

Denver Tramway Co. vs. Owens, 20 Colo. 107.

Peck vs. Boone, 90 Ga. 767.

Brown vs. Matthews, 77 Ga. 1.

Young vs. State, 65 Ga. 525.

Thorp vs. Galway, 85 111. 611.

Helbig vs. Citizens’ Ins. Co., 108 111. App. 624.

Wade vs. Ridley, 87 Me. 368.

Gusler vs. Garland, 11 Smed. & M. (Miss.) 136.

Cross vs. Riggins, 50 Mo. 335.

Nelson vs. Becker, 32 Nebr. 99.

Bean vs. Quimby, 5 N. H. 94.

Bacon vs. Frishie, 80 N. Y. 394.

Ney vs. Troy (Suprm. Ct. Genl. T.), 13 N. Y.
Supp. 679.

Surface vs. Bentz, 228 . St. 610; 77 Atl. 922
21 Ann. Cas. 215; 66 A. .. R. 216.

Hattness vs. Brown, 21 Wash. 655.

Bruley vs. Garvin, 105 Wis. 625.

Orton vs. MeCard, 33 Wis. 205.

Rule protects all knowledge obtained from the relation
whether by words, sigus, acts or his own observations.

From Chew vs. Farmers’ Bank, 2 Md. Ch. 210:
Head Note: ‘‘The rule that communications which
a client makes to his legal adviser for the pur-
pose of professional advice or aid, shall not be dis
closed, stands upon snch firm grounds of publie pol-
icy, and is so well fortified by authority, that it
would be impossible to contest it.

“Upon every such communication, made by a
party to hs counsel, attorney or solicitar, the seal
of the law is placed and remains fovever, unless re-
moved by the party himself, for whose protection
the rule was established.”’
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Grour Two, Sus-Divisiox B.

II. The Acts and Declarations of Appellant After the
Night of August 23rd.

Exceptions 9th, 73rd, 74th, 75th, 76th, 77th, 78th, 80th,
81st, 92nd, 93rd, 95th, 96th, 97th, 98th, 99th,
100th, 102nd, 103rd, 104th, 105th,
106th, 107th and 108th.

In the 9th Exeception, the State proved by General
Gaither on Saturday, August 26th, the appellant, who had
been denied all access to his client, Keller, requested per-
mission of General Gaither to see and talk to Keller,
and that while he was willing, the State’s Attorney’s of-
fice was not. (R., 33, 34.)

The Sun reporter, Sherwood, had been told by the ap-
pellant on August 24th that the boy Keller, who was then
in the hands of Captain Leverton, had valuable infor-
mation about the Norris case; and Sherwood said to ap-
pellant: “Don’t you suppose the police will arrest this
boy the instant that he gets in their hands?’’ and the ap-
pellant excepted to the witness being asked what appel-
lant’s reply was, but the Court allowed the witness to an-
swer: ‘‘He said something to the effect that he could get
bail for him, if be was arrested.”” (73rd and T4th Ex-
ceplions, R., 221, 222,

This was not referable to the alleged combination. The
appellant was the attorney for Keller in the matter of the
automobile, and in that connection Mr. Wolf was seeking
for him the good-will and lenient treatment of the an-
thorities, and his reply indicated how his client would
be protected against confinement by the police as a result
of the appellant’s act in turning him over to the police.
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The witness, Sherwood, was further allowed to testify
over the appellant’s objection: “* Well, Mr. Wolf said as
men frequently say to the newspaper reporting the thing.
I'don’t want you to use my name in conneetion with it
(76th Excoption, R., 223-224) ; and that, when he inguired
of him if he was to follow Leverton and the bov to the
pond, appellant’s veply was: “‘Well, he said. vou just
let your man follow Captain Leverton, something of that
sort.”’ (77th and 78th Exceptions, R. 224, 226). Aftoer the
Sun had printed the story, suggesting that Keller had
been put in to wreck the State's case, Sherwood saw
Wolf and is permitted to testify to a marked ehange in
the attitude and demeanor of the appellant, and the wit
ness further swore:

“A. T think I said that the artieles in the morn
ing papers represent Mr. Leach as saving—now, I
have difficulty in being exact about my words, but it
was something to the effect that he was the whole
head and front of the Norris case, sorvething of that
sort. Well, now that is not a good rendering of
what 1 am trying to say. 1 think mv words were
about like this: The articles in the morning papers
represent Mr. Leach as saving that vou are the chief
figure in this thing. Don’t you think you onght to say
something in justice to vourself? T am sure that was
the sense, if not the exact words.

“Q. What things were von referring to?

“A. I meant the murder ease and the attack. *1
meant the attack on the State's ense in the murder
case.

“Q. What was Mr. Wolf ’s veply to thdt?

“A. He said, 1 thank vou, Mr. Hllnru'nu-_l. I eun
take care of mysell.”" (30th nnd S1st Exceptions, R.,
229, 231.)
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And then Tompkins, another Sun reporter, continuing
to pester the appellant after he had been grossly and un-
fairly attacked, is given the privilege of saying that the
newspaper office could not get in touch with Wolf on
Thursday night; and on Friday morning (August 24th
and 25th) appellant said ‘‘he had nothing whatever to
say to me or to any one else connected with the Sun.”’
(92nd and 93rd Exceptions, R., 245, 246.)

From this refusal to try his case in the newspapers,
who were accusing him of being an arch malefactor, the
State deduced an evidence of guilt, confounding the in-
dignant silence of conscions innocence with that of guilty
fear.

Wharton on Crim. Law (10th Ed.), Sec. 678b,
et seq., 680, p. 1410.

And then Locke and Harwood are allowed to testify to
a conversation the appellant had with them on Friday,
August 25th. These two witnesses were the associate
editor and the editor of the News and the American. They
gave their version of Mr. Wolf’s emphatic denial to them
of any part in the alleged conspiracy and of any purpose
to do anything except to aid the prosecution of the erimi-
nals. Mr. Wolf made no admission of guilt, but declared
his entire innocence and showed how greatly he was af-
fected by his unparalleled situation and by the combina-
tion of the press of Baltimore in a vigorous campaign
againgt him,

Nor was this testimony in rebuttal, as the apnellant had
not testified. 1t is difficult to nnderstand why these gen-
tlemen went on the stand, except in emulation of, and to
match the two witnesses on the part of the Sun and to
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preserve the parity in public between competing papers.
(95th, 96th, 97th, 98¢k, 99th and 1004h reeptions, R., 249,
258.)

His visit to the editorial web of The News was an im-
| rudent act, only justified by appellant’s conscionsness
of innocence and the rectitude of his conrse. He could
not speak freely to these gentlemen, for he was bound
by his obligations of a lawyer to keep silent in respect to
many things. His defense was, therefore, and neees-
sarily, an incomplete one. He could not diselose the visit
of Socolow to his house without heing false {o his oblign-
tion as a lawyer.

Publicly assailed in the press of Baltimore, his motives
questioned, his honor attacked, and his right to a fair
and impartial trial imperiled by the campaign relent-
lessly waged by powerful influence to eneompass his por-
sonal and professional ruin, the appellant went with Mr.
J. Abner Sayler, an attorney, and Mr. Stevenson, an as-
sistant in the appellant’s office. to the Central Poliee Sta-
tion on Saturday, Augnst 2Gth, to see Keller and hear
from him what truth there was in the flving reports.
What he did was perfectly proper and justified, vet i is
twisted to serve as proof against him. With gusto the
State presented the fact that some one, unknown to Wolf,
Stevenson and Savler, tried to attraet the attention of
the three from a far off station window, and that thes
tried to find out what the party wanted, but conld not.
(102nd, 103rd, 104th, 107th, 108fh Erceptions,, K. 260,
268). And in the 105tk and 106th Erceptions, the State
proved that Sayler at the request of the appellant, asked
of Captain Burns what bail would be required of Keller.

(R., 264, 266.)
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In Bloomer vs. State, 48 Md., 521, 533, 534, where the
conspiracy was in respect to the sale of stolen annual
railroad passes and tickets, in which the conspirators in-
serted the names, the offer of one of the conspirators to
buy back one of the fraudulent passes was rightly held
admissible. The conspirator was after the tangible evi-
dence against him, and no honest, creditable purpose
could be aseribed to his act, except ou the theory of resti-
tution, which is in itself an avowal of guilt. (Wigmore
on Kvidence, Sec. 278.) The suppression of evidence, or
an attempt, is quite a different matter from what was ad-
mitted against this appellant under the aforegoing ex-
ceptions set out under this sub-division.

The report was in circulation through the agency of the
press that the appellant was a eriminal on the statement
of his client, who was being held, as if in Spain, without
being permitted to see or hold communication with any
one, i. 2., incommunication.

Why should net the attorney especially want to see the
accusing client under these cireumstances ? Why should
he commit his explanation to newspapers which had false-
ly assailed him in print, without a word of inquiry or of
warning! Why should an inference of guilt be drawn
against the lawyer, who was faithful to his ethical obli-
gation of silence to his own hurt! When thig testimony
was permitted the trial Court knew the appellant’s rea-
sons for his conduct. They were so patent they did not
require the poor service of a statement. As Wigmore
writes :

“"The general principle of Relevancy tells us that
injerence of assent may safely be made only when no
other explanalion is concistent with silonee.”’ 2 Wig-
more on Evidence, Secs. 1071, 1072 (3), (4). A
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In the 75th Exception the witness, Sherwood, a reporter
on the Evening Sun, was asked the question :

“Q. Now, then did Mr. Wolf give yYou an aceount
or partial account of the Norris murder?”’ (R. 222.)
lhis question was objected to on the following gronnds :

I. It related to a matter whieh oceurred before the al-
leged conspiracy was formed, and its answer could re
flect no light on anything said or done in the course of
the conspiracy or in the prosecution of the design of the
conspirators.

2. It was pure hearsay, as the appellant did not see
the assassination.

3. It did not indicate the source of his information,
and there were quite a number who witnessed the erime.

4. It was not in contradiction as Wolf had not testi-
fied when the question was asked.

5. It was an irrelevant and immaterial conversation
whose date was not fixed.

Yet the question was allowed to be asked and answerad,
apparently on the theory announced by the Court on page
263 of the Reeord:

““A. He said he was a sharp little boy.

(Mr. Parke) ls this in furtherance of the con-
gpiracy !

(The Court) Whatever My, Wolf does is in fur.
therance of the conspiracy, wes. That is al! admisgsi-
ble’’ (R. 263).

The witness replied to the question in the 70th excep-

tion:
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“Oh, he said something to the effect that the man who
shot Mr. Norris, that, as I remember it, it was something
like this, the man who shot Mr. Norris stood in front of
him and said, stick them up, stick them up, and Norris was
slow about doing it and there was some scuffle, then Norris
kicked the man and then the man shot him”’ (R. 223).

The date of this conversation between the reporter and
appellant is most material, as the appellant did not see
either Keller or Socolow until the night of Wednesday,
August 23rd. The State did not fix the date when the
testimony was introduced, and Sherwood was unable to
ive it when this information was sought, stating, ¢ Well,
| i1 not sure when he told me that.”’

Q. Well, what is your best impression and recol-
lection? A. The best that I can do is to say that I
did not see Mr. Wolf until Monday, which was the
21st of August, I think it was, and the last time 1 saw
Mr. Wolf was Friday, the 25th, and it was sometime
between those two dates,’’

but that he had not told him on Friday, and had not seen
him on Wednesday (R. 223, 236). And the witness is not
able to say that what appellant told him had not pre-
viously been in the public press, but does know that he
has ‘““heard two versions very much like that since’’ (R.
236).

This irrelevant, collateral and immaterial testimony
was pounced upon by the State, with an avidity in direet
proportion to their distressful lack and need of testimony,
as convineing proof that Wolf was a conspirator. It was
vehemently argued that none but one in guilty association
with Socolow and Keller could have this information.
Conjecture and speculation usurped the place of proof in
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the reasoning of the State. The prosecution could not
say hqur Wolf got the story, but, no matter the souree, it
established him a scoundrel.

Cross vs. State, 118 Md. 667, 668.

Grovp Two, Sus-Divisiox C.

Acts and Declarations of Third Parties in the 4bsence
of Wolf.

30th, 89th and 90th Exceptions.

In the 30th exception is presented the admissibility of
Detective Burns’ statement that on Thursday, August
24th, he went before the Grand Jury with reference to the
indictment of Smith, Carey, Socolow, Hart, Allers,
Blades and Heard (R. 54). This was prejudicial and ir-
relevant.

In the 89th and 90th exceptions, the relation on August
24th by Captain Leverton to Tompkins, the Sun reporter,
of what Keller had said to the Captain in Wolf’s absence
was permitted (R. 241, 242). Tt was hearsay testimony
of an injurious nature, and irrelevant.

By reason of the manifold errors on this record, we
respectfully submit there should be a reversal so that at
one time the rules of law and of evidence may be vindi-
cated and justice be done to the appellant.

THOMAS H. ROBINSON,
F. NEAL PARKE,

H. WEBSTER SMITTI,
GERALD W. HILL,
SAMUEL K. DENNIS,

Attorneye for Appellant.
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BRIEF FOR APPELLEE.

This is an appeal from a judgment of the Criminal
Court of Baltimore, whereby the appellant was fined in
the amount of One Hundred Dollars and costs, upon con-
vietion of the offense of conspiracy.

STATEMENT.

The appellant was indieted jointly with Walter Soco-
low and John Keller. The indietment containg nine
counts, each charging conspiracy. The substance of the
charge is: That the State’s Attorney for the City of
Baltimore and the Police Commissioner of that City and
the members of the Police Department thereof having,
after an extensive investigation, secured the evidence
necessary to establish the identity and gecure the indiet-
ment and prosecution of those guilty of the robbery and
muarder of one William B. Norris, whieh ocenrred on
August 18th, 1922, in which evidence was included tlhie
confession of one Allers, which, with eorroborative evi.
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dence then in hand, established the guilt of said Allers
and of Charles P. Carey, John .. Smith, James Hart and
Walter Socolow, the persons charged (Wolf, Socolow and
Keller) conspired on August 23rd, 1922, to impede and
obstruet the due administration of justice in the investi-
gation and consideration by the Grand Jury of the charges
against the above named persons, well knowing that the
State’s Attorney was about to lay the said evidence be-
fore the Grand Jury, and to impede the Grand Jury in its
investigation, consideration and action in the premises
and to hinder the prosecution of the above named per-
sons and to destroy the faith which the State’s Attorney
and police authorities placed in the results of their in-
vestigation and to discredit and nullify the confession
of Allers and thereby mislead the said authorities in
their endeavors to bring the above named persons to
indictment and trial for the crime perpetrated by them
as aforesaid.

This is the gist of the principal allegations of the in-
dictment. It is impracticable to set forth in full, or
even to summarize, all the allegations therein, but other
allegations, omitted from the above summary, may be
referred to in the course of this brief as oceasion arises.

A severance having been granted to John Keller, upon
his motion and the assent of the State, a demurrer was
filed to the indictment and to each count thereof, which
demurrer was overruled, and the defendants Wolf and
Soeolow then submitted under a plea of not guilty be-
fore Judges Gorter, Bond, Duffy, Stanton and Stein.

A verdiet of guilty having been rendered as to both
the defendants last above named, and a motion for a new
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trial and motion in arrest of judgment having been over
ruled by the Supreme Bench of Baltimore City, the ap-
pellant was fined as above set forth and forthwith ap
pealed from the judgment imposing that fine.

ARGUMENT.

The action of the Supreme Bench of Baltimore City
in overruling the motion for a new trial is, of course,
not before this Court, nov can the action of the Supreme
Bench in overruling the motion in arrest of judgment be
considered here, as that motion is not set forth in the
record. The action of the Criminal Court of Baltimore
in overruling the demnrrer is, we understand, not seri-
ously questioned upon this appeal,and it would seem rea-
sonably clear that this action was correct in view of what
was said as to the offense of conspiracy in State vs.
Buchanan, 5 H. & J. 317, 351. We shall, therefore, say
nothing further upon this point, but shall proceed at
once to discuss the facts developed upon the actual trial
of the case, the general prineciples of law applicable to
various phases of the evidence, and such of the indi-
vidual exceptions as it seems necessary to consider. Be-
fore commencing this discussion, it may be well to call
the attention of the Court to the fact that there are, in
all, one hundred and twenty exeeptions, contained in a
record which covers more than four hundred printed
pages. In order to lessen, so far as possible, the labor
of the Conrt in referring to this record, to the several
exceptions and to the testimony of the various witnesses,
we have prepared an index, which will be printed as an
appendix to this brief.
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The evidence produced on the part of the State tended
to show that Mr. William B. Norris was murdered about
9.30 A. M. on August 18, 1922, at Park avenue and Madi-
son street, in Baltimore City; that Walter Socolow com-
mitted the murder by shooting Mr. Norris with a pistol,
and that Hart, Carey, Smith and Allers were all present,
aiding and abetting the crime. That Harry B. Wolf vis-
ited General Gaither, Police Commissioner of Baltimore
City, on the day of the murder, and after it had been
committed, and cxpressed a willingness to assist the
Police Department in finding the perpetrators. That,
immediately after the murder was committed, the Police
Department sought Hart, Socolow, Smith and a man
named Lewis, of whom Smith and Lewis were appre-
hended on the afternoon of the same day on which the
erime was perpetrated; that Mr. Wolf called at the sta-
tion house to see Smith (it will be seen from his own
testimony that he also saw Carey), asked the Captain of
Detectives when these men would have a hearing, and told
him that he had the wrong men; that on August 22 Allers
surrendered and that early the next morning he confessed
the crime and implicated certain of his accomplices, in-
cluding Smith, Carey and Socolow; that from the
day of the crime (Friday, August 18th) until the
following Wednesday (August 23rd) Socolow and
Hart were in hiding in Baltimore City, and that during a
considerable part of that time John Keller was in their
company; that on the evening of Wednesday, August
23rd, Hart having fled from Baltimore that day, Socolow
and Keller went to the home of Mr. Wolf, that Socolow
asked Mr. Wolf to defend him, which Mr. Wolf declined
to do, that in the course of conversation Socolow men-
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tioned that Keller was wanted on an amtomobile charge,
that Keller suggested to Mr. Wolf that he {Keller) tell
the police a false story to the effeet that Allers had in-
duced Keller to dispose of a eash box taken from Mr.
Norris, and that he heard Allers say that he was **fram-
ing’’ Socolow; that Wolf assented thereto, and, in pur-
suance of the arrangement then made, Wolf that
night ecalled up Captain Leverton of the Balti-
more Police Department and asked bim to call the next
morning at his (Mr. Woli’s) office, where he introduced
him to Keller, who gnided Captain Leverton to the place
of concealment of the said eash box and the license tags
used on the antomobile in which the murderers escaped
from the scene of the crime; that thereafter Keller, hav-
ing established himself (or thinking he had established
himselt) in the confidence of Captain Leverton, and also
in the confidence of the public at large, through the news-
papers, proceeded to tell members of the Police Depari-
ment the story previously agreed on between Keller,
Socolow and Wolf—that is, to use the words of Keller,
“about Allers taking me to the box instend of Hart and
Socolow, and that 1 heard Allers say be was framing
Socolow?" (Ree. 100), or, as Caplain Leverton says, was
framing Socolow, Smith and &ome others (Ree. 204), or,
according to Captain Hurley, Socolow, ** Wiggles" (mean-
ing Smith) and Carey (Ree. 70); that Keller referred to
Allers as a man whom he knew only under the name of
“ Chieago,” and that he afterwards identified Allers at the
Central Police Station s the man referred to in his narra
tive under the name of **Chicago.”” That Keller wus de-
tained in eustody at the Central Police Station, when
Wolf, after the substance of his story to the poliee had ap-
peared in the publie prints, attempted to communicate
with him. There was also evidence to the effeet that, dnr-
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ing the visit of Socolow and Keller to the home of Mr.
Wolf, Detective Hammersla of the Baltimore Police De-
partment called at Mr. Wolf’s home, and, in the course of
conversation with Mr. Wolf, sought his assistance in the
capture of those concerned in the murder of Mr. Norris
who were then still at large, and that Mr. Wolf told him
that he would give him any assistance in his power. KEvi-
dence was also given of conversations held by Mr. Wolf
with various persons connected with newspapers, espe-
cially the conversation which he held with Mr. Locke and
Mr. Harwood of the Baltimore N ews, in which, aceording
to Mr. Locke, Mr. Wolf told him that Keller had called at
his office on Wednesday afternoon—the fact being, as is
conceded, that Keller called at his home on Wednesday
night.

We think that this ontline shows the principal points
of the evidenee adduced by the State, whien covers about
two hundred and fifty pages of the printed record.

Much of this testimony was confirmed, and much was
contradieted, by the testimony on the part of the defence.
The appellant, whose testimony was in part corroborat-
ed by members of his family and household and by his
associate in the praectice of law, Mr. Stevenson, and his
clork, Mr. Meyler, testified to the follwoing effect : That,
having learned on Friday, August 18th, of the murder
of Mr. Norris, which was committed on that day, he went
that evening to General Gaither and offered to give him
any assistance consistent with his professional duty to
respect the eor fidence of his clients, and then proceeded
to tell General Gaither of certain information which he
—Mr. Wolf—had received as to the presence in Balti-
more of some non-residents whom he —Mr. Wolf—sus-
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peeted of having committed the erime, with their names,
o far as known to him, the kind of ears in which they
were travelling, and their movements in the early morn-
ing of the day of the murder. That on the night of the
same day Mr. Tompkins (of the Baltimore Sun) called
on him, and that he gave Mr. Tompkins the same infor-
mation which he bhad previously given 1o General
Gaither, and suggested a line of investigntion based on
that information. That he talked with Captain Leverton
that night, gave him the same information which he had
given to (eneral (aither and Mr. Tompkins, :-.m[! sug-
gested that Captain Leverton follow up that informa-
tion. That afterwards he made suggestions, from time
to time, to Mr. Tompkins and Mr. Sherwood {also of the
Baltimore Sun). That on the day after the murder Le
saw various men who were being held by the poliee for
investigation (including Smith, Carev and Lewis) un.:l.
told them that he would not represent any of them if
“they"—presumably the police authorities—told him
that ‘they_luul “anything on them."” That some days
later he talked with Mr. O’Conor (Assistant State’s At-
torney) about these men, and was assured that they
would be released on the Monday following if no definite
cause for holding them should appear before that time.
That on the night of Wednesday, Angust 23rd, while he
was at the dinner table with members of his family, his
sister-in-law (Clara Colien) having answered a ring of
the doorbell, came back to announee the call of two ter-
rible looking or two wild looking men, that he told Ler
to let them wait in the reeoption room, to which, after
finishing dinner, some half-hour later, he went to meet
them ; that, on seeing these men—Socolow and Keller—
he was much exeited, and, on turning, saw that he had
been joined by his wife, who was in o highly nervous
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state; that he resolved to keep cool, and took Socolow
and Keller back to the kitchen to wash up and get some-
thing to eat, and walked into the yard with his wife, try-
ing to quiet her; that afterwards he ushered Socolow
and Keller into the dining-room and told his butler,
George Taylor, to be on hand in case of trouble; that
immediately after this Detective Hammersla called ; that,
in conversation with Detective Hammersla, the only
reference made to the Norris murder (so far as witness
recalls) was the reference to Allers, when Mr. Wolf said
that he ‘‘did not believe that any of our Baltimore boys
would do anything like that.”” As to Mr. Wolf’s conver-
sation with Soeolow and Keller, his version is that noth-
ing was suggested as to Keller telling any false or mis-
leading story to the authorities, that he (Mr. Wolf) de-
clined to represent Socolow, that Keller told him that he
wanted to see him the next day about a charge pending
against him (Keller) relating to the theft or unlawful
use of an automobile, but that witness supposed this to
be a mere excuse for coming to his office in order to make
some revelation with regard to the Norris murder case,
with which he suspected Keller of being connected. He
said that he feared that if he should tell Detective Ham-
mersla of the presence of Socolow and Keller, this reve-
lation would lead to shooting in his (Mr. Wolf ’s) home,
and also that he felt himself prevented by his profes-
sional duty from disclosing to Detective Hammersla or
to Captain Leverton the fact that Socolow had called at
his home; that he introduced Keller to Captain Leverton
in order to assist Captain Leverton in his work on the
Norris murder case; that Mr. Locke was mistaken in his
statement that witness had told him that Keller called
to see him on Wednesday evening, that witness really
told Mr. Locke that Keller ealled on him on Wednesday
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night, that he tried to see Keller at the police station in
order to learn from him whether he had really made to
the authorities the statement, involving him (Mr. Wolf),
which appeared in the papers.

We have endeavored in the above summary to se
forth as fairly and at the same time as suceinctly as
possible the substance of the more important testimony
offered by the respective parties. In dealing with a
record of this length, in which, moreover, none of the
questions and answers have been previously summarized
by being reduced to narrative form, it has not been
found practicable to give even the substance of auil the
testimony, and it is also possible that there are some
instanees in which the statements contained in the above
summary may be more properly classed as matters of
inference from the testimony than as the substance of
the testimony itself. The Court can. of course, judge of
this by comparing the above summary with the reeord.

I1.

The principles applicable to the raling presented E‘»}'
the various exceptions must, of conrse, be considered in
the light of the theories of the respective parties. The
theory of the State was that Mr. Wolf, a lawyer with an
extensive practice in the Criminal Court, as well as in
other Courts, beeame the adviser of Carey and Smith
immediately after they were arrested; that on one or two
previous occasions he had acted as the attorney of Soco-
low; that from the very day on which the murder was
committed he songht to mislead the authorities and the
publie in general, and prepared to earry u_ut this pur-
pose both by statements made to the Police Commis-
sioner and to representatives of the press, that he
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promptly adopted the suggestion of Keller and agreed
with Keller and Soeolow that the method of misleading
the police, so suggested, should be pursued; that he in-
troduced Keller to Captain Leverton with this end in
view; that it was through his co-operation with Keller
that the latter’s misleading statements were spread be-
fore the public in the press; that, after Keller’s deten-
tion, he sought an opportunity to see him with the ob-
ject of suppressing the testimony which Keller was pre-
pared to give against him; and that his plan was to aid
the murderers by surreptitious methods, while refusing
to appear publiely in their behalf.

The theory of the defense seems to have been that the
appellant, in his communications with the authorities
and with the newspaper reporters, was actuated by a
genuine desire to assist in the detection and apprehen-
sion of the murderers; that he entered into no arrange-
ment with Socolow and Keller and refused to aid the
former in any way; that he did not inform Detective
Hammersla of the presence in his home of Socolow and
Keller because (aside from his fear that such informa-
tion would lead to shooting in his home) he thought him-
self deterred from that course by considerations of pro-
fessional propriety, and that he also failed to inform
Captain Leverton that Socolow and Keller had just left
his home for the same reason, that is, that he did not
think that his duty as a lawyer permitted him to give
that information; that he requested Captain Leverton
to be at his office the next morning hecause he expected
Keller to make revelations to him (Mr. Wolf) at that
time, which, if communicated to Captain Leverton, might
lead to the arrest and convietion of some of the mur-
derers of whom he knew Socolow to be one; that the next
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morning, when Keller told him that he knew where the
box and tags were, he introduced him to Captain Lever-
ton in order that he might be of assistance in cansing
the apprehension of the fugitives; that, daring Keller's
detention, he sought an opportunity to converse with him
for the sole purpose of lenrning whether Keller had
really made the statements reflesting upon his (Mr.
Wolf’s) eonduet which Keller was reported to have
made,

The question of legal ethies which was 10 some extent
involved in the trial of this case below and which enterel
to a much greater extent into the digsecussion of the dis-
barment proceedings which grew out of the same facts
is, perhaps, strictly speaking, not before this Court, but
it is difficult, if not impossible, to discuss the issnes in-
volved without at least touching upon that question.
Counsel for the appellant, in a brief filed in the dishar-
ment proceedings, cited many cases, which they may also
cite upon this appeal, in support of the proposition that
an attorney is never at liberty to disclose a confidential
communication made to him by his client. Among other
communieations from attorney to client which some ot
these cases hold to be within the rule is the communiea-
tion of the client’s address made by one who is a fugitive
from justice. It may shorten the labors of the Court, if
we say at once that we do not dispute the proposition
supported by these anthorities. We think it proper to point
out, however, that nearty all of these anthorities are eon-
cerned with communications actoally made to the attor-
ney, either verbally or by letter. None of the cases
cited, so far as we have seen, lays down the proposition
that an attorney cannot inform the authorities thut he
has seen a fugitive from justice at sneh and such a time
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and place, even though the oceasion of his seeing him
wae the fugitive’s desire to consnlt the attorney in his
professional eapacity. We know of no cases in whieh
this precise point has been decided either one way or the
other. The case which is perhaps most pertinent is that
of Thornton vs. Davis, 4 Cranch C. C. 500, where an at-
torney was acquitted of having agreed for a pecuniary
consideration to discover the whereabouts of his fugi-
tive client. The proceedings were dismissed, the charge
not being supported by the evidence. It is plainly ap-
parent, therefore, that the point here discussed was not
decided.

It mav well be contended that facts ascertained, under
any eircumstances, by an attorney from the evidence of
his own senses amd not from any words of his client,
whether spoken or written, are ‘““not * * * communica-
tions from the client to the legal adviser at all, but in-
formation which the latter has acquired, independently
of any cueh communieation.”’

Chew vs. Farmers’ Bank, 2 Md. Ch. 231, 241.
Quoted in-

Lannsa vs. State, 109 Md. 602, 618.

Assuming, however, without conceding, that profes-
sional ethies bound Mr. Wolf to preserve the strietest
stlence as to the faet of his having seen Socolow and the
time and place at which he had seen him, there can be
no doubt that neither this nor any other rule of ethies
would justify him in furthering Socolow’s eseape or in
assisting another person to further sueh escape or to do
anything which, by misleading the authorities, would
tend to effect his eseape rom arrest or econviction.
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Wigmore, after referring to *‘the nesd of confidence
on the part * * * of those who, being already wrong-
doers in part or nll of their eause, ure secking legal ad-
vice suitable for their plight,"” rontirmes :

“But these reasons all cease to operate nt a cer
tain point, namely, where the desired advice refers
not to prior wrongdoing, but to future wrongdosing.””

Wigmore on Evidenee, See. 2208,

“The respondent (attorney) informs his ¢lient
that he had obstructed the distriet attorney of this
county in the performance of his duty by making
false statements as to his knowledge of Stade’s (the
client’s) address, and proposed to further obstruct
him in the performance of his duty by procuring a
letter which hie understood would fall into the hands
of the distriet attorney to be published in Buffalo
for the avowed purpose of throwing the authorities
off the track. The respondent had represented
Stade as his counsel. He had, of course, the right
to advise Stade as to the course that he should
acdopt which would best protect his interests. When
called upon by the public authorities for informa
tion as to Stade, be had the right to refuse to answer
any questions as to a fact which had been ecom-
mumicated to him by his client, sr which he had
ascertained i the course of his professionnl em-
ployment. But he certainly was not jnstified i
giving the distriet attorney or the public authorities
false imformation or mis-stating facts which would
obstruet the district attorney in the performance of
hig duties, or to do any act which wonld assist any
person cherged with a erime escaping prosecution
therefor, or prevent or obstruet the officers of the
law from performing their duties.

1 wish to clearly emphasize the faet that this
offense is not that the respondent gave to his elient
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adviee, but that this attorney proposed to his elient
that he, the attorney, would, if furnished with
money, bribe or endeavor to bribe a police officer to
refrain from discharging his duty, and that, if fur-
nished with a decoy letter, he, the attorney, would
cause it to be posted at a place in New York State,
so that, when it was received by the public authori-
ties, they would be thrown off the track. It was the
act that the respondent, an attorney and counsellor
at law, himself proposed to do that constitutes the
offense, not any advice that he gave to his client as
to what his client should do; and it is this offense
that we are called upon to consider.’’

In re Billington, 141 N. Y. Supp. 16, 21.

In justice to Mr. Wolf, it should be admitted that he
did not maintain at any time that it was his duty or his
right to do any positive act to assist in the escape of
Soeolow or of anyone else who was concerned in the
murder of Mr. Norris. He did not admit that he intro-
duced Keller to Captain Leverton for any such purpose.
On the contrary, his testimony clearly implies, if it does
not expressly assert, that, although he felt bound to keep
locked in the profoundest secrecy the faet that Socolow
had visited his home on Weduesday night, he introdueced
Keller (who had accompanied Socolow on that occasion)
to Captain Leverton on the following morning for the
¢xpress purpose of giving Keller an opportunity of
divulging information which would lead to the convie-
tion of the murderers of Mr. Norris, of whom he knew
Secolow to be one. The line of demarecation between the
course of conduet whieh Mr. Wolt scornfully repudiates
and the course which he quite openly—not to say proudly

~AYOWS may seem to some to be definite, but we must
admit that to us it seems pretty shadowy.
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We now come to the consideration of certain questions
of law which deal with specific phases of the testimony.
These questions are concerned with:

A. Evidence as to facts preceding the date of the
conspiracy, as alleged in the indictment.

B. Evidence of the acts and deelarations of the al-
leged co-conspirator, Keller.

C. Evidence ns to events which oecurred subsequent
to the confession of Keller and after his detention
had begun.

Corroboration of Keller and the necessity for
such corroboration.

Remaining questions.

A.

1. It was essential for the proscention to establish,
first, the facts ereating the situation out of which the con-
spiracy itself and the reasons for a consgpiracy developed.
The indictment alleges and it was proper to prove that
the Norris murder had oceurred on Angust 18th, 1922+
that the police authorities of Baltimore (ity immediate-
ly instituted a most vigorous investigation which pointed
the finger of suspicion toward a group of men living in
East Baltimore, including Socolow, Hart, Smith and
Carey; that during the day of the murder, Smith and
Carey were apprebended and held pending further in-
vestigation. It was also vitally important for the State
to prove, as it did prove, that Allers, who had spent
Sunday, Angust 20th, in Atlantie City, voluntarily sur-
rendered to the authorities on Tuesday, August 22nd, and
that shortly thereafter Allers made a full confession in
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which he declared that Hart, Socolow, Smith, Carey and
himself had been present and had participated in the
robbery and murder of Mr. Norris, and that the fatal
shots had been fired by Socolow. It was also necessary
to prove, and was proven, that the story of Aller’s con-
fession was published in the Baltimore papers on the
afternoon of Wednesday, August 23rd; and that this
story, as it appeared in the Evening Sun, was read by
Socolow several hours prior to his visit to the home of
Mr. Wolf. Without proof of these facts, the State
would have failed to establish the setting of the con-
spiracy charged in the indictment and to show the rela-
sionships to the Norris murder sustained, respectively,
by Wolf, Keller and Socolow and the reasons influencing
each of said parties to combine in the formation of the

alleged conspiracy. It is doubtful whether it will be
seriously contended in behalf of the appellant that this
testimony was objectionable.

Certain faets other than those enumerated above, fall-
ing within the general heading which we are now dis-
cussing, may be grouped, and for the purposes of argu-
ment diseussed together.

2. Omne of such groups embraces testimony which tends
to establish the fact that, shortly after the commission
of the murder, Mr. Wolf became the attorney of Carey
and Smith. This evidence, we submit, was admissible
as tending to show motive. The motives which might
be supposed to actuate any attorney with an extensive
practice in the Criminal Court in attempting to prevent
the arrest or conviction of members of an organized
gang will readily suggest themselves to anyone familiar
with conditions in any densely populated community.
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Of such motives, however, evidence eannot readily be
procured, but evidence tending to show that such an at-
torney or any attorney acted in that capacity (as ad-
viser or otherwise) for members of such a gang aecused
of a specific erime is eertainly relevant on the question
whether he conspired to prevent the convietion of the
various members of that gang who are shown 1o have
committed that erime.

3. Another group which falls within this general elas-
sification relates to a conversation between the appellant
and Commissioner Gaither and conversations which he
held with representatives of the press. In these econ-
versations he evineed a willingness to assist in the
detection of the culprits and expressed the opinion or
made statements caleulated to convey the impression
that the murder was ecommitted by non-residents of Bal
timore. It was, of course, for the Court, sitling as a
jury, to pass on the effeet of this testimony, and to de-
termine whether the statements of Mr. Wolf 1o which
it related resulted from a gi*lllliﬂl' convietion or from a
desire to mislead the authorities and the general public.
Upon the latter supposition, there is more than one
theory upon which this testimony would be admisgible.
It might be contended that it was admissible as tending
to show preparation.

“Evidence of preparation is always admissible
for the prosecution ; evidence to explain it is always
«"H'lﬂli‘rﬂﬁi!)lu‘* for the defense. Among the facts ad-
missible as affording in this way a basis of indue
tion are the purchasing, the eollecting, the fashion-
ing instruments of mischief, of wlich numerous
cases are elsewhere given, and of which a familiar
illustration ig to be found in the admission of evi
dence on a trial for burglary to prove that the de-
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fendant had manufactured or procured the burglar-
ious instruments. Under the same head fall cases
where the evidence shows a repairing to the spot
destined to be the scene of crime; and acts done
with the view of paving the way to the guilty enter-
prise. For the same purpose it is admissible, on
an indictment for arson, to prove a prior insurance
of the property, as well as other attempts to de-
stroy it, the object being to defraud the under-
writers.

LL'P

o rebut the inferences arising from such ap-
parent preparation, the accused may give in evi-
dence any circumstance tending to show innocent
motives. Thus, the accused may show that the ap-
parent preparations were in expectation of trouble
with a party now deceased, or he may show that it
was his custom to carry weapons; and his declara-
tions or explanations at the time of his prepara-
tions are adinissible in his own behalf.

““The relevaney of such evidence cannot be lim-
ited by, nor encompassed within, the statement of
any particular rule. Both in admissibility and in re-
buttal the extent of such testimony can be limited
only by the ramifications of human conduct. While
no two cases are exactly alike, the principle is the
same, namely, that any conduct or action of the
accused in connection with the offense, not too re-
mote, is admissible, from which there may come a
logical inference of intent, preparation, premedita-
tion, or motive, to commit the offense charged.”

2 Wharton’s Crim. Evid., Sec. 753 (pp. 1499-
1501).

In the state of proof presented in the instant case, it
cannot, perhaps, be said that the evidence now under
discussion tended to show preparation on the part of
the appellant to engage in a eonspiracy first suggested,
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so far as the evidenee shows, by one of the other parties
thereto. But the course of conduect pursued by him was
a most suitable preparation for doing that which bhe
afterwards sought to accomplish by means of the con
spiracy.

The natural effect of Mr. Wolf’s representations that
he was willing to co-operate with the Police Department
and the newspapers in the discovery of Mr. Norris’s
murderers would be to establish in the minds of Com-
missioner Gaither and of the newspaper men a state of
confidence. He had reason to expeet that, from the day
of his first conversations with them, they would be in
clined to aceept his suggestions and to furnish him with
information. In these first conversations he suggested
that the murder was not committed by residents of Bal-
timore and thus paved the way for future suggestions of
the same sort. It so happened that Keller, with his story
about ‘‘Chicago’® and “‘Boston,”’ presented himself as
an instrument through whieh such suggestions could be
made ; they might have been made and doubtless would
have heen made either directly or through some other
instroment, if Mr. Wolf had never seen Keller.

It would seem, however, that a better ground (per-
haps we might more properly say a broader ground) on
which to base the admissibility of this evidence is its
tendeney to show intent. In Sec. 302 of Professor Wig-
more’s Work on Evidence, under the head of ““Theory
of Evidencing Intent,”” the learned author savs:

“The argument here is purely from the point of
view of the doetrine of chanees,—the instinetive
recognition of that logical process which eliminates
the clement of innoeent intent by multiplying in-
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stances of the same result until it is perceived that
this element cannot explain them all. Without
formulating any accurate test, and without attempt-
ing by numerous instances to secure absolute cer-
tainty of inference, the mind applies this rough and
instinetive process of reasoning, namely, that an
unusual and abnormal element might perhaps be
present in one instance, but the oftener similar in-
stances oceur with similar results, the less likely is
the abnormal element to be the true explanation of
them. Thus, if A while hunting with B hears the
bullet from B’s gun whistling past his head, he is
willing to accept B’s bad aim or B’s accidental trip-
ping as a conceivable explanation, but if shortly
afterwards the same thing happens again, and if on
the third occasion A receives B’s bullet in his body,
the immediate inference (i. e. as a probability, per-
haps not a certainty) is that B shot at A deliber-
atgly s Y e

Wigmore on Evidence, Sec. 302.

Per Taft, C. J. (5th Circuit):

“It is a well established rule of evidence that,
where the issue is the fraud or innocence of one in
doing an act having the effect to mislead another,
it is relevant to show other similar acts of the same
person having the same effect to mislead, at or
about the same time, or connected with the same
general subject-matter. The legal relevancy of such
evidence is based on logical principles. It certainly
diminishes the possibility that an innocent mistake
was made in an untrue and misleading statement, to
show similar but different misleading statements of
the same person about the same matter, because it
is less probable that one would make innocent mis-
takes of a false and misleading character in repeated
ingtances than in one instance.”
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Penn. Mut. Life Ins. Co. va. M. 8, B, & T. Co,,
72 Fed. 413, 422.

“The acts and conduet of a person relating to the
main aet or transaetion, ocenrring before, at the
time of and after such act or transaction, if not so
remote as to have no logical bearing therenpon, are
competent evidence to prove his intent therein.'”

7 Encye. of Evidence, p. 625.

On a prosecution charging defendant with an assault
on the prosecuting witness with a pistol with intent to
kill, testimony that the defendant and prosecating wit-
ness had a difficulty a few days before, and that the de-
fendant then put his hand in his pocket as if to draw a
weapon, was held competent as tending to prove the
wilfullness of the act charged in the indictment awnd he
intent with whch it was done.

State vs. Mounce, 106 Mo. 226.

““When it has been shown that the party charged
has done the act for whiech he is indicted, the ques-
tion still remains, whether he committed it with
guilty knowledge or whether he acted under a mis-
take; and evidenee which tends to prove that he was
pursuing a course of similar acts, raises a presump-
tion that he was not acting nnder a mistake, but
with a guilty knowledge and inlend, and is admissibie
for that purpose.” (ltalies ours.)

Bell vs. State, 57 Md. 108, 114.
See also—

Fromd vs. State, 120 Md. 636, Gdd;
and notes in—
w BoAL 214

62
31. R A.(N.8.) GB8, 755, 774 and T78.
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To apply the above:
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[t the testimony of Wolf’s introduction of Keller to
Leverton and of Keller’s subsequent misleading state-
ment (independent of its effect as corroboration of Kel-
ler—a subject with which we shall deal in another part
of this brief)—were to be considered as a single instance
of an effort to mislead the authorities, it might be sus-
ceptible of an innocent explanation, but, when it is
coupled with the testimony as to his conversations with
(General (Gaither and the newspaper men, which also,
considered by itself, might be compatible with the hypo-
thesis of innocence—it becomes much more difficult to
adopt that hypothesis. The minds of different individ-
uals may still differ as to the legitimate conclusion, but
that an opportunity to pass upon the question should
be afforded to such individuals, composing the jury or
the Court sitting as a jury, is as clear as any proposi-

tion of the kind can well be.

B.
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